
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting.

Please ask for:
Marie Lowe

19 February 2019

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE to be held on Thursday 28 February 2019 
at 7.30pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, 
Herts, AL8 6AE

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  SUBSTITUTIONS 

To note any substitution of Members made in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 19-22.

2.  APOLOGIES 

3.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 31 January 2019 
(previously circulated).

4.  NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 14 
AND ANY ITEMS WITHDRAWN FROM THE AGENDA 

5.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on the Agenda.

Public Document Pack



6.  LAND TO NORTH EAST OF WELWYN GARDEN CITY, PANSHANGER, 
WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL7 2QJ - 6/2018/0873/OUTLINE  - OUTLINE 
APPLICATION FOR A RESIDENTIAL-LED DEVELOPMENT OF UP TO 650 
RESIDENTIAL UNITS, A TWO-FORM ENTRY PRIMARY SCHOOL, PROVISION 
OF SIX GYPSY AND TRAVELLER PITCHES, A NEW LOCAL CENTRE 
(COMPRISING RETAIL AND COMMUNITY USES), NEW VEHICULAR ACCESS 
FROM HERNS LANE, CAR PARKING, ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE AND 
LANDSCAPING WORKS WITH ALL MATTERS EXCEPT ACCESS RESERVED 
(Pages 5 - 72)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

7.  ROYAL VETERINARY COLLEGE HAWKSHEAD LANE NORTH MYMMS 
HATFIELD AL9 7TA - 6/2018/2943/MAJ (Pages 73 - 102)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

8.  1-5 PARK STREET HATFIELD AL9 5AT - 6/2018/2497/FULL - CHANGE OF USE 
OF THE EXISTING GRADE 2 LISTED BUILDING FROM OFFICE (B1) TO 4 X 
RESIDENTIAL FLATS (C3) WITH ASSOCIATED INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL 
ALTERATIONS (Pages 103 - 120)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

9.  11 AND 11A HOLLY CLOSE, HATFIELD, AL10 9JB - 6/2018/2968/FULL - 
CONVERSION OF EXISTING 6-BEDROOM DWELLING AT 11 HOLLY CLOSE 
INTO TWO SELF-CONTAINED 2-BEDROOM FLATS (Pages 121 - 136)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

10.  1-2 HILL FARM COTTAGE HILL FARM LANE WELWYN AL6 9BN - 
6/2018/3071/HOUSE - ERECTION OF ANCILLARY OUTBUILDING (Pages 137 - 
146)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

11.  49 ELMWOOD WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL8 6LD - 6/2018/3040/TPO - FELL 1 X 
AMANOGAWA CHERRY TREE AND REPLACE WITH CHERRY TREE -
AMANOGAWA OR SIMILAR COVERED BY CONSERVATION AREA (Pages 147 
- 156)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

12.  APPEAL DECISIONS (Pages 157 - 162)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

13.  PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS (Pages 163 - 180)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).



14.  SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION 

15.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Committee is asked to resolve:

That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for Items 16 and 17 (if any) on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information 
as defined in Section 100(A)(3) and Paragraphs 2 (Information likely to reveal the 
identity of an individual), and 6 (Statutory notice or order)  of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the said Act (as amended).

In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.

PART II

16.  ENFORCEMENT CASES MONITORING REPORT (Pages 181 - 198)

Exempt report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and 
Governance).

17.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN 

Circulation: Councillors J.Boulton (Chairman)
S.Wrenn (Vice-Chairman)
S.Boulton
H.Bromley
J.Caliskan
A.Chesterman
S.Elam

P.Hebden
S.Kasumu
M.Larkins
T.Lyons
S.Markiewicz
P.Shah

Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Marie Lowe, 
Governance Service on 01707 357443 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



             Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 FEBRUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

6/2018/0873/OUTLINE

LAND TO NORTH EAST OF WELWYN GARDEN CITY, PANSHANGER, WELWYN 
GARDEN CITY, AL7 2QJ

OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR A RESIDENTIAL-LED DEVELOPMENT OF UP TO 650 
RESIDENTIAL UNITS, A TWO-FORM ENTRY PRIMARY SCHOOL, PROVISION OF 
SIX GYPSY AND TRAVELLER PITCHES, A NEW LOCAL CENTRE (COMPRISING 
RETAIL AND COMMUNITY USES), NEW VEHICULAR ACCESS FROM HERNS 
LANE, CAR PARKING, ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE AND LANDSCAPING 
WORKS WITH ALL MATTERS EXCEPT ACCESS RESERVED

APPLICANT: Homes England and Mariposa Investments Ltd

(Panshanger)

1 Background 

1.1 The Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 remains the adopted development plan 
for the Borough.  The land which is subject of the application is designated on the 
District Plan Proposals Map as an Area of Special Restraint.  Policy GBSP3 of 
the District Plan sets out that the land will be safeguarded for potential future 
growth needs beyond the period of the plan.  Any release of the land for 
development, in whole or in part, will be a matter for determination in future 
reviews of the plan.  

1.2 The Council has prepared a new Local Plan to replace the District Plan.  Through 
the course of the review/preparation of the new plan the Council has determined 
that Panshanger Aerodrome is required to help meet future growth needs.  It is 
therefore proposed as a residential-led allocation in Policy SP18 Submission 
Local Plan.  The Council does not currently have a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites, a position which the Local Plan seeks to remedy through its site 
allocations. 

1.3 The Council’s new Local Plan is currently subject to examination by an 
independent Planning Inspector.  The proposals for the site together with the 
potential loss of the airfield have already been examined by the Inspector 
through the Stage 3 and Stage 4 hearing sessions.  Sport England objected to 
the assessed policies at each of these sessions due to the potential loss of the 
airfield.  The Inspector has not provided any written conclusions in respect of 
either of those sessions, however, in his Stage 4 pre-hearing questions he asked 
the Council to investigate the potential opportunity to deliver additional housing 
capacity at North East of Welwyn Garden City through an expansion of the 
existing allocation.  The Inspector verbally confirmed this at the hearing session.  
This would appear to indicate that he supports the residential-led allocation in 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



principle and that he does not consider the loss of the former runway to be a 
soundness issue. 

2 Site Description

2.1 The site is located within the Welwyn and Hatfield Borough Council (WHBC) 
area, approximately 2.8km east of Welwyn Garden City and north of the 
neighbourhood of Panshanger.  It is 28.24 hectares and is in two principal land 
ownerships: Mariposa Investments own the land to the east; and Homes England 
own land to the west.

2.2 The site was formerly used as an aerodrome.  Originally known as Holwell Hyde, 
it was used during World War II as a decoy site for the De Havilland aviation 
factory in Hatfield.  In 1941 the grass fields were used as a reserve landing strip 
for flight training, with hangars established to service aircraft.  The land was 
granted permission as a civic airfield in 1954 for use by light aircraft.  Welwyn 
Garden City Development Corporation started building homes on former airfield 
land from 1965, the most recent expansion was completed in 1993.  The airfield 
closed in September 2014 and majority of the ancillary buildings have since been 
demolished.

2.3 The site is generally flat and open, consistent with its former use as an 
aerodrome.  Beyond the site boundary to the north, the agricultural land slopes 
steeply downhill towards Hertford Road (B1000) and the Mimram River.  A small 
group of houses including Bericot Green and Warrengate Farm are located 
between the site and Hertford Road.  However, given the falling land and 
established tree cover, these have little influence on the site.  Further north, 
beyond Hertford Road is Tewin Mill House, Fish Farm and the Mimram River.  To 
the north and east of the site is predominately open countryside, rising to form a 
valley.  

2.4 The southern boundary of the site is defined by housing both backing and 
flanking onto the site.  Henry Wood borders the south eastern boundary of the 
site.  The eastern boundary is defined by a hedgerow and a public right of way. 
The north western boundary of the site is defined by Herns Lane.  To the west is 
a 1960’s residential development at Hazel Grove.  Here, the boundary is defined 
by an area of open space and the backs of adjacent homes.

2.5 The application site lies within the setting of several designated heritage assets, 
including the historic designed landscapes at Panshanger and Tewin Water; 
Marden Hill House and its associated structures; and the Church of St Peter, 
Tewin.  The setting of heritage assets is an important consideration.

Page 6



3 The Proposal

3.1 The planning application is in outline form with all matters reserved except for 
vehicular access.

3.2 Five parameter plans have been submitted for approval as part of the application:

 Land Use Plan (ID06095-04-052 Rev E)
 Density Parameter Plan (ID06095-04-049 Rev G)
 Heights Parameter Plan (ID06095-04-048 Rev H)
 Landscape Parameter Plan (ID06095-04-050 Rev G)
 Access and Movement Parameter Plan (ID06095-04-080 Rev C) 

3.3 The Land Use Parameters Plan denotes the developable area of the site and 
zones for the local centre, primary school, and self-build plots/gypsy and traveller 
pitches.  

3.4 The outline application is for a residential-led development of up to 650 
residential units. The development proposes to comprise a range of house types, 
sizes and tenures in order to provide a wide choice of homes, able to 
accommodate a variety of household types and thereby creating a mixed and 
inclusive community.  The final mix of houses to be provided would form part of a 
subsequent reserved matters application.

3.5 The Density Parameter Plan prescribes that the majority of the site will be 
developed up to a density of 40 dwellings per hectare, save for a narrow buffer of 
lower density development up to 25 dwellings per hectare along the southern and 
eastern boundaries of the site.  The development proposes 650 dwellings across 
a net residential developable area of approximately 17ha. This creates an overall 
density of 37dph.

Page 7



3.6 The Heights Parameter Plan The heights parameter plan prescribes the 
maximum heights of buildings across the development site. The heights enable 
the provision of 1 - 2 storey residential building and non-residential equivalent 
buildings. Read together with the Density Parameter Plan, these inform the scale 
of development.  The Heights Parameter Plan confirms that across the site 
buildings will be limited to two storeys in height (up to 9m ridge height measured 
from finished ground level), allowing for 10% variation for taller keynote/landmark 
buildings (up to 13m AOD) which will aid legibility, placemaking and add interest 
to the street scene.

3.7 The Landscape Parameter Plan shows the location for the landscape 
infrastructure including: 

 A landscape buffer of 10m depth along the boundary to Herns Lane.
 A landscape corridor along the existing footpath (WGC62) which bisects 

the site at a minimum depth of 6m along 90% of the route. 
 A landscape corridor of a minimum 10m depth along 90% of the route 

along the southern boundary.
 Open space and landscaping buffer encompassing structural planting 

within the wider landownerships. 
 Provision for a focal green space at the existing pond and a central green 

space. 
 Allotments of 0.73 ha in area towards the east of the site.
 Indicative structural planting within the wider landownerships to be in 

accordance with the Indicative Proposed Landscaping (including land 
within applicant’s control) plan, drawing number: 5705-E-02C.

3.8 The Access and Movement Parameters Plan is broadly consistent with the 
Strategy Diagram in Figure 11 contained within The Draft Local Plan August 
2016.  A main access in the form of a priority controlled junction is to be provided 
via Herns Lane to the north of the site.  A second access is to be provided from 
Bericot Way to the west.  A controlled access is to be provided to Halifax Way 
where a bus gate will ensure that access is restricted to buses, cyclists and 
pedestrians only.  A controlled access would also be provided to Panshanger 
Lane allowing entry only.  Limited egress movement will be allowed for special 
uses.  Pedestrian and cycle paths could be provided through the cul-de-sacs 
which border the southern edge of the site and from the existing public right of 
way.

3.9 The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES) submitted 
under the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2011 (the 2011 EIA 
Regs).  Although the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2017 came 
into force on the 16 May 2017, this application was screened and scoped under 
the 2011 Regs, therefore the ES is assessed under the same.

3.10 In addition to the above the application has been supplemented by a number of 
detailed supporting documents to aid the analysis of the scheme.  These are 
listed below:

 Site Location Plan (ID06905-04-003 Rev D)
 Illustrative Masterplan (ID06095-086 Rev E)
 Indicative Proposed Landscaping (5705-E-02C)
 Proposed access from Herns Lane (30588/AC/009 Rev E)
 Proposed access from Bericot Way (30588/AC/012 Rev A)

Page 8



 Proposed access from Panshanger Lane (30588/AC/13)
 Proposed access from Halifax Way (30588/AC/014)
 Design and Access Statement (ID06905-04-027 Rev E)
 Planning Statement
 Affordable Housing Statement
 Transport Assessment and Travel Plan
 Statement of Community Involvement
 Sustainability Statement
 Energy Strategy
 Arboricultural Survey
 Minerals Extraction Statement
 Health Impact Assessment
 Site Waste Management Plan
 Flood Risk Assessment (plus addendum October 2018)
 Environmental Statement covering the following chapters:

- Transport
- LVIA
- Ecology
- Water Environment
- Ground conditions and contamination
- Archaeology
- Heritage
- Socio-economic
- Noise and Vibration
- Air Quality
- Construction Statement

 Supplementary Environmental Statement (December 2018)
 Non-Technical Summary (December 2018)

3.11 Following the submission of the application in March 2018, the applicant has 
considered the responses received from statutory and non-statutory consultees 
and local residents.  In response, the applicant submitted a masterplan for the 
development North East of Welwyn Garden City to include land to the north of 
the site within the applicant’s ownership.  This triggered a further consultation 
including all consultees and members of the public under planning reference 
6/2018/2703/CN.  Subsequently, in December 2018, the applicant submitted 
additional information in response to comments received from Historic England 
and other statutory and non-statutory consultees, comprising: a Supplementary 
Environmental Statement; revised parameter plans showing changes to heights, 
density and landscaping; and plans for additional structural landscaping within 
land owned by the applicant to the north of the application site.  

3.12 The following amendments were proposed to the outline application:

 A reduction in storey heights across the site to all two storeys (previously 
two and three storeys) to help mitigate against the impact on views from 
nearby heritage assets.

 Amendment to the density parameter plan to remove the lower density 
edge to northern boundary of the site.

 Additional structural landscaping is proposed within land owned by the 
Applicants (shown blue line) – this has been proposed to further mitigate 
against the impact on views from nearby heritage assets. This is proposed 

Page 9



to be secured by a Grampian condition on the planning permission, if 
granted.

 Additional Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) within land 
owned by the Applicants, in response to consultation with the Lead Local 
Flood Authority.

 Amendment to landscaping parameter plan required to remove the green 
buffer to north of proposed development to reflect the off-site planting 
proposed

4 Reason for Committee Consideration

4.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because this is a major application; it is a departure from the Local Plan; and it is 
accompanied by an Environmental Statement.  This committee has the proper 
authority conferred on it under the constitution for making decisions of this nature 
subject to any statutory notification or Secretary of State call-in.  In this case the 
Council must notify the Secretary of State of its decision in accordance with the 
Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2011. 

5 Relevant Planning History

5.1 The site’s former use as an airfield goes right back to the Second World War and 
hence there are various schemes over the years relating to the evolution of the 
site in its life as an airfield.  More recent proposals for redevelopment following 
the site’s closure in 2014 are noted below.  

5.2 Application Number: N6/2015/1358/DM
Decision: Prior Approval Not Required
Decision Date: 06 August 2015
Proposal: Demolition of 7no Structures and removal of 3 underground fuel tanks

5.3 Application Number: 6/2017/0860/EIA
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 16 May 2017
Proposal: Screening Opinion request for the development site at Land to the 
North East of Welwyn Garden City

5.4 Application Number: 6/2017/1071/EIA
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 05 July 2017
Proposal: Scoping request for a proposed residential-led development

5.5 Application Number: 6/2018/0158/OUTLINE
Decision: Pending 
Proposal: Outline permission for the relocation of runway, erection of a clubhouse, 
hangar, car park and aircraft parking with all matters except access and layout 
reserved

6 Relevant Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework 

6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework, July 2018 (NPPF) sets the context for 
plan making and decision making from the national perspective.  Its overall 
content and principles are of relevance to this scheme.  At its heart there is a 

Page 10



presumption in favour of sustainable development.  This means approving 
development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay 
(para 11). 

6.2 Moreover, Paragraph 11D of the NPPF (and its footnote) set out that where a 
local planning authority cannot demonstrate a 5 year land supply of deliverable 
sites its plan is considered to be out of date and as such planning permission for 
schemes should be granted unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole.

Statutory Development Plans

6.3 The current planning policies for Welwyn Hatfield are set out in the statutory 
development plan which comprises: the saved policies of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan adopted 2005, the Hertfordshire Waste Local Plan adopted 2012-
2014 and the Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan adopted 2007.

6.4 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 has development plan status in relation to 
S70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  This obliges the local authority 
to have regard to its provisions unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

6.5 The Draft Local Plan August 2016 is at an advanced stage in the plan process 
having been submitted and been through a substantial part of the examination 
process.  There are detailed policies relating to this site and weight can be given 
to these polices according to its stage in the process in line with para 48 of the 
NPPF. 

6.6 The analysis at section 10 considers the principal policies relevant to determining 
this case.  Although they may not be specifically referenced relevant policies and 
issues will have been given due consideration in the overall assessment process 
as well as in the framing of potential conditions and obligations on the scheme. 

Other Planning Documents

6.7 Other planning documents that are relevant to the consideration of this 
application are listed below: 

 Supplementary Design Guidance, February 2005 
 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards, January 2004
 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes, August 2014
 Planning Obligations, Supplementary Planning Document, February 2012

7 Site Designation 

7.1 The site is designated as Area of Special Restraint in the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005 and lies within the Welwyn Fringes Landscape Character Area.

7.2 Other designations: The site is within a surface water floodplain and a sand and 
gravel belt. 

Page 11



8 Representations Received 

8.1 The application was advertised by means of site notice, press notice and 
neighbour notification letters.  In total 45 representations have been received, 
comprising 34 objections alongside nine 9 in support and one comment.  All 
representations received are published in full on the Council website and 
summarised below: 

Objections

 On the grounds of prematurity on the basis that the Local Plan is still 
under consideration and the draft Local Plan Policy SP18 may be subject 
to change.  

 The parameter plans submitted with the application fail to meet the 
requirement in Policy SP18 to ‘allow the opportunity for a realigned grass 
runway on land to the north of the Green Belt boundary’.

 Any proposed new links from the Panshanger Airfield site to the strategic 
development at Birchall Garden Suburb will require the co-operation and 
support of Tarmac to be deliverable (proposed footpath / cycle path 
access to Henry Wood referred to in the DAS page 31 and 53).  

 Pressure on already struggling education services, emergency services, 
public transport and medical facilities (including GP surgeries, dental 
practices and hospitals).

 Pressure on local government services such as refuse collection, road 
cleaning and gritting. 

 Loss of sunlight to the gardens of existing properties. 
 Loss of outlook and overbearing impact on existing dwellings.
 Loss of view from existing dwellings.
 Visual intrusion, noise pollution and dirt from the building works as well as 

the gravel extraction proposed. Would like to see mitigation measures. 
 New houses may drive down the prices of existing properties. 
 Lack of social/affordable housing for local residents. 
 The base line map of the existing Panshanger development is incorrect for 

certain properties and therefore the impact on homes will be even greater 
than already stated.  The boundary between homes and the application 
site will require specific detailed attention and mitigation. 

 Notification of neighbours has been inadequate. 
 Increase in level of traffic and congestion on the roads including the A414 

and access to the A1[M]. 
 Increase in pollution from additional traffic.
 Insufficient parking provision for visiting cars. 
 Loss of parking spaces due to access for pedestrians/cyclists. 
 Need to keep roads and accesses free of parked vehicles in order to allow 

for emergency vehicle access. 
 Too many houses proposed. The illustrative plan indicates around 300 

dwellings which is misleading as it is roughly half of the amount proposed, 
looking as though it is far less densely populated and developed than it 
will be. 

 Negative impact on the character and appearance of the local area. 
 Loss of Green Belt land. 
 Goes against the Garden City principles. 
 Panshanger is a flourishing area in no need of regeneration.
 Loss of open green space. 

Page 12



 Proposed open spaces are not big enough. 
 New homes should not be higher than two storeys. 
 Traveller pitches should not be located at the hangar end of the site which 

is adjacent to woodland used as a leisure amenity space. 
 Lack of community engagement regarding the scale and location of the 

pitches which have been switched to the eastern side. 
 Traveller pitches predominantly in the north of the borough. More provision 

should be made elsewhere. 
 No viable sewerage infrastructure in place. Not feasible to connect this to 

existing water treatment area. 
 Change of use of land to a public access between property and new 

homes will pose a security risk to existing properties. 
 Homes along the site boundary should be given the opportunity to 

purchase a section of land adjacent to their property. 
 Loss of natural habitat for wild birds and animals. 
 Adverse effect on the Mimram Valley. 
 Insufficient space for new houses and the revised airfield. 
 Airfield should be reinstated as it used to be a successful local resource 

which created jobs in the immediate area. 
 Loss of aviation history/heritage – airfields are an important part of local 

and national economy. 
 The proposal is contrary to the Governments declared policy of 

maintaining a network of airfields. 
 Deprives the local and flying community of a scarce resource. 
 3-storey building provision could present an obstruction to planes if the 

airfield is reinstated. 
 The airfield would attract tourism to the area and provide facilities for 

children and adults.
 The application ignores national and local policies for mixed-use 

developments and specifically excluded aviation via unsympathetic 
design. 

Support

 Support the housing development as the airfield development would result 
in loss of local amenities for these and other local residents as well as 
noise nuisance, leaded fuel pollution and the danger of light aircrafts flying 
immediately adjacent to residential areas. 

 The scheme provides a wide-ranging mix of homes for all members of 
society from self-build and traveller plots to affordable 3-bedroom 
apartments.  

 Support for new primary school, as well as a community hall and a local 
shop. 

 The varying rooflines, staggering and varying distances between buildings 
will create an attractive traditional village feel, as will the use of small side 
streets off a central winding tree-lined avenue.

 Design is well thought out and avoids cramming the maximum number of 
houses into the space, instead making good use of varied home sizes and 
styles, interspersed with green spaces. 

 Average of 23 homes per hectare is far less than the building density in 
other parts of the local area. 

 Plenty of outdoor space, with wildlife corridors, woodland planting and two 
parks in the development, plus pedestrian and cycle pathways. 

Page 13



 Brownfield development preferable to Green Belt land. 
 Within easy access of public rights of way. 
 Woodlands, parks and landscaping have been factored in which is 

appealing and healthy to families. 
 Envisages use of solar panels and ground source air pumps as well as 

charging points for electric cars and bicycles. 

Comments

 Bridleway WGC 62 near western end of the site is an ideal opportunity to 
divert it so that it meets Tewin 9. Tewin 21 could be diverted to opposite 
Tewin 22 to avoid walking along the narrow stretch of the roadside verge.  

 Not clear if the densities proposed are net or gross of the other necessary 
land. 

9 Consultations received 

9.1 Sport England – Objection summarised as follows:

 The determination of this planning application would be premature 
pending the outcome of the Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan; 

 It would result in the loss of Panshanger Aerodrome without any provision 
being made for a replacement facility that would be deliverable in practice; 

 The application would be contrary to the current local plan site allocation 
policy requirements relating to the pre-requisite for a masterplan and SPD 
to be prepared to inform the development requirements and the specific 
requirement for the opportunity for a realigned runway to be allowed for.

 An objection is made to the proposals for community sports facility 
provision in its current form due to the lack of detail about the scope and 
nature of potential contributions. However, I would be willing to withdraw 
this objection if it is confirmed that financial contributions, secured through 
a section 106 agreement, will be made towards the provision of these 
facilities and the expected level of the contributions is confirmed together 
with the projects that the contributions will used towards.

9.2 Hertingfordbury Parish Council – Objection summarised below:

 Concerned regarding the heritage impact on Panshanger Park and the 
loss of biodiversity in the area. 

 There will be potential loss of Green Belt land and the loss of open space 
with building of houses leading to the loss of a public and sporting amenity 
(airfield).

 There is also concern that the traffic impact has not been carefully 
considered. 

 The application is pre-emptive of the adoption of the Welwyn Hatfield 
Local Plan. There appears to be limited bus infrastructure. 

 Concerned about the access from Panshanger Lane to the eastern end of 
the site by not using the access route possible to better protect the setting 
of Panshanger Park and will better facilitate sustainable leisure and cycle 
routes from Panshanger Country Park to Welwyn Garden City. 

 Panshanger Lane will become an important leisure route with the opening 
of the Panshanger car park.

Page 14



9.3 Historic England – No objection to the application on heritage grounds subject to 
the relevant safeguards to ensure delivery of the proposed structural planting and 
other green infrastructure within the land owned by the applicants to the north of 
the application site prior to the proposed development commencing on site. 

Historic England commented: The Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan Examination is still 
open and the Inspector has yet to report. Whilst Historic England no longer has 
any objection to the proposed masterplan on heritage grounds, we consider that 
this application is premature. The principle of development at the site should be 
confirmed first through the Local Plan Examination process. We would therefore 
advise the authority to follow due process in this sequential approach in the Plan 
led system (see Paragraph 2 and 12 and 47 -49 of the NPPF).

9.4 NHS England and East & North Herts Clinical Commissioning Group – No 
objection subject to suggested planning obligations:

 £460,072.08 towards General Medical Services General Practice 
Provision – The identified project involves releasing space within in 
existing GP surgeries by digitalising patient records where the released 
space would allow for reconfiguration (including associated building 
works) and ultimately increased patient access.

 £126,399 towards the provision of Mental Health Services – Project to 
increase capacity in Roseanne House in Welwyn Garden City.
 

 £118,319 towards the provision of Community Healthcare Services – 
Project to increase patient activity in the Queensway Clinic in Hatfield. 

9.5 HCC Growth and Infrastructure Unit – requested S106 obligations towards the 
provision of Hertfordshire County Council services: education; nursery provision; 
childcare provision; youth services; library services; adult care/special needs; 
and fire hydrant provision to minimise the impact of development on 
Hertfordshire County Council Services for the local community.

9.6 Environment Agency – No objection subject to suggested conditions

9.7 Natural England – No objection 

9.8 Thames Water – No objection 

9.9 WHBC Public Health – No objection subject to suggested conditions

9.10 WHBC Landscape and Ecology – No objection subject to suggested conditions

9.11 WHBC Parking Services – No objection subject to suggested planning 
obligations towards the provision of lay-by parking spaces; parking surveys and 
the implementation of parking controls in the proximity of the access to the site 
from Halifax Way. 

9.12 WHBC Housing – No objection subject to suggested planning obligations 

WHBC Housing commented: The outline application pays regard to planning 
policy and offers a 30% affordable housing requirement.  The broad indicative 
housing mix is acceptable as a starting point for more detailed discussion and 
negotiation, where the council may need to consider the delivery of other 
affordable housing unit types across other secured sites in the Borough.  The 

Page 15



current requirement in relation to tenure is that 51% of the affordable homes will 
be at social rent and 49% intermediate tenure.  At the appropriate time (and 
preferably before any detailed application is submitted) more detailed discussion 
on location of the affordable homes, the unit types to be allocated at social rent 
and intermediate tenure, will need to be agreed.

9.13 HCC Lead Local Flood Authority – No objection subject to suggested conditions

9.14 HCC Waste and Minerals – No objection subject to suggested condition

9.15 HCC Transport Programmes and Strategy – No objection subject to suggested 
conditions and planning obligations

9.16 HCC Historic Advisor – No objection subject to suggested conditions requiring a 
programme of further archaeological evaluation and mitigation.

9.17 Herts Ecology – No objection subject to suggested conditions  

9.18 Herts Middlesex Wildlife Trust – No objection subject to suggested conditions

9.19 Hertfordshire Constabulary – Commented that it is clear that the future security of 
the residents has received some consideration and the intension is to build a 
safe and secure housing area.  A number of recommendations are made in 
respect of the layout of the development and as well as detailed design matters 
which should be given due consideration at the reserved matters stage. 

9.20 WHBC Client Services – Commented that full detailed refuse & recycling 
proposal will be required at the reserved matters stage with detailed tracking 
diagrams and detailed property information (houses/apartments etc) so a 
calculation of requirements and costs can be made.

9.21 The Ramblers Association – Comments summarised as follows: 

 Public bridleway Welwyn Garden City 62 crosses the proposed 
development site in a north-south direction near the western end of the 
site 

 Public footpath Tewin 21 runs along and inside the eastern edge of the 
site

 The Ramblers calls for the following principles to be followed in planning 
and carrying out development with regard to public rights of way: 

(a) the planning process should be carried out with full legal rigour, in 
particular in full accordance with rights of way and planning law

(b) there should be full liaison with Hertfordshire County Council’s (HCC) 
Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Service 

(c) there should be as few changes to the existing public rights of way network 
as possible, and ideally none (unless improvements can be demonstrated) 

(d) any changes to the existing public rights of way network should be 
balanced by mitigating improvements 

(e) any changes to the existing public rights of way network should be carried 
out with full legal rigour, in particular in full accordance with rights of way 
law, in consultation with the HCC CROW Service where required, and in 
any case as a matter of best practice 

(f) where existing public rights of way are enclosed by developments, their 
access, width, surface and visual amenity should at least be retained as far 

Page 16



as possible (and ideally improved), including the establishment of “green 
corridors” along them; access to all legitimate users should be maintained 
and any structures should conform to national standards; and road layouts 
should be designed to minimise crossing these rights of way, and any 
crossings should be safe and signposted (by the HCC CROW Service) 

(g) during works, existing public rights of way should remain open and safe, 
with any unavoidable temporary closures being for the minimum time, 
following the legal procedures, and with appropriate safety features and 
signing for both public rights of way users and works personnel (particularly 
including heavy vehicle drivers)

9.22 Hertfordshire Gardens Trust commented: Given the great adverse impact on the 
heritage assets and their settings (and thus their significance) caused by this 
development, we would expect much more attention be given to mitigation in the 
form of low rise housing and sufficient all-season screening. If permission is to be 
granted for this proposal we would recommend that the visual intrusions on the 
surrounding heritage assets be clearly defined and that the necessary and 
appropriate mitigation for this be included as a condition of permission Analysis.

9.23 No response was received from the following consultees: Cadent Gas Limited, 
Affinity Water, East Herts Council, Tewin Parish Council.

10 Analysis

10.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are:

1. Principle of development 
2. Heritage, landscape and visual impacts 
3. Transport, access and traffic
4. Residential amenity and the impact on neighbouring occupiers 
5. The environmental impacts of the development
6. The adequacy of supporting facilities
7. Other considerations:

i) Minerals
ii) Tree protection measures

1. Principle of Development 

Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 - designations and policies:

10.2 Land to the north east of Welwyn Garden City is designated on the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan Proposals Map as an Area of Special Restraint.  Policy 
GBSP3 of the District Plan set out that the land will be safeguarded against 
potential future growth needs beyond the period of the plan.  Any release of the 
land for development, in whole or in part, will be a matter for determination in 
future reviews of the plan.  A Structural Landscape Area was designated to the 
north of the land and the policy set out that no development should take place 
until structural landscaping has been provided within this area.  The supporting 
text explains that the landscaping is required to minimise impact on the 
surrounding landscape and long distance views.

10.3 The plan period of the District Plan ended in 2011 but the District Plan remains 
the adopted Development Plan for the borough. 

Page 17



Welwyn Hatfield Submission Local Plan Proposed Submission - designations and 
policies:

10.4 The Council has prepared a new Local Plan to replace the District Plan.  The 
Council’s emerging Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State in May 
2017 and is currently subject to examination by an independent Planning 
Inspector.

10.5 The Submitted Plan sets out the Council’s proposed strategy for the future use of 
land to the north east of Welwyn Garden City.  Policy SP18 proposed that land to 
the north east of Welwyn Garden, encompassing the former Panshanger 
Aerodrome together with additional land to the west, be allocated for 
development to accommodate approximately 650 homes alongside 
complimentary uses and ancillary facilities. 

Figure 1. The Strategy Diagram 11 referenced in Policy SP18

10.6 Draft Policy SP18 comprises a 13-point criteria based policy for the site allocation 
that it states will provide:

 A wide mix of housing types, sizes and tenures, including a minimum of 
30% of all units as affordable housing (subject to viability); housing for 
older people; and serviced plots of land for self-build; 

 Gypsy and Traveller provision of six pitches;

Page 18



 A small convenience shop in an accessible location to meet day-to-day 
convenience shopping news and to include community facilities including 
a community hall;

 A two-form entry primary school that allows for dual use for community 
purposes; 

 Sustainable transport measures including improvement of pedestrian links, 
cycle paths, passenger transport and community transport initiatives 

 Suitable access arrangements and any necessary wider strategic and 
local highway mitigation measures; 

 Formal and informal open spaces for leisure and recreation; 
 Protection and enhancement of heritage assets; 
 Landscaping and planting; 
 An area of ecological enhancement in the north-west of the site; 
 A structural landscaping area to the north in advance of development to 

minimise visual impact;
 Necessary utilities, including integrated communications infrastructure; 

and 
 Sustainable drainage and provision for flood mitigation. 

10.7 Policy SP18 sets out that a masterplan will be prepared for the site to form the 
basis of a Supplementary Planning Document.  It states that any application for 
development should be preceded by, and consistent with the Masterplan.  The 
policy provides that the masterplan will allow the opportunity for a realigned grass 
runway on land to the north of the Green Belt boundary.

10.8 The justification for releasing the land for housing is set out in the supporting text 
to the policy.  The land is one of only two significantly-sized housing sites in 
Welwyn Hatfield that are not in the Green Belt. Since 1993, the site has been 
designated as an Area of Special Restraint in the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan. 
This designation meant that the land was safeguarded for the duration of the 
District Plan but could potentially be released for development in future plans 
should evidence show that it was required.  In the light of evidence about the 
need for housing in Welwyn Hatfield, it has been decided appropriate by the 
Council that the site be released for development.  Sport England consider that, 
before it was closed in 2014, Panshanger Aerodrome was of at least regional 
importance to air sports and is likely to be confirmed as Significant Area for Sport 
(SASP) once the identification process has been completed by the sport’s 
governing body.  On balance, the Council reached the view that the need for 
housing is of greater importance than the need to retain a former airfield facility 
as a potential SASP for future sport provision.  However, development at the site 
will be configured in such a way that the opportunity remains for the relocation of 
the grass runway to be provided on Green Belt land to the north in a manner that 
would be consistent with the protection of heritage assets.

Consistency of outline proposal with strategy for the site set out in the Draft Local 
Plan Proposed Submission:

10.9 The outline application is for a residential-led development of up to 650 
residential units, a two-form entry primary school, provision of six gypsy and 
traveller pitches, a new local centre (comprising retail and community uses), new 
vehicular access from Herns Lane, car parking, associated infrastructure and 
landscaping works with all matters except access reserved.  The mix of uses 
proposed is consistent with the strategy set out in Policy SP18 of the Draft Local 
Plan. 

Page 19



10.10 Five parameter plans have been submitted for approval as part of the application. 
The Access and Movement Parameters Plan is broadly consistent with the 
Strategy Diagram.  The Land Use Parameters Plan denotes the developable 
area of the site and zones for the local centre, primary school, and self-build 
plots/gypsy and traveller pitches.  The zones for the local centre, primary school 
and gypsy and traveller plots are generally consistent with the Strategy Diagram 
(Figure 11) in terms of their proposed siting.  Judgement is reserved on whether 
these are of the appropriate size and scale for the intended uses.  It is 
considered this level of detail may be more appropriate for the reserved matters 
stage.

Policy SP18 requirement that any application for development should be 
preceded by, and consistent with, a Masterplan:

10.11 A key part of the Council’s strategy for bringing forward strategic development 
sites is that they should be supported by masterplans/Supplementary Planning 
Documents.  The purpose of this is to ensure that key development sites in the 
borough are planned and delivered comprehensively.  Policy SP18 of the 
Submitted Local Plan states that:

“A Masterplan will set out the quantum and distribution of land uses, key views 
to protect heritage assets, access, sustainable design and layout principles 
prepared by Council, working with the landowner and other key stakeholders. 
 The Strategy Diagram in Figure 11 below will inform the Masterplan which will 
form the basis of a Supplementary Planning Document to provide further 
guidance on site specific matters.  Any application for development should be 
preceded by, and consistent with, the Masterplan.”

10.12 A masterplan was prepared by the landowners in late 2018 to guide the 
development of land to the North East of Welwyn Garden City.  The landowners 
were proactive in terms of engaging with the Council and other key stakeholders 
such as Historic England and the Ecology and Landscape functions of 
Hertfordshire County Council.  The engagement clearly informed a number of the 
masterplan outcomes.  It is important to note, however, that the masterplan was 
a landowner-led masterplan rather than a Council-led masterplan.  

10.13 A key issue with the masterplan submitted by the landowner was that it did not 
address the requirement of Policy SP18 to allow the opportunity for a realigned 
runway on land to the north of the Green Belt boundary.  The masterplan did not 
contain any reference to a replacement runway nor any information or guidance 
about how one might be accommodated in future.  

10.14 It should be noted that a masterplan document has not been submitted for 
approval as part of the application.  Notwithstanding this, an Illustrative 
Masterplan has been submitted with the application, which demonstrates how the 
site could be laid out.

10.15 While the outline application is preceded by a landowner-led masterplan, it is not 
preceded by a masterplan or a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) which 
has been prepared or endorsed by the Council.  This is contrary to Policy SP18; 
however, the submitted Illustrative Masterplan has been the subject of 
consultation with Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (WHBC) and Hertfordshire 
County Council (HCC) Officers, HCC Design Review Panel, statutory and non-
statutory consultees, stakeholders and the local community over a number of 
years.  It is therefore considered to be a sound and robust masterplan.  As such, 

Page 20



it is not considered that a masterplan prepared by the Council and SPD for the 
site are required in advance of determination of this outline planning application 
subject to the relevant safeguards to ensure delivery of the landscaping and 
biodiversity features on land provided within the applicants’ ownership to the 
north of the application site is prior to the proposed development commencing on 
site.  A good standard of development which reflects Garden City design 
principles and the visual amenities of the area can be adequately safeguarded 
with conditions, S106 obligations and through the assessment of a detailed 
scheme to be submitted at the reserved matters stage.

10.16 Status of emerging Local Plan, Progress of independent examination of 
Submission Local Plan and related implications: 

10.17 The Welwyn Hatfield District Plan (Policy GBSP3) safeguarded Panshanger 
Aerodrome against potential future growth needs beyond the plan period.  The 
plan period ended in 2011.  The Council has since made significant progress 
towards the adoption of a new Local Plan. The Council’s Submission Local Plan 
is currently subject to examination by an independent planning inspector.  As part 
of the process of producing the new Local Plan the Council assessed housing 
need in the borough.  Having regard to this, the Council determined that the site 
is required to help meet future growth needs and consequently it is included as a 
proposed housing allocation in the Submission Local Plan.  The Council does not 
currently have a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, a position which 
the Local Plan seeks to remedy. 

10.18 Whilst the new Local Plan has yet to be adopted and does not therefore form part 
of the  development plan, it is appropriate that weight is given to it in the decision 
making process.  Paragraph 48 of the NPPF 2018 sets out that local planning 
authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: 

a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given); 

b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that 
may be given); and 

c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to 
the Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies 
in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given) 

10.19 The Submission Local Plan is currently subject to examination and is therefore at 
an advanced stage of the plan making process.  It should be noted that the 
Inspector has indicated that he has soundness concerns about the plan in its 
present form.  In particular, he is concerned about the shortfall between the 
objective assessment of housing need, which is in the region of 16,000 homes 
(to 2033), and the housing target in the plan, which is circa 12,000 dwellings (to 
2032). In the first instance this has implications in terms of the extent to which the 
plan may be considered “advanced”.  As is explained below, the shortfall may 
also have implications in terms of the area of land which is allocated for 
development at North East of Welwyn Garden City in the adopted version of the 
Local Plan.  

10.20 There is currently an unresolved objection from Sport England relating to the 
strategy set out in Policy SP18.  Sport England support the principle of a 

Page 21



realigned runway as part of the masterplan for the site due to Panshanger 
Aerodrome’s past and potential role as a strategically important site for air sports.  
However they are concerned that the policy as drafted could result in the loss of 
the facility as in their view it does not ensure that a feasible and deliverable 
aviation facility (suitable for air sports) could be delivered in practice.  The 
potential loss of the airfield facility was debated at the Stage 3 hearing sessions 
of the Local Plan examination in public.  Specifically the Inspector considered 
whether the permanent loss of Panshanger airfield was contrary to national 
policy, in particular paragraphs 28, 74 and 70 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012.  The Council’s position was that the permanent loss of the 
airfield is not contrary to national policy for the reasons set out in the submitted 
hearing statement.

10.21 Subsequent to the Stage 3 hearing session the Council commissioned 
consultants Arcadis to carry out a feasibility study to consider options for re-
providing a grass airway strip at North East Welwyn Garden City.  The study 
concluded that due to constraints it is not possible to deliver a new airfield in 
addition to 650 homes as proposed in the Submission Local Plan.  An airfield 
could be delivered alongside new housing but the airfield would require a 
significant portion of the available land and would therefore result in a substantial 
reduction in the amount of housing which could be accommodated.  Whilst an 
airfield could be delivered alongside an element of residential development, this 
option was not recommended from both an airport planning and land use 
perspective as the two developments are not complementary.  The outcome of 
the study was an understanding that the proposed allocation is not deliverable in 
his current form.

10.22 The Local Plan hearing session in respect of Policy SP18 North East of Welwyn 
Garden City took place on 27 June 2018 at which Sport England maintained their 
objection to the submitted policy.  It is significant however that in his questions 
issued for the session the Inspector set out that the Council should take every 
opportunity to explore the plan’s ability to deliver housing and requested that the 
Council reassess the extent and capacity of the North East of Welwyn Garden 
City with a view to maximising the potential housing numbers that could be 
achieved.  The Inspector confirmed at the hearing that the Council should 
investigate the potential opportunity to deliver additional housing capacity at 
North East of Welwyn Garden City through an expansion of the existing 
allocation.  

10.23 As identified in the Council’s Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment (HELAA Appendix G scenario 3) it is considered that an expanded 
site could yield at least 75 additional dwellings (725 total dwellings).  The 
expansion of the housing allocation would however remove the opportunity to 
deliver a realigned grass runway to the north of the Green Belt boundary. 

10.24 The potential for North East Welwyn Garden City to accommodate additional 
dwellings will be considered in 2019 alongside other options for delivering 
additional dwellings in the borough.  Officers will undertake an updated housing 
sites selection exercise in spring 2019 having regard to latest evidence including 
the Green Belt Study Stage 3, site specific assessments, infrastructure testing 
and sustainability appraisal.  Any revisions to site selections would then need to 
be agreed by members before being put forward as proposed Main Modifications 
to the Local Plan.  These would then be subject to a Modifications consultation. 

Page 22



10.25 Having regard to the possibility that an enlarged allocation could be included in 
the adopted Local Plan, liaison has taken place with the landowners to 
understand how an enlarged site could come forward.  The landowner has 
advised that an enlarged site could come forward in two phases.  The first phase 
would be through the existing outline application on land which relates to the 
proposed allocation in the Submission Local Plan.  The second phase would be a 
separate outline application to address any additional land which ends up being 
allocated as part of the adopted Local Plan.  The landowner has submitted 
evidence to the Council to indicate that the two phases could be brought forward 
on a comprehensive, complementary basis and this has resulted in the 
submission of an amended Illustrative Masterplan to accompany the planning 
application. 

Housing Land Supply: 

10.26 As set out above, the proposed allocation of currently safeguarded land at North 
East Welwyn Garden has been informed by the borough’s assessed housing 
need including both the scale of the need and its acuteness.  At the current time 
the Council does not have a five year supply of deliverable housing sites.  The 
Council’s Annual Monitoring Report (2017/2018) confirms that the current supply 
is between 3.10 and 3.63 years depending on the household projections which 
are used as the basis for calculating the supply. 

10.27 Members should also note that the recent appeal decision at Entech House 
Woolmer Green for 72 dwellings, commercial and retail units has implications for 
decisions for new housing.  The key point that emerged from the Inspector’s 
report is as follows:

“34. I conclude that the LPA cannot show a 5-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites and that the scale of its supply falls considerably well short of 5 
years.”

10.28 The significance of this is that under Para 11 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018 this is taken to mean that the Council’s current local plan is out 
of date and a more permissive approach would therefore apply.  The point being 
that the materiality of housing undersupply must be given greater weight in 
decisions.  The delivery of general housing remains an important objective in 
keeping pace with household growth and meeting housing targets.

Housing Mix and Affordable Housing: 

10.29 Saved Policy H7 seeks the provision of affordable housing on sites above 1 ha or 
with 25 or more units with a minimum of 30% subsidised housing.  The 
proportion type and mix will be based on the latest housing needs survey. 

10.30 Draft Policy SP7 and SP18 state that for sites falling within Welwyn Garden City 
a minimum of 30% of units should be affordable housing, subject to viability.

10.31 The proposed development meets the policy requirement, as it comprises 650 
dwellings, 30% of which will be affordable housing (195 units) with a 51:49 split 
between social rent and intermediate.  This will be secured in the S106 
Agreement for any planning permission for the site.

10.32 Draft Policy SP7 states that proposals for 11 or more new dwellings should 
demonstrate how the mix of tenure, type and size of housing proposed on sites 
will reflect the Council’s latest evidence of housing need and market demand and 

Page 23



contribute towards meeting the varied needs of different households including 
single person households, couples, families with children, older people, people 
with disabilities, and people wishing to build their own homes.  For larger sites 
there should be a greater opportunity to deliver a broader mix. 

10.33 It is proposed that the development would comprise the broad indicative housing 
mix:

Dwelling Mix Proposed (Indicative)

Affordable (195 units) Private (455 units)

1 bed 35% 10%

2 bed 35% 45%

3 bed 23% 25%

4+ bed 7% 20%

Total 100% 100%

Self-build and Custom Housebuilding:

10.34 Draft Policy SP7 states that Strategic Development Sites should make provision 
for a proportion of serviced plots of land to contribute towards meeting the 
evidence demand for Self-build and Custom Housebuilding in the Borough.  The 
submitted Land Use Parameters Plan (ID06095-04-052 Rev E) identifies an area 
of the site measuring 0.28 ha which is sufficient for 6 self-build houses towards to 
east of the site, which can be suitably secured within the S106 Agreement.

Housing for older People: 

10.35 As part of the overall housing target, a net increase of around 715 dwellings will 
be supported to help meet the varied housing needs of an aging population, 
through the provision of a range of housing options such as sheltered housing, 
flexi-car, extra-care, assisted living and other forms of supported housing.  
Around 5% of all new housing delivered on Strategic Development Site should 
comprise housing which is specially designed for older people. 

10.36 In this case, 5% equates to 33 dwellings (rounded up) which can be secured by 
condition.  Moreover, the Illustrative Masterplan includes a retirement/care home 
within the zone for the local centre.  The applicant has suggested 0.33 ha of land 
for this purpose.  It is considered this land, together with a requirement to provide 
a minimum of 33 dwellings specifically designed to meet the varied needs of 
older people, is acceptable and that the detailed design of the scheme can be 
secured at reserved matters stage.  

Accessible and Adaptable dwellings:

10.37 Saved Policy H10 accessible housing in all residential developments involving 5 
or more dwellings the Council will seek a proportion of dwellings to be built to 
lifetime homes standard.  In each instance dwelling type site location and 
topography will be taken into account. 

Page 24



10.38 Draft Policy SP7 requires at least 20% of all new dwellings on sites involving 5 or 
more new dwellings will be required to meet Building Regs Part M4(2) standards 
for “accessible and adaptable dwellings” (across tenure).  This proportion may be 
varied where a proportion of the dwellings proposed meet the wheelchair 
standard M4(3) of the Building Regs.  The Council are applying substantial 
weight to this part of Policy SP7 in decision making given the current evidence 
base and support of such technical standards in Planning Practice Guidance.  A 
planning condition is suggested to ensure that at least 20% of new dwellings 
within the development adhere to this part of the Building Regulations.

Pitch provision for Gypsies and Travellers:

10.39 In accordance with the Draft Local Plan, the submitted Land Use Parameters 
Plan (ID06095-04-052 Rev E) identifies an area of the site measuring 0.41 ha for 
the provision of six gypsy and traveller pitches.  The location of the pitches has 
been designed to ensure new residents, whilst understood to desire to live at the 
edges of communities, will have ease of access to the range of services and 
facilities proposed in this development and as part of the wider Birchall Garden 
Suburb allocation.  The pitches would be primarily accessed from Panshanger 
Lane.  The Illustrative Masterplan shows six pitches which would be accessed 
from a central corridor.  The detailed design of the scheme can be secured at 
reserved matters stage to ensure that the plot sizes and arrangement are in 
accordance with design guidance set out in Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites: 
Good Practice 2008 (withdrawn but not replaced).  The provision of serviced 
Gypsy and Traveller pitches therefore meets the policy aspirations and can be 
suitably secured within the S106 Agreement.

2. Heritage, landscape and visual impacts

10.40 District Plan Policies D1 and D2 require the standard of design in all new 
development to be of a high quality and that all new development respects and 
relates to the character and context of the area in which it is proposed.  These 
policies are expanded upon in the Council’s SDG.  Policy SP9 of the Draft 
Submission Plan 2016 deals with place making and high quality design and 
Policy SADM11 amenity and layout.

10.41 The NPPF places a clear emphasis on high quality design and states in 
paragraph 130 that planning permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way in functions, taking into account any 
local design standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning 
documents.  As such, there is also consistency between the Council’s Saved and 
Emerging Local Plan with the NPPF.

10.42 The NPPF also indicates the requirement to consider heritage matters as follows:

“192. In determining applications, local planning authorities should take 
account of:

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and

Page 25



c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness.

10.43 In exercising its planning functions the local planning authority has a general duty 
with regard to listed buildings.  Section 66(1) of the Planning Listed Buildings and 
Conservations Areas Act 1990 states:

 
“66.—(l) In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local respects listed planning 
authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have buildings in 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or 
exercise of any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses.” 

 
10.44 Section 72 of the Planning Listed Buildings and Conservations Areas Act 1990 

states:

“In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation 
area, of any powers under any of the provisions mentioned respects in 
subsection (2), special attention shall be paid to the desirability of conservation 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.”

Significance of heritage assets:

10.45 The applicant has supplied a Design and Access Statement, Landscape and 
Design Access Statement and Heritage Statement.  These matters are also 
pertinent to the analysis of the Environmental Statement below under Section 5.

10.46 The proposed development site lies within the setting of several designated 
heritage assets, including the historic designed landscapes at Panshanger and 
Tewin Water, Marden Hill House and its associated structures, and the Church of 
St Peter, Tewin.

10.47 Panshanger, directly to the east of the application site across Panshanger Lane, 
is a landscape park laid out to the designs of Humphry Repton from 1799 for a 
country house built 1806-7 and demolished 1953-4.  Repton’s landscape 
incorporated the house and landscape of Cole Green to the south, laid out to the 
designs of Lancelot ‘Capability’ Brown in the mid-18th century (and covering land 
to the west of Panshanger Lane disimparked in the C19 within which survive 
features such as Henry Wood immediately to the south of the application site).  
The enlarged estate, based on Repton’s advice as set out in his Red Book of 
1799, formed part of a greater aspiration to create a landscape corridor along the 
River Mimram valley, linking the 5th Earl Cowper’s neighbouring estates at Tewin 
Water, and Digswell (later to also include Marden Hill after it came into Cowper 
ownership in the early C20).  Notwithstanding the alterations carried out within 
the landscape park as part of significant C20 mineral workings, Panshanger is 
included in Historic England’s Register of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic 
Interest at Grade II*, which places it within the top 30% of all Registered Parks 
and Gardens and reflects a level of exceptional historic interest that needs to be 
recognised and used to inform management decisions.  Moreover, Panshanger 
was added to Historic England’s Heritage at Risk Register for the East of 
England in 2017 due not only to the physical condition of key landscape features 
within the site but also threats from proposed strategic development within its 
setting. 

Page 26



10.48 Tewin Water is a late C18-early C19 historic landscape for which Repton also 
produced a Red Book in 1799.  This designed landscape remains largely intact 
and, despite localised issues, Repton’s design intent remains discernible.  As 
such, Tewin Water is included in Historic England’s Register of Parks and 
Gardens of Special Historic Interest at Grade II.  Indeed, recent research by the 
Hertfordshire Gardens Trust has improved our understanding of Repton’s work at 
Tewin Water, highlighting it as among the best surviving examples of his work 
within the county. 

10.49 Marden Hill House is a C17 and later country house, extensively re-designed in 
the period 1790-94 by Francis Carter and later altered in 1818-19 by Sir John 
Soane.  The house occupies a position set within gardens along the ridgeline on 
the northern side of the River Mimram Valley, with its garden front facing south-
southwest towards the application site.  Marden Hill House, Service Block and 
Annexe are listed at Grade II* and its associated barn, walled garden and 
multiple garden structures are listed at Grade II. 

10.50 The Church of St Peter, Tewin is a C11-and-later rural parish church with 
medieval tower, developed on an earlier religious site overlooking the River 
Mimram Valley to the south.  The church is of exceptional interest and is listed at 
Grade I.

Impact of the proposals: 

10.51 Repton’s aspiration for the linked estate landscapes along the River Mimram 
valley relies on a sense of borrowed scenery.  As such, views southeast from 
Tewin Water look across the application site towards woodland at Brocket Hill 
within Panshanger.  Likewise, the northern area of Panshanger, particularly 
towards the northern end of Repton’s Broadwater, requires a sense of the open 
green valley continuing to the north, and is particularly sensitive (especially with 
restoration of the historic designed landscape at Panshanger coming forward as 
mineral extraction works draw to a close).  Both Marden Hill House and the 
Church of St Peter, Tewin occupy prominent positions on the valley slopes, and 
views over the River Mimram valley form an extremely important part of their 
settings.

10.52 Historic England have been consulted and in May 2018 it was recommended that 
the applicants consider a masterplan for the entire area within their control and 
incorporate the full extent of the mitigation measures recommended within the 
Panshanger Park and Environs Heritage Impact Assessment (Beacon Planning 
Ltd., July 2016) as a minimum.

10.53 Subsequently, following consultation with the Council and a number of statutory 
consultees in autumn 2018, the applicants submitted a masterplan for the 
development North East of Welwyn Garden City which triggered a further 
consultation including all consultees and members of the public under planning 
reference 6/2018/2703/CN. 

10.54 In December 2018, the applicant submitted additional information in response to 
comments received from Historic England and other statutory and non-statutory 
consultees, comprising: a Supplementary Environmental Statement; revised 
parameter plans showing changes to heights, density and landscaping; and 
plans for additional structural landscaping within land owned by the applicants to 
the north of the application site.  This information makes efforts to address the 
concerns of Historic England raised in their letter dated 16 May 2018, and 

Page 27



confirms inclusion of amendments to the proposed development and mitigation 
measures to reduce impacts to adjacent designated heritage assets, namely:

 Reducing building heights across the entire application site to a maximum 
of two storeys; and

 Developing green infrastructure proposals for land within the applicant’s 
control to the north of the application site, including: 
- Retaining and enhancing existing mature vegetation at field boundaries 

and supplementing it with additional structural planting between 5-15m 
in depth to soften and screen views to both existing and proposed 
development, particularly from the landscape, visual and heritage 
receptors to the north. 

- Carrying out additional landscaping, including grassland and orchard 
areas, which provides a softer transition between the proposed 
development and the existing landscape of the River Mimram valley. 

10.55 There will be short-term impacts during construction and as the proposed 
structural planting and other green infrastructure becomes established and grows 
to maturity during the early parts of the operational phase; however, Historic 
England agree with the Supplementary Environmental Statement conclusions 
that the structural planting at maturity (15 years post-completion) should 
effectively screen both existing and new housing, with all but occasional localised 
glimpsed views of roof lines of new housing.  This will be an improvement over 
the existing situation, representing an enhancement to the setting of the Grade I 
listed St Peter’s Church and the Grade II* listed Marden Hill House as well as the 
character of the River Mimram Valley more generally. 

10.56 Both the NPPF and the emerging local plan for Welwyn Hatfield require 
conservation and, where appropriate, enhancement of heritage assets and their 
settings.  Following consultation with Historic England and other stakeholders, 
the applicants have developed and submitted additional information that 
satisfactorily incorporates the findings of the Panshanger Park and Environs 
Heritage Impact Assessment (Beacon Planning Ltd., July 2016 - ref. paragraphs 
4.11 - 4.17 and 5.02 - 5.10 as well as figure 20).  Successful implementation and 
establishment of the proposed structural landscaping and other green 
infrastructure within land owned by the applicants to the north of the application 
site prior to work on the proposed development commencing on site will provide 
the Heritage Impact Assessment’s recommended “substantial landscaping” to 
mitigate impacts to adjacent designated heritage assets. 

10.57 Historic England has confirmed no objection to the application on heritage 
grounds, considering that the application meets the requirements of the NPPF, 
subject to the relevant safeguards to ensure delivery of the proposed structural 
planting and other green infrastructure within land owned by the applicants to the 
north of the application site is prior to the proposed development commencing on 
site. 

Archaeology

10.58 Policy R29 requires that where a proposal for development may affect remains of 
archaeological significance, or may be sited in an area of archaeological 
potential, developers will be required to undertake an archaeological 
assessment, if necessary with a field evaluation, and to submit a report on the 
findings to the Local Planning Authority.  When planning permission is granted 
for development that would affect archaeological remains, taking into account the 

Page 28



importance of the remains, conditions will be imposed to ensure that the remains 
are properly recorded, the results analysed and published and where practicable, 
the management and reservation of archaeological sites and their settings is 
enhanced.

10.59 Hertfordshire County Council’s Historic Advisor was previously consulted on an 
EIA Scoping Opinion for this development (6/2017/1071/EIA).  In their advice 
they recommended that the results of an archaeological geophysical survey and 
trial trenching evaluation be included with the Environmental Statement. The 
nature and scope of these archaeological investigations were agreed with the 
Historic Advisor, and the resultant reports have been included in the appendices 
of the Environmental Statement.

10.60 Whilst the development area itself is not within an Area of Archaeological 
Significance, as identified in the Local Plan, it is a large, topographically 
prominent site overlooking the valley of the River Mimram.  Significant 
archaeological remains in the vicinity include numerous Late Iron Age/Roman 
sites.

10.61 The geophysical survey and subsequent trial trenching evaluation suggest that 
there may be archaeological activity of a regional significance present within the 
site.  The impact of the development would best be mitigated by a programme of 
open area excavation and recording

10.62 Chapter 7 of the ES recognises the survival of several World War II era 
structures on site that are of heritage value.  These include the Decoy Site 
Control Room and Mess Block, but may also include the one remaining Alan-
Williams turret.  The application was accompanied by a 2013 Historic 
Assessment by Atkins.  Hertfordshire County Council’s Historic Advisor has 
confirmed that the Historic Assessment is sufficient to meet the historic building 
recording requirement.  No objections have been raised to the proposed 
development on archaeological grounds subject to a suggested planning 
condition to secure the appropriate level of investigation that this proposal 
warrants. 

3. Transport, access and traffic 

10.63 This section considers transport matters and specifically the impact of the 
scheme on the local highway network, local connectivity and the adequacy of 
access and modes of transport other than private car.  It is also recognised as a 
factor scoped within the ES considered under Section 5 of this analysis. 

10.64 Relevant policies from the adopted District Plan are M2 Transport Assessments, 
M3 Green Transport Plans, M5, M6, M8 and M9 covering sustainable/alternative 
modes of travel and M14 Parking Standards for new development. 

10.65 Relevant policies from the Draft Local Plan are: SP4 transport and travel; SADM2 
highway network and safety; SADM3 sustainable travel for all; SADM12 parking 
servicing and refuse; and SP18 which requires sustainable transport measures 
including the improvement of pedestrian links, cycle paths, passenger transport 
and community transport initiatives.

10.66 The site has been identified as being well located to the highway network and 
presents a good opportunity for development.  National, regional and local 
policies support sustainable development and the proposals will seek to deliver 

Page 29



improvements to the accessibility of the site by walking, cycling and public 
transport.

10.67 Subject to the mitigation measures to be secured by a S106 Agreement and 
through conditions, as referred to elsewhere in this report, the proposal is 
considered acceptable in terms of access, highway capacity and highway safety.  
These matters are discussed below:

Impact of highway:

10.68 Herts County Council (HCC) as Highway Authority has reviewed the application 
submission and have no objection to the proposed development, subject to 
planning conditions and obligations.  The Transport Assessment (TA) and other 
relevant documents have been used to assess the impact of the proposals on the 
local highway network’s operation and safety.  The trip generation rates were 
reviewed and are considered appropriate for the proposals.  The collision data 
was reviewed and it was found that there were no clusters of collisions in the 
vicinity of the site that would likely be exacerbated by the proposed development.  
Therefore, it was found that the proposed development would not likely have a 
severe impact on the local highway network.

10.69 HCC requested that an independent Stage 1 Road Safety Audit be undertaken 
on the access junction proposed at Herns Lane. This was completed and 
provided to HCC in July 2018 with the inclusion of a designer’s response to 
issues raised.  One item that it was agreed that should be added to the proposal, 
in response to the audit is a footway along the south side of Herns Lane between 
the proposed junction and the existing Bunnsfield access. 

10.70 HCC also requested information on current vehicle speeds along Herns lane and 
Panshanger Lane along with details of how the relocation of the speed limit on 
Herns lane could be detailed.  This information along with a revised drawing of 
the junction layout (30588/AC/009 rev E) showing the requested footway on the 
south side of Herns Lane and detailing of a gate-way feature at the speed limit 
change was provided to HCC. 

10.71 There was also a request to widen the footway along the northern side of Bericot 
Way between the point where the road is to be extended and the existing 
Lysander Way roundabout.  A revised version of the drawing (30588/AC/012 rev 
A) for this access point has been submitted.  Although at this stage there are no 
specific off-site cycling facilities linking the site to surrounding facilities there is 
scope for this type of improvement, therefore, the provision of a wider footway 
adjacent the internal spine road network provides the opportunity to upgrade 
classification to shared use cycleway as necessary.

Access:

10.72 The existing vehicular access to the site is from Panshanger Lane to the east 
which is a relatively low standard junction on a lightly trafficked road which is 
rural in nature.  The main vehicular access points to the site will be from Herns 
Lane and Bericot Way.  The access from Herns Lane will be in the form of a 
priority junction with a ghost island for right turning vehicles (30588/AC/009 Rev 
E).  There is an existing access from Bericot Way to the boundary of the site 
which will be continued through the site (30588/AC/012 Rev A).  The existing 
access from Panshanger Lane will be retained for entry only, albeit with some 
exit movements associated with the Gypsy and Traveller site (30588/AC/013).  

Page 30



The intention is to keep the traffic levels low at this junction given the existing 
rural nature of Panshanger Lane.  A further connection is proposed from Halifax 
Way which would be limited to buses, pedestrians and cyclists only 
(30588/AC/014).

10.73 The delivery of a primary school, together with community hall and a 
convenience store near to the restricted access at Halifax Way may attract 
parking in Halifax Way (and other surrounding roads) which could adversely 
impact on the unobstructed passage of buses.  Given the low number of 
frontages on Halifax Way and Stirling Way, it is consider that additional lay-by 
parking could be provided in these locations, together with appropriate parking 
controls.  A financial contribution towards these works would be secured through 
within the S106 Agreement. 

10.74 A public right of way follows the eastern boundary of the site from Henry Wood to 
Hertford Road.  A second public right of way bisects the site to the west along a 
field boundary, this footpath connects Hertford Road to the urban edge of 
Panshanger along a green link through the residential area.  Dedicated 
pedestrian routes will be provided through the site and pedestrian and cycle 
paths could provide connections through to the cul-de-sacs which border the 
southern edge of the site to improve permeability.  There is opportunity to expand 
the existing network of footpaths and cycle paths connecting the development to 
the Green Corridor, Panshanger Park and Moneyhole Lane Park.  Details can be 
secured through the implementation of a site wide Movement Strategy which can 
be required by condition.  

Sustainable transport:

10.75 Encouraging sustainable travel patterns will be important for the proposed 
development as the existing area is particularly car dominant.  A Residential 
Travel Plan has been prepared.  This sets out the measures which would be 
implemented across the site.  

10.76 The proposal will seek to improve public transport accessibility to the site. There 
is currently one bus route (401) serving bus stops on Lysander Way and 
Shackleton Way, which are within a comfortable walking distance from the site.  
The 401 operates with a frequency of two buses per hour Mon-Sat in a circular 
one-way loop to the centre of Welwyn Garden City via Bessemer Road.  Services 
to locations further afield are available from Welwyn Garden City Bus Station and 
Railway Station.  

10.77 The proposed development will provide suitable funding for bus operators to 
serve the site.  There has been some discussion with HCC regarding extending 
bus service through the site and this is confirmed as a feasible solution.  
However, the service will require significant subsidy for five years.  A financial 
contribution of £625,000 (5years x £125,000/year) is sought for increasing the 
frequency of bus services to four times per hour in each direction during peak 
times and to extend the service to end at 22:00 instead of the current 19:30.  
HCC would also require that the applicant agree to provide 1-3 months of free 
bus travel for new occupiers of the development, to increase bus patronage and 
to facilitate travel behaviour change. This figure will be covered by the Travel 
Plan process.

10.78 The locality has a flat gradient which is conducive to both walking and cycling. 
Welwyn Garden City centre is located approximately 3km to the west and can be 

Page 31



reached by bicycle (15-minute journey time) and provides access to a variety of 
services and facilities. There is footway provision on both sides of the road in the 
residential area of Panshanger to the south of the site, the footways appear to be 
of suitable width and are segregated from the highway by a grass verge and 
street lighting is also provided which creates a pleasant walking environment. 
There are dropped kerbs at crossing points; however, tactile paving is missing in 
places.

10.79 To ensure the proposed development is fully integrated into the surrounding 
cycling infrastructure and satisfy sustainable transport requirements of both 
authorities, the Highway Authority have recommended that footways between the 
site (Herns Lane) and Sir Frederic Osbourne School (via Herns Lane) and A1000 
Mundells (via Herns Way) are widened from 2m to 3m thus providing a shared 
use, off-carriageway cycle route.  Both routes benefit from being direct and 
continuous with relatively few interruptions.  The Highway Authority would 
undertake this work and the project cost is estimated to be £300,000.  This is 
would be secured through within the S106 Agreement. 

10.80 The Highway Authority have also advised that the applicant would be required to 
provide an active travel walking/cycling equipment voucher to the value of £100 
for each dwelling, which would be secured through the Travel Plan.  With the 
additional measures it is considered that walking and cycling are viable travel 
options for potential future residents / staff / pupils of the development and that 
the local area is conducive to active travel methods.

Travel Plan:

10.81 The applicant has provided a Residential Travel Plan.  The Highway Authority 
consider that the Travel Plan is broadly acceptable, however, a number of areas 
where additional information is required have been identified.  The document is in 
draft and further detail is expected to be added in subsequent revisions.  To this 
end, it is recommended that a Travel Plan be secured via condition.

10.82 In accordance with Hertfordshire County Council’s Travel Plan guidance, it is 
identified that a contribution towards the ongoing monitoring, support and 
engagement activities undertaken by the County Council to support business 
travel plans be secured.  Such a contribution for a Travel Plan of this nature shall 
be £6,000 which can be secured as a planning obligation within the S106 
Agreement.  

Rights of way:

10.83 The site is surrounded by several Rights of Way footpaths and WGC62 bisects 
the site.  Although largely of recreational value all of the rights of way routes 
surrounding the site must be fully integrated into the proposed development and 
where appropriate improvements provided in line with the additional demand that 
this level of housing will generate.  However, at this outline stage there is not 
sufficient detail to prepare a series of on/off-site improvements/amendments. 
With this in mind, a condition is suggested which requires that a rights of way 
development plan is prepared alongside any future planning application to 
ensure that this asset is fully utilised and integrated into the layout in order to 
maximise potential of sustainable development. 

Page 32



Internal layout:

10.84 At this stage the internal layout is indicative.  Once the road hierarchy is 
confirmed a clear adoption/maintenance strategy can be prepared.  A planning 
condition is suggested to ensure this issue is fully considered as the proposal 
develops.

Parking provision:

10.85 Car parking and cycle parking for the proposed development will be considered 
at the reserved matters stage in accordance with the with Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan Parking Standards SPG (2004) and the interim standards (August 
2014).

Construction:

10.86 To ensure construction vehicles do not have a detrimental impact in the vicinity of 
the site, a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) will be required 
for all phases of the construction including: demolition, excavation and 
construction.  These matters are also pertinent to the analysis of the 
Environmental Statement below under Section 5 of this report.  A CEMP can be 
appropriately secured by condition.  

4. Residential amenity and the impact on neighbouring occupiers 

10.87 Policy D1 of the Local Plan requires the standard of design in all new 
development to be of a high quality.  This is expanded upon in the Council’s 
Supplementary Design Guidance (SDG) which sets out the guidelines with 
regard to residential development for the provision of adequate amenity for future 
occupants and the protection of neighbouring residential amenity. Policy 
SADM11 “Amenity and Layout” states that proposals are required to create and 
protect a good standard of amenity for buildings and external open space in line 
with the Council’s SDG. 

10.88 The detailed design of the scheme in terms of public and private open space and 
landscaping will be secured at reserved matters stage.  However the Illustrative 
Masterplan has been designed in accordance with the Garden City Principles, as 
required by the emerging site allocation, and demonstrates how a sustainable 
urban extension to the existing settlement of Panshanger could be delivered.  
Key elements are fixed by the Parameter Plans. 

10.89 As demonstrated by the Illustrative Masterplan, all homes could be provided with 
private amenity space in the form of gardens and balconies where apartment 
blocks are proposed. 

10.90 Draft Policy SADM11 also states that as a minimum, all proposals for C3 
dwellings will be required to meet the Nationally Described Space Standard, 
unless it can be robustly demonstrated that this would not be feasible or viable. 
This should be adhered to in preparation of the layout plans at reserved matters 
stage. 

10.91 Turning to neighbouring occupiers, new development should not cause a loss of 
light or be unduly dominant over adjoining properties.  In addition, all new 
residential development should be designed, orientated and positioned in such a 
way to minimise overlooking between dwellings.  

Page 33



10.92 The southern boundary of the site has been designed to include a 10m 
landscaped green buffer between the existing and new development.  The 
landscaped buffer will also provide links through the new development from the 
adjacent existing residential estate.  It is considered that the proposed 
development would respect and sufficiently retain the amenity of surrounding 
residential properties and ensure an acceptable level of amenity for future 
occupants.  Whilst the details of the proposed layout, scale and appearance of 
the development would form part of a future reserved matters application, the 
principles outlined within the Design and Access Statement and shown on the 
Illustrative Masterplan, accord with District Plan Policy D1, Draft Policy SDAD11 
and the NPPF in this regard.  

10.93 Whilst it is accepted that the outlook from neighbouring properties would change 
fairly significantly this is not in itself a reason to withhold planning permission.  
Objections have been received with regard to a loss of a view, however, planning 
exists within the public interest and not the private interest and therefore this is 
not a consideration that holds weight.

10.94 In addition to the impact of the built development, the proposals have the 
potential to impact on residential amenities through operational impacts during 
construction.  The extent of the development and the close proximity of noise 
sensitive residential buildings is such that there is potential for noise and 
atmospheric pollution nuisance during the construction phases.  These impacts 
can be managed and mitigated in line with best practice and can be secured 
through the implementation of a site specific Construction Environment 
Management Plan (CEMP), which can be required by condition.  The 
environmental impacts of the development are considered in more detail in the 
section below.

5. The environmental impacts of the development

10.95 The Council notified the Secretary of State (Planning Casework Unit) of the 
submission of a planning application which is accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement (ES) in accordance with regulation 16 of Part 5 of the Regulations.  
Subsequently, the Secretary of State confirmed that they have no comments to 
make.

10.96 The proposals have been screened and scoped under the Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) Regulations 2011 and an Environmental Statement ES has 
been submitted with this application setting out key impacts and mitigations 
measures.  The matters agreed as within the scope of the assessment and 
therefore reported in the ES are:

 Transport and access and traffic generation;
 Landscape and visual impact; 
 Ecology;
 Hydrology and hydrogeology;
 Cultural heritage;
 Socio economic;
 Noise and air quality (dust control); and
 Other matters.

10.97 An assessment of cumulative effects and alternatives are also factors to be 
considered under the regulations. 

Page 34



10.98 Although this section of the report focuses on the environmental aspects of the 
development it does draw conclusions on all of the matters set out in the ES in 
accordance with the EIA Regulations.

10.99 Relevant policies from the adopted district plan under this heading are SD1 
sustainable development, R2 contaminated land, R3 energy efficiency, R5 waste 
management, R7 protection of ground and surface water, R10 water 
conservation measures, R11 biodiversity and development R17 trees woodland 
and hedgerows, R18 air quality, R19 noise and vibration pollution, and R20 light 
pollution. 

10.100 The Draft Local Plan has the following policies of relevance SP1 delivering 
sustainable development, SP10 sustainable design and construction, SADM13 
sustainability requirements, SADM14 flood risk and surface water management, 
SP11 protection and enhancement of critical environmental assets, SP12 
strategic green infrastructure, SADM 16 ecology and landscape, SADM18 
environmental pollution.  

10.101 In addition to the conclusions which are summarised below, landscape 
and visual impacts are considered in detail within section 2 of this report; 
Heritage impacts are also considered within section 2; transport, access and 
traffic generation within section 3; and Socio-economic factors within sections 1, 
4 and 6. 

Landscape and visual impact:

10.102 An assessment has been carried out of the effects of the proposed 
development on the existing landscape character and on views towards the site. 
The assessment draws upon guidance by the Landscape Institute and the 
Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment. 

10.103 During construction and because the existing open grassland area will 
ultimately be lost to built development, the effect is assessed as substantial / 
moderate adverse and significant when considered in the local area. However, 
the scheme includes a range of landscaping measures designed to reduce any 
adverse impacts arising from the development.  As a result, and once fully built, 
the development will not alter the key characteristics of the landscape in the area 
and once the new landscaping has matured, is assessed as a negligible impact 
and not significant.  The additional planting introduced through the development 
will result in new habitats and new public routes and open space.  Long term 
residual effects to the local area and immediate context are assessed as minor 
adverse and not significant. 

10.104 Following consultation with the Council and a number of statutory 
consultees in autumn 2018 the green infrastructure proposals to the north of the 
site have been substantially increased.  The additional green infrastructure 
proposed will soften the edge overlooking the site by the B1000, and generate 
positive contributions in terms of open space and biodiversity. 

10.105 In terms of the viewpoints assessed, the effects are considered to be 
significant however relatively localised and short term during the construction 
phase.  During operation, landscaping will ensure there are no significant effects.

10.106 Overall the assessment concludes that a well-designed scheme of the 
type and scale proposed, set within a landscape framework designed to provide 
ecological enhancements as well as recreation facilities for the local community, 

Page 35



can be successfully placed into the local landscape, without any unacceptable 
long term landscape or visual impacts. Subject to suggested planning conditions, 
the level of details provided in support of this application is considered to be 
acceptable and the detailed design of the scheme can be secured at reserved 
matters stage.

 Ecology:

10.107 An assessment has been carried out to identify the likely effects of the 
proposed development in terms of ecology.  The assessment has been 
undertaken in line with current guidance produced by the Chartered Institute of 
Ecology and Environmental Management (CIEEM, 2016). 

10.108 Survey work undertaken as part of the Ecological Impact Assessment 
included surveys for hedgerows, badgers, bats, great crested newt, breeding 
bird, winter bird, reptile and invertebrates.

10.109 The assessment identified a number of ecological features with 
international, national, country and local value within the survey area.  All 
features assigned local level or higher value were taken forward as part of the 
assessment.  The assessment concludes that with mitigation measures the 
development would result in negligible short term and long term effects during 
the construction phase.  Once built the impact of the development would be a 
negligible, minor beneficial, or minor to moderate beneficial effect.  The main 
identified adverse effects from the development relates to an increase of visitor 
and recreational pressure as well as the general effects from human habitation.  
This includes the effects of inappropriate lighting and the increase in cat and dog 
disturbance on identified fauna. 

10.110 Natural England, in their letter dated 15 May 2018, advised that further 
information should be provided to assess and mitigate the recreational pressure 
impacts of the development on Tewinbury Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI).  In view of the development site’s location in the landscape setting of the 
Lee and Stort Valleys, Natural England also advised that the applicant should 
deliver additional biodiversity enhancements and demonstrate net biodiversity 
gain through the use of an appropriate metric.  These comments were echoed by 
Herts Ecology and Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust.

10.111 Following consultation with the Council and a number of statutory 
consultees in autumn 2018, the applicant submitted additional information 
including: a Supplementary Environmental Statement; plans for additional green 
infrastructure within land owned by the applicants to the north of the application 
site; and a Biodiversity Offsetting and Open Space Management Plan.  This 
information makes efforts to address the Ecological concerns raised and 
confirms inclusion of amendments to the proposed development and mitigation 
measures to reduce impacts, namely:

i) ensuring a net biodiversity gain in line with the NPPF can be achieved 
despite the loss of a large area of low and medium value open grassland to 
development; and 

ii) preventing and relieving recreational pressure on the surrounding Local 
Wildlife Sites, particularly habitats along the Mimram valley which includes 
Tewinbury SSSI. 

Page 36



10.112 The protection and strengthening of the existing habitat corridors, 
particularly along the northern edge, was also been an important design 
consideration.

10.113 The Masterplan demonstrates the creation of an approximate 4.8ha area 
of species rich hay meadow on the field to the north west which is currently 
arable land.  This field should have no public access and should be managed 
long-term with the objective of creating an area of high value lowland meadow.

10.114 This would provide a significant contribution to ensuring the biodiversity 
value of the existing low and medium value grassland is offset despite the 
reduction in area.  The Masterplan also includes a large area of connected green 
space that extends along the north of the development.

10.115 This area should provide alternative recreational walking areas to offset 
potential recreational pressure on local wildlife sites, and would also provide 
space for creating core areas of meadow grassland of medium to high value 
between footpath routes.

10.116 Other biodiversity enhancement proposals indicated on the Masterplan 
include a community orchard and native tree planting to strengthen the existing 
habitat corridor.  Sensitively designed sustainable drainage Systems (SuDS) 
should provide additional opportunities for creating undisturbed grassland and 
ephemeral habitats.

10.117 Overall, while the size of grassland habitat would be significantly reduced, 
the Masterplan has sufficient green space to ensure that biodiversity gains would 
be achieved within the land ownership.

10.118 Natural England, Herts Ecology and Herts Middlesex Wildlife Trust are 
satisfied that proposed green infrastructure delivery is sufficient to demonstrate 
that development will not have an adverse impact on Tewinbury SSSI through 
increased recreational pressure.  The proposed mitigation and monitoring 
measures detailed the ES Ecology chapter and the Biodiversity Offsetting and 
Open Space Management Plan are acceptable and should be secured through 
planning conditions.  Similarly, a lighting scheme will need to be submitted in 
order to demonstrate how light pollution will not impact on the sensitive Mimram 
Valley.

Water Environment:

10.119 An assessment has been carried out that identifies the potential impacts of 
the proposed development with respect to flood risk, drainage and water 
resources during construction and when the development is operational. 

10.120 Construction activities will be expected to comply with appropriate 
regulations and follow best practise guidance.  Measures such as sediment 
removal and infiltration and surface water drainage systems will be used to 
address any adverse effects and as a whole these measures will result in a 
negligible impact.

10.121 Adverse effects on pollution to surface water and groundwater, as well as 
increased pressure on public sewerage and potable water resources are 
anticipated during the operation of the proposed development.  Sustainable 
drainage systems, low water usage fixing and appliances and statutory provision 
of public potable water supply will ensure that the potential impact of the 

Page 37



development is negligible.  The assessment concludes that the effects on the 
water environment are not significant. 

10.122 The assessment included a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) by Price & 
Myers (P&M).  Hertfordshire County Council in their capacity as the Lead Local 
Flood Authority (LLFA) initially objected to the FRA because a detailed 
assessment dealing with overland flows from external areas was not included.  
P&M met with the LLFA to discuss this assessment’s extent.  It was agreed to 
provide calculations for the proposed swale and for a storage area which will be 
able to accommodate a volume of water from the external areas.  Furthermore, 
the LLFA asked P&M to provide some measures to mitigate existing flood 
problems which currently affect B1000 to the north of the site.  The amended 
proposals involved swales to direct the overland flow paths to the river without 
affecting the new development, a swale to mitigate the flood risk problems 
associated with B1000, and a pond to store overland flows from the external 
areas.  Following re-consultation, the LLFA and has confirmed no objection on 
flood risk grounds, advising that the proposed development site can be 
adequately drained and mitigate any potential existing surface water flood risk if 
carried out in accordance with the overall drainage strategy. 

10.123 As this is an outline planning application, more detail will be required as 
part of any reserved matters application particularly in relation to the proposed 
layout to ensure sufficient space is allocated to implement the principles outlined 
within the current FRA to ensure there will be no increase in flood risk within the 
development site.  The detailed surface and foul water disposal strategies can be 
secured by conditions.

10.124 Thames Water have advised that they have no objection to the planning 
application with regard to waste water network and waste water process 
infrastructure capacity.

10.125 The Environment Agency were also consulted and have confirmed that 
the proposed development is acceptable subject to suggested planning 
conditions to ensure the protection of ground and surface waters through the 
development of contaminated ground and through the proposed surface water 
drainage.

Ground conditions:

10.126 The site comprised a number of rural fields at the end of the 19th century.  
There are two old chalk pits recorded within the site boundary.  These appear to 
have been filled in by 1975.  There was an electricity substation adjacent to the 
south western corner of the site from some time before 1976.  The site has an 
historic landfill in the south-eastern corner. 

10.127 The British Geological Map of the area indicates that the site is formed of 
superficial deposits of sand and gravel, with Lewes Nodular Chalk Formation and 
Seaford Chalk Formations underlying this.  The desk study research indicates 
that a number of loose features are present however there is also a very low 
potential for collapsible ground stability hazards. 

10.128 The findings of the desk study indicate that the site has had a potentially 
contaminative history by virtue of it having been occupied by an airfield since 
1940.  Fuel tanks, aircraft storage and maintenance have been associated with 
this usage.  The desk study has also indicated that the surrounding area has 

Page 38



included various potentially contaminative uses including two electrical 
substations and the presence of a historical landfill on site. 

10.129 During construction, disturbance to the ground has the potential to 
contaminate both the ground and ground waters.  Appropriate mitigation 
measures have been identified in order for the effect of construction to be 
considered negligible.  These measures will be set out in a CEMP which can be 
secured by planning condition, together with other conditions suggested by the 
Environment Agency to protect groundwater resources.

10.130 A more detailed ground investigation will be undertaken to confirm the 
groundwater levels and ground conditions beneath the site before construction 
starts.  No situation is foreseen where measures cannot be implemented to fully 
mitigate against any potential contaminative risks.  The effect of the proposed 
development is therefore considered negligible. 

Archaeology:

10.131 This chapter assesses the likely significant archaeological effects resulting 
from the proposed development.  It includes a review of designated and non-
designated archaeological assets as appropriate.  The significance of and 
development impact and overall effect on identified archaeological asset is 
assessed with further guidance provided on likely levels of impact and effect on 
currently unknown archaeology. 

10.132 As discussed earlier in the this report, under section 2, Hertfordshire 
County Council’s Historic Advisor has confirmed that the Historic Assessment is 
sufficient to meet the historic building recording requirement.  No objections have 
been raised to the proposed development on archaeological grounds subject to a 
suggested planning condition to secure the appropriate level of investigation that 
this proposal warrants.

10.133 After the mitigation works are completed no significant adverse residual 
effects are identified and it is considered that the public dissemination of the 
results of mitigation works could produce a minor to moderate beneficial effect. 

Built heritage:

10.134 An assessment has been carried out on the effect of the proposed 
development on above ground heritage assets within and surrounding the site.   
The assessment of the construction effects has found that, taking into account 
the landscaping included in the development that it will have an adverse impact 
on the significance of Panshanger Aerodrome as a whole, Panshanger Park 
Registered Park and Garden, Church of St Peter and Marden Hill House in 
winter.  Significance will be preserved of Tewin Water Registered Park and 
Garden as well as Marden Hill House in the summer.  

10.135 There will be short-term impacts during construction and as the proposed 
structural planting and other green infrastructure becomes established and grows 
to maturity during the early parts of the operational phase; however, Historic 
England agree with the Supplementary Environmental Statement conclusions 
that the structural planting at maturity (15 years post-completion) should 
effectively screen both existing and new housing, with all but occasional localised 
glimpsed views of roof lines of new housing.  This will be an improvement over 
the existing situation, representing an enhancement to the setting of the Grade I 

Page 39



listed St Peter’s Church and the Grade II* listed Marden Hill House as well as the 
character of the River Mimram Valley more generally. 

Socio-economic:

10.136 An assessment has been carried out to identify how the proposed 
development is likely to affect the local economy and labour market, population, 
housing supply and demand for community infrastructure including education, 
health and other community facilities.  This assessment draws upon published 
Government and local authority statistics. 

10.137 In terms of potential impact arising from the proposed development during 
the construction phase, the assessment concludes that the construction effects 
generated are beneficial and of minor to moderate magnitude across the Welwyn 
Hatfield local authority area.  No mitigation measures are needed, although 
specific measures could be adopted with consultation with WHBC. 

10.138 Estimated benefits include a significant capital investment, estimated to 
amount to approximately £61 million, 75 temporary construction jobs per annum 
(based on an eight year build period) and an additional 115 jobs indirect jobs 
each year of construction in sectors throughout the UK economy (such as by 
suppliers and local shops, restaurants and other service facilities).  The 
economic output for the Proposed Development could create an additional £5.1 
million of direct GVA and an additional £7.2 million of indirect GVA for each year 
of construction.  This equates to around £12.3 million GVA in total per annum. 

10.139 Throughout operation the proposed development will have a number of 
beneficial socio-economic effects.  The main benefits include: 

 Provision of approximately 65 jobs (with 45 of those being full time 
equivalents); 

 An additional 920 economically active people are likely to be added to the 
local labour market as a result of the proposed development; 

 Provision of 650 dwellings in Panshanger, including up to 195 affordable 
dwellings, improving the quality of the housing stock and meeting housing 
needs; 

 Provision of up to 0.41 ha of gypsy and traveller pitches, a specialist form 
of accommodation which meets the needs of a specific socio-economic 
group; 

 The provision of a two form entry primary school, which would provide 
approximately 420 school places; 

 Provision of a new community building (up to 600 sqm), retail uses (up to 
200 sqm) and primary school (up to 3,250 sqm); and 

 Provision of public open space, green corridors and allotments to serve 
residents. 

10.140 The assessment concludes that there will be a neutral / negligible effect 
on secondary education and an adverse effect on healthcare.  Planning 
obligations will be sought to ensure that additional needs brought on by the 
development are met as set out in section 6 of this report.

Page 40



10.141 Overall, the proposed development represents a significant new 
investment in the area and will improve the quality of local housing and local 
employment opportunities and increase population and economic activity in the 
local area without creating significant adverse effects on existing facilities.  It will 
also provide new open space and allotments for the residents of the development 
and the wider area. 

Noise and vibration:

10.142 A noise assessment has been carried out to establish the existing noise 
environment and to assess the potential direct and indirect noise and vibration 
impact of the proposed development.  A combination of automated and manned 
noise surveys were undertaken at a series of monitoring locations within and 
surrounding the site during the day and night. 

10.143 Noise levels across the site are dominated by local and distant road traffic 
including from the A414 (approx. 1km to the south east of the site). 

10.144 Noise and vibration associated with the construction phase includes direct 
noise and vibration from construction plant, machinery and processes and 
indirect impacts due to construction traffic on neighbouring roads.  With no 
mitigation measures the direct effects are considered to be negligible to 
substantial adverse (and therefore significant) whilst the indirect effect of 
construction traffic is considered to be minor adverse (and therefore not 
significant). 

10.145 Noise and vibration measures associated with the operation of the 
proposed development include general environmental noise, noise levels inside 
dwellings, noise associated with outdoor space, noise from plant and machinery 
associated with commercial uses and changes to the level of road traffic. 

10.146 Whilst the majority of the effects have not been considered significant for 
EIA purposes, a number of mitigation measures are proposed for both the 
construction and operational stage of development to comply with national 
planning guidance.  These include a CEMP including, but are not limited to, 
measures undertaking the works in line with the general best practice guidance, 
optimising site layout, provision of noise monitoring and controlling site opening 
hours.  This will reduce any construction impacts to negligible. 

10.147 A number of passive in-built mitigation measures are proposed to help 
reduce any the noise and vibration effects for future residents of the site during 
operation.  Measures include the use of standard thermal double glazing, an 
appropriately specified means of ventilation and utilising the benefits of additional 
thermal mass in the design, for example concrete floors.  For commercial uses 
specific detail of such mitigation can be secured and enforced through the 
imposition of an appropriate planning condition at the reserved matters stage.

10.148 The assessment concludes that, with mitigation, the proposed 
development will not result in any significant adverse effects on the proposed 
dwellings that will be developed by the scheme or existing noise sensitive 
receptors in the vicinity of the site. 

Air quality:

10.149 An assessment has been can be carried out of the potential air quality 
effects associated with the proposed development in terms of both site suitability 

Page 41



for residential health and amenity, and any potential air quality impact on the 
local area as a result of the proposed development.  The potential impacts of 
dust generated during site enabling, earthworks and construction works have 
been undertaken in accordance with the relevant guidance.  During operation, 
impacts are related to the energy strategy and operational traffic. 

10.150 In terms of existing conditions, an Air Quality Assessment indicates that 
the air quality is generally good, the pollutant objectives are consistently met and 
it has not yet been necessary to designate any Air Quality Management Areas 
within the Borough. 

10.151 In terms of the proposed development, the construction effects considered 
include dust, traffic and plant.  The assessment concludes that that following the 
successful implementation of management measures the construction dust and 
emissions from construction plant/vehicles upon the local area and sensitive 
receptors although minor adverse, will be temporary and considered to be ‘not 
significant’.  Additionally any likely pollutant impacts associated with construction 
traffic and plant would be addressed through mitigation measures.

10.152 For the operational phase, 22 existing and proposed sensitive receptors 
within the vicinity of the development site were assessed to understand the 
potential impact of traffic.  The overall significance of the impacts identified are 
considered to be negligible and therefore, it is not anticipated that mitigation 
measures will be required. 

10.153 With regard to the site energy strategy, at this early stage it is not possible 
to undertake a quantitative assessment of operational plant due to the detailed 
technical specifications required to undertake this work, not being available. 

10.154 Through the implementation of the mitigation measures the assessment 
concludes that the proposed development does not raise any significant or other 
residual adverse impacts on the health and/or quality of life for existing or 
proposed sensitive receptors as a result of any anticipated changes to air quality. 

Cumulative impact assessment
 

10.155 This chapter draws together and summarises the findings from the 
individual inputs into the ES; defines inter-relationships between these 
assessments and reviews whether there are other developments in the area 
surrounding the site that could have an inter-relationship.  It also establishes 
whether there are any other residual effects on the identified sensitive receptors 
which may require additional mitigation not previously identified. 

10.156 The analysis has identified that there is no requirement for or ability to 
identify additional mitigation measures to address effects arising from the inter-
relationship between impacts on sensitive receptors.  

10.157 When assessing inter-relationships and cumulative effects, there is a need 
to consider whether there may also be other indirect effects arising from the 
development when considered with other proposals or schemes in the 
surrounding area.  These effects may also give rise to the need to consider 
additional mitigation measures. 

10.158 The objective is to identify whether impacts from several developments 
which individually might be insignificant could, when considered together, cause 
a significant indirect and cumulative impact requiring mitigation. 

Page 42



10.159 Best practice dictates that cumulative assessments of this nature should 
have regard to those schemes which are ‘reasonably foreseeable’.  This is 
further clarified in the Planning Practice Guidance (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) which states that:- 

“The local planning authorities should always have regard to the possible 
cumulative effects arising from any existing or approved development” (ID: 
4-024-20170728) (last updated 28 July 2017)

10.160 No schemes were identified as requiring an assessment of whether any 
cumulative effects may arise from the proposed development and are not 
considered further. 

 Environmental Impact Assessment:

10.161 It is considered that all of the scoping topics have been properly 
addressed.  Finally in this section of the report, it is considered best practice to 
set out the likely significant effects that have been identified, along with proposed 
mitigation, the mechanism for securing this and the responsible party.  This is set 
out in the following table: 

Effect Mitigation Measure Mechanism for 
Securing

Responsibility for 
Implementing

Transport: Effect on 
the highway and 
transport.

Considered through the 
preparation of a 
Transport Assessment 

A Construction 
Environment 
Management Plan 
(CEMP) will be 
prepared to set out how 
demolition and 
construction vehicles 
and activities would be 
managed.

Residential Travel Plan 
will set out a range of 
measures which would 
be implemented to 
encourage sustainable 
travel patterns.

Traffic calming 
measures will be 
implemented.

Planning obligations 
and conditions

Applicant

Landscape and Visual 
Impact: effect on 
landscape character 
and view towards the 
site.

Landscaping measures 
designed to reduce any 
adverse impacts arising 
from the development. 

Protection of retained 
trees in accordance 
with British Standards.

Planning conditions Applicant

Page 43



Effect Mitigation Measure Mechanism for 
Securing

Responsibility for 
Implementing

Ecology: Effects on 
International 
Designated Sites; 
Nationally Designated 
Sites; Habitats and 
Flora; Ecological 
Features; and 
Protected/Notable 
Flora.

A Construction 
Environment 
Management Plan 
(CEMP) to set out how 
demolition and 
construction activities 
would be managed.

A Landscape and 
Ecological 
Management Plan 
(LEMP) addressing 
landscape and 
biodiversity protection 
and enhancement.

Built mitigation 
including 4.2ha of 
public open green 
space and strategic 
landscaping.

An additional large area 
of semi-improved 
grassland will retained 
outside the site 
boundary to the north. 

A comprehensive 
wildlife box scheme will 
provide nesting 
facilities for birds, bats 
and reptiles. 

Visitor management 
measures will include 
leaflets detailing nearby 
green space facilities. 

Planning conditions Applicant

Page 44



Effect Mitigation Measure Mechanism for 
Securing

Responsibility for 
Implementing

Water Environment: 
Effects on flood risk, 
drainage and water 
resources during 
construction and when 
the development is 
operational.

Construction activities 
to comply with 
appropriate regulations 
and follow best practice 
guidance.

Measures such as 
sediment removal and 
infiltration and surface 
water drainage systems 
will be used to address 
any adverse effects 
and as a whole these 
measures will result in 
a negligible impact. 

Sustainable drainage 
systems, low water 
usage fixing and 
appliances and 
statutory provision of 
public potable water 
supply.

Planning obligations 
and condition

Applicant

Ground Conditions: 
Effects soil; ground 
water; and human 
health. 

Site investigation, 
remediation and 
validation, measures to 
minimise contamination 
effects.

Mitigation measures 
will be set out in a 
CEMP including 
temporary installation 
of foul and surface 
water drainage systems 
and water treatments to 
ensure that 
contaminants do not 
enter the ground or 
ground water.  The 
CEMP will also include 
detail on pollution 
prevention and control 
regarding ground and 
groundwater 
contamination. 

Planning conditions Applicant

Archaeology:  Effects 
on designated and non-
designated assets.

A programme of further 
archaeological 
evaluation and 
mitigation

Planning conditions Applicant

Built Heritage: Effects 
on above ground 
heritage assets within 
and surrounding the 
site.

Preserve by record 
prior to determination of 
this application.

Page 45



Effect Mitigation Measure Mechanism for 
Securing

Responsibility for 
Implementing

Socio-Economic:  
Effects on the local 
economy and labour 
market; population; 
housing supply; and 
demand for community 
infrastructure including 
education, health and 
other community 
facilities. 

On-site provision of 
affordable housing; 
gypsy and traveller 
pitches; a two form 
entry primary school; 
community building; 
retail space; public 
open space and 
allotments.

Financial contributions 
towards the provision of 
community 
infrastructure including 
education, health and 
other community 
facilities. 

Planning obligations 
and conditions

Applicant

Noise and Vibration: 
Effects of direct and 
indirect noise and 
vibration.

Mitigation measures 
will be set out in a 
CEMP.

Passive in-built 
mitigation measures to 
reduce noise and 
vibration effects for 
future residents during 
operation, including 
thermal double glazing, 
an appropriately 
specified means of 
ventilation and utilising 
the benefits of 
additional thermal mass 
in the design, for 
example concrete 
floors. 

Planning conditions

Additional details to be 
provided at reserved 
matters 

Applicant

Air Quality: Effects on 
residential health and 
amenity; air quality; 
dust during site 
enabling, earthworks 
and construction; and 
operational impacts 
related to energy 
strategy and traffic. 

Mitigation measures 
will be set out in a 
CEMP.

With regard to the site 
energy strategy, at this 
early stage it is not 
possible to undertake a 
quantitative 
assessment of 
operational plant due to 
the detailed technical 
specifications required 
to undertake this work, 
not being available. 
Compliance to relevant 
regulations and 
standards should be 
secured through 
planning conditions, 
where necessary. 

Planning conditions

Additional details to be 
provided at reserved 
matters

Applicant

Page 46



6. The adequacy of supporting facilities

10.162 The three tests set out in Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 require S106 agreements to be:

a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b) directly related to the development; and 
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

10.163 Regulation 123 of CIL Regulations states that a planning obligation may not 
constitute a reason for granting planning permission where the obligation 
provides for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project or type of 
infrastructure and five or more separate planning obligations for the funding or 
provision of that project or type of infrastructure have been entered into.

10.164 Discussions have been held with HCC’s Growth and Infrastructure Unit.  
They respond that the development plan background supports provision of 
planning contributions.  Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 covers the 
requirement for developers to finance the cost of infrastructure provision and 
improvements which are directly related to and necessary to the granting of 
planning permission.  The provision of community facilities is a matter that is 
relevant to planning.  The contributions sought will ensure that additional needs 
brought on by the development are met.  The approach to seeking contributions 
as set out within the Toolkit is consistent, fair and transparent, providing certainty 
to all involved in the process.

10.165 The occupiers of new residential developments will have an additional 
impact upon local services.  The financial contributions sought towards services 
are based on the size, type and tenure of the individual dwellings comprising this 
development following consultation with the service providers and will only be 
used towards services and facilities serving the locality of the proposed 
development and therefore, for the benefit of the development's occupants.  
Where costings are known for identified projects but applications have been 
made in outline, a bespoke figure may be sought. 

10.166 When applications are made in outline, HCC’s standard approach is to 
request a table setting out the contribution figures by type size and tenure of 
dwelling is referred to and included within any Section 106 deed following 
identification of service requirements.  This approach provides the certainty of 
identified contribution figures with the flexibility for an applicant/developer to 
determine the dwelling mix at the reserved matters stage and the financial 
contribution to be calculated accordingly, without the need to enter into a deed of 
variation.  This ensures the contributions remain appropriate to the development 
and thereby meet test the third test of Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010: “fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development”.  This approach may vary in instances where specific 
project costings are known at the time of the application. In these cases the 
project cost will form the initial basis of the calculations.

10.167 A S106 Legal Agreement to secure planning obligations has been subject 
to negotiations with Officers.  The following table sets out the heads of terms 
sought by the Council and broadly agreed with the applicant:  

Details Value (if applicable) Trigger Notes

Page 47



Details Value (if applicable) Trigger Notes
Affordable Housing TBC 30% (195 units) with 

51:49 split between 
social rent and 
intermediate tenure.

Youth £68,203 Staged payments TBC

Childcare £68,203 Staged payments TBC

Primary Education £6,190,638 plus 2.25ha 
of land 

Staged payments TBC This is based on 71% 
of the total cost of a 
new 2FE primary 
school (1.42FE arising 
from the site / by the 
total capacity of the 
primary school, 2FE).

Secondary Education £6,395,116 Staged payments TBC A proportionate 
contribution towards 
the new secondary 
school proposed to 
serve growth East of 
Welwyn Garden City.

Library Contribution £104,729 Staged payments TBC Towards Welwyn 
Garden City Library - 
the reconfiguration of 
space on the ground 
floor to create a new 
internal layout for the 
delivery of events and 
activities which would 
include new flexible 
shelving, furniture and 
equipment. 

Community Hall and 
associated land

TBC Includes fitting out a 
community building 
comprising a minimum 
of 400sqm and 
associated parking.

Indoor Sports 
Facilities

Hatfield Swimming Pool

£318,703 Staged payments TBC Towards completing an 
upgrade of the 
changing village at the 
Hatfield Swim Centre 
which will improve both 
accessibility and visitor 
numbers by local 
residents.

Outdoor Sports 
Facilities

Moneyhole Lane Park

£393,297 Staged payments TBC Grass pitch 
improvements; pavilion 
improvements; 
conversion of the hard 
court area to a more 
suitable surface; and 
enhancements to 
access and circulation 
areas.

Page 48



Details Value (if applicable) Trigger Notes
Green Space £58,112.26 Staged payments TBC Allotment association 

building supply and fix 
(£45,000);

Allotment compostable 
toilet supply and fix 
(£12,500); 

Green Hertfordshire 
Interactive Map Project 
(£35,000); and 

A contribution towards 
the Green Hertfordshire 
interactive map project.

Play Facilities Pre-Occupation On-site provision of 
LAPS and LEAPS (total 
minimum area equal to 
6,560sqm)

Waste and Recycling £48,750 Pre-Occupation Wheeled bins charged 
at £75 per dwelling.  
Provision for flats 
charged at £390 per 
1,100 litre container 
plus £560 per mini 
recycling centre. 

Waste £56,427 Pre-Occupation Towards a replacement 
facility for Cole Green 
HWRC at Tewin Road.

Highways £925,000 Staged payments 
TBC

Support bus services 
serving the 
development site for 5 
years (£625,000); and
 
Extending the existing 
cycle network to 
connect to the 
development site 
(£300,000).

Travel Plan £6,000.00 TBC Evaluating, supporting 
and monitoring the 
Travel Plan.

Parking Services

Provision for lay-by 
parking bays and 
parking control 
measures

£109,000 Prior to the completion 
of the site access from 
Halifax Way

14 lay-by parking bays 
on Halifax Way 
(£14,000);

5 lay-by parking bays 
on Stirling Way plus 
additional 
lowering/diversionary 
works of B.T/Virgin 
media boxes (£57,000); 
and

Parking restrictions 
within Halifax Way and 
Stirling Way (£10,000).

Page 49



Details Value (if applicable) Trigger Notes
Medical Services £460,072.08 Staged payments: 50% 

prior to occupation of 
the 150th dwelling.  The 
remaining 50% prior to 
occupation of the 600th 
dwelling.

Towards increasing 
capacity at GP 
Surgeries in the locality 
of the site.

Mental Health and 
Community Costs

£244,718 Staged payments: 50% 
prior to occupation of 
the 150th dwelling.  The 
remaining 50% prior to 
occupation of the 600th 
dwelling.

Towards increasing 
capacity in Roseanne 
House in Welwyn 
Garden City and to 
increase patient activity 
in the Queensway 
Clinic in Hatfield.

Fire & Rescue Provision of hydrants.

Gypsy and Travellers 0.41ha for Gypsy and 
Travellers comprising 
minimum of six pitches. 

Self-build Serviced 
Plots 

0.28ha of self-build 
housing comprising a 
minimum of 6 units.

Structural 
landscaping 

To include details of the 
landscaping and 
biodiversity features on 
land within the 
applicants’ ownership 
as detailed on 
parameter plan 
ID06095-04-050 Rev G 
and plan 5705-E-02C. 

Monitoring Fee £5,000.00 Completion of Deed

Indexation As appropriate.

10.168 The requested contributions set out above are considered to be 
reasonable and to pass the necessary CIL 122 tests as the works are considered 
necessary to make the development acceptable, directly related to the 
development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.

10.169 The applicant has entered into negotiations on these required 
contributions and it is anticipated that the S106 Agreement will be entered shortly 
after the decision is made, if it is indeed determined at committee to resolve to 
grant subject of the completion of the S106 Agreement. 

7. Other considerations  

i) Minerals

10.170 The site is underlain by gravel deposits and there is a possibility that 
minerals could be extracted from this site prior to development.  The developer 
will need to demonstrate that the ‘opportunistic’ use of some minerals on-site 

Page 50



within the site itself has been fully considered, subject to it not prejudicing the 
delivery of housing within the plan period.

10.171 The application was accompanied by a Technical Note – Minerals 
Extraction which has investigated the possibility of extracting materials before 
built-development takes place and has stated the likelihood and benefits of using 
in-situ sand and gravel on-site within the proposed development.  It is 
encouraging that confirmation is included that a quantifiable amount of sand and 
gravel can be extracted and used on site as well as excess material potentially 
being transported off-site (as a waste material) to local mineral operators.  HCC, 
as the Minerals Planning Authority, consider a suitably worded planning 
Condition would be appropriate to ensure valuable mineral resources found on-
site are used effectively in accordance with the principles of mineral safeguarding 
stated in the NPPF and adopted/emerging Minerals Local Plans.

ii) Tree protection measures

10.172 Local Plan Policy R17 seeks to protect existing trees whilst Policy D8 
requires landscaping to form an integral part of the overall design, and in this 
respect the high quality design required by Policy D1 and D2 would again be 
relevant.  

10.173 A Tree Report has been submitted with the application which has been 
considered by the Council’s Landscape and Ecology Officer and is considered 
sufficient at this outline stage.  Landscaping is not a matter being approved as 
part of this outline planning application; however, the Landscaping Parameter 
Plan (ID06905-04-050 Rev G), Illustrative Masterplan (ID06095-086 Rev E) and 
Indicative Proposed Landscaping Plan (5705-E-02C) provide details of proposed 
strategic green infrastructure. 

10.174 The arboricultural report from FPCR Environment and Design Limited 
contains within it an assessment of the trees on and adjacent to the site, in 
accordance with BS:5837:201.  The categorisation of the trees, with the report, is 
considered a fair assessment of the trees.

10.175 The majority of existing trees are located around and adjacent to the 
boundary of the site.  These trees may provide useful screening and should be 
retained where possible.  It is considered feasible to develop the site whilst 
retaining most of the key vegetation.  Should planning permission be approved 
an Arboricultural Method Statement would be required detailing the protection of 
the trees and any special methods of construction to minimise the impact on the 
retained trees.

10.176 Care needs to be taken along the southern boundary of the site which is 
adjacent to Henry’s Wood.  Henry’s Wood has many characteristics of Ancient 
Semi-natural Woodland.  Within the woodland are ancient wood banks lined with 
trees and many veteran trees, particularly hornbeam.  The NPPF states that: 
“Development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such 
as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless 
there are exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists.”

10.177 Any proposed development to the site needs to consider how the layout 
will impact in the woodland and avoid large scale construction in the area 
adjacent to the wood.  Consideration also needs to be given to aspect of the 

Page 51



woodland as its sits to the south of the proposed site buildings should be situated 
away from the woodland boundary to avoid any issues with shading.

10.178 The indicative layout shows the loss of some trees to the rear of Stirling 
Way and Martlesham.  This is considered minimal and would be appropriately 
mitigated with planting within a suitable landscape scheme to be considered at 
the reserved matters stage.  

11 Planning Conditions

11.3 Planning Practice Guidance Policy governs the use of conditions in planning and 
the power to impose conditions when granting planning permission is very wide.  
If used properly, conditions can enhance the quality of development and enable 
many development proposals to proceed where it would otherwise have been 
necessary to refuse planning permission.  The objectives of planning, however, 
are best served when that power is exercised in such a way that conditions are 
clearly seen to be fair, reasonable and practicable.  Conditions should only be 
imposed where they are both necessary and reasonable, as well as enforceable, 
precise and relevant both to planning and to the development to be permitted. In 
considering whether a particular condition is necessary, both officers and 
members should ask themselves whether planning permission would have to be 
refused if that condition were not to be imposed. If it would not, then the condition 
needs special and precise justification.

11.4 Given the nature of this application, it is perhaps inevitable that a considerable 
number of planning conditions are proposed. Some of these are required to 
mitigate specific matters that are identified in the Environmental Statement, and 
others to control other aspects of the scheme and to ensure the delivery of an 
acceptable scheme in planning terms.

12 Overall balance and conclusion

12.1 Paragraph 73 of the NPPF sets out that “Local planning authorities should 
identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 
provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing against their housing 
requirement set out in adopted strategic policies, or against their local housing 
need where the strategic policies are more than five years old”.

12.2 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF outlines that decisions should apply a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development and footnote 7 outlines that it includes, 
amongst other things, “for applications involving the provision of housing, 
situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year 
supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as set out in 
paragraph 73)”.

12.3 The recent appeal at Entech House outlined that the Council do not have a five 
year housing supply and therefore the NPPF at Paragraph 11 notes the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development which for decision taking 
means:

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or 

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out of date, 
granting permission unless: 

Page 52



i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significant and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the polices in this 
Framework taken as a whole.

An assessment of the benefits:

12.4 The proposed development has been planned so that it fully accords with the site 
specific requirements of Policy SP18, as detailed within the 13 bullet points.  

12.5 Draft Policy SP18 states that a Masterplan should be prepared in accordance 
with the policy and Strategy Diagram 11 and that this Masterplan should form the 
basis of a SPD.  The Illustrative Masterplan submitted with this outline planning 
application has been the subject of consultation with WHBC and HCC Officers, 
statutory and non-statutory consultees, stakeholders, local community and the 
HCC Design Review Panel over a number of years.  It is therefore considered to 
be a sound and robust masterplan.  As such, it is not considered that a 
Masterplan and SPD for the site are required in advance of determination of this 
outline planning application subject to the relevant safeguards to ensure delivery 
of the landscaping and biodiversity features on land provided within the 
applicants’ ownership to the north of the application site is prior to the proposed 
development commencing on site. 

12.6 The proposed development for up to 650 dwellings will make an important 
contribution to help the Borough meet the requirements of Draft Policy SP2, 
which identifies a borough-wide housing target of 12,000 dwellings between 2013 
and 2032.  The principle of development of this site is in accordance with the 
emerging site allocation policy. 

12.7 The site is sustainably located on the edge of Welwyn Garden City and the 
existing Panshanger residential estate.  The site is close to existing services, 
such as Moors Walk and the proposed development will provide community 
services such as a primary school, community buildings and a local retail unit.  
The proposed development therefore represents a sustainable urban extension 
to the existing settlement of Welwyn Garden City. 

10.179 The impacts of the proposal have been considered in terms of heritage, 
landscape and visual impacts; transport, access and traffic; residential amenity 
and impact on neighbouring occupiers; environmental impacts; and supporting 
facilities.  Other material considerations have also been considered. 

12.8 Subject to the imposition of relevant conditions and the satisfactory completion of 
a Section 106 Agreement to secure planning obligations, the proposal is 
considered acceptable in terms of the above and is not contrary to the aims and 
objectives of saved policies of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, the Draft 
Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018

12.9 The additional housing proposed of which 30% would be affordable, attracts 
substantial weight for the proposal.  It therefore considered that the proposal can 
be viewed as a sustainable form of development, taking account of its three 

Page 53



dimensions as set out at paragraph 8 of the 2018 NPPF.  Accordingly, paragraph 
11 of the 2018 NPPF, which deals with the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, is met.

13. Recommendation 

13.1 It is recommended that the Committee resolves to grant outline planning 
permission subject to the satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Agreement 
securing planning obligations set out under paragraph 10.167 and the agreement 
of any necessary extensions to the statutory determination period to complete 
this agreement; and:

a) the following conditions; and

b) notification of this decision to the Secretary of State in relation to the 
Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2017 and authorisation to 
determine the application in advance of the adopted Local Plan.

Planning Conditions:

1. Approval of Reserved Matters
No part of the Development shall commence within any part of the application 
site until details of the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping (hereinafter 
referred to as “reserved matters”) for that relevant part have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the relevant 
part of development must not be carried out other than in accordance with 
approved reserved matters.

REASON:  In accordance with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and in accordance with the 
requirements of Articles 1, 2 and 4 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

2. Time Limit
Application for the approval of the first reserved matters application for the 
relevant part of the development shall be made not later than the expiration of 
two years beginning with the date of this permission.  Commencement of 
development of that part or parts approved shall begin within two years from the 
date of approval of the reserved matters for that part or parts.

REASON:  In accordance with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and in accordance with the 
requirements of Articles 1, 2 and 4 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

3. Approved Drawings 
The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details:

 Plan Number Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

ID06905-04-003 D Site Location Plan 29 March 2018

ID06905-04-052 E Land Use Parameters Plan 29 March 2018

Page 54



ID06905-04-049 G Density Parameters Plan 18 December 2018

ID06905-04-048 H Heights Parameters Plan 18 December 2018

ID06905-04-050 G Landscape Parameters Plan 18 December 2018

ID06905-04-080 C Access & Movement 
Parameters Plan

29 March 2018

ID06905-04-086 E Illustrative Masterplan 18 December 2018

5705-E-02C Indicative Proposed 
Landscaping (amended)

18 December 2018

30588/AC/009 E Proposed access from Herns 
Lane 

14 February 2019

30588/AC/012 A Proposed access from 
Bericot Way

14 February 2019

30588/AC/013 Proposed access from 
Panshanger Lane 

4 April 2018

30588/AC/014 Proposed access from 
Halifax Way

4 April 2018

ID06905-04-027 E Design and Access 
Statement 

29 March 2018

Flood Risk Assessment, 
Price & Myers - 22110  

29 March 2018 and 
Addendum 29 October 2018

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details.

4. Urban Design Statement 
An Urban Design Statement must be submitted with each reserved matters 
application to demonstrate how the design is in general accordance with the 
Design Principles set out in the approved Design and Access Statement 
reference ID06095-04-027 Rev E dated March 2018 and to ensure consistency 
of appearance, form, layout and materials throughout the development. Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing or superseded with an updated/revised Design 
Document. 

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance of the development 
which reflects Garden City design principles and in the interests of the visual 
amenities of the area. 

5. Landscaping
The landscaping matters reserved for subsequent approval by Condition 1 shall 
include details of the landscaping and biodiversity features on land provided 
within the applicants’ ownership as detailed on parameter plan ID06095-04-050 
Rev G and plan 5705-E-02C.  These features shall be designed to mitigate 
biodiversity impact and visual impact of the development hereby approved. 

REASON:  To ensure the landscape, open spaces, habitats and species are 
safeguarded and where appropriate enhanced in accordance with Policy R11, 
R28 and RA10 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan; Policies SP1, SP9, SP10, 
SP11, SP12, SP18, SADM14, SADM15 and SADM16 of the Draft Local Plan 

Page 55



Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018 and the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010.

6. Development Thresholds and Phasing
The maximum gross areas in each respective use granted by this permission 
shall be up to:

a) 15.58ha of housing land (houses and apartments) comprising a maximum of 
650 units including a minimum of 33 units specifically designed to meet the 
varied needs of older people;

b) 0.33ha retirement village 
c) 0.28ha of self-build housing comprising a minimum of 6 units
d) 0.41ha for Gypsy and Travellers comprising minimum of six pitches 
e) 2.3ha for the provision of a two-form entry primary school 
f) 0.73ha for the provision of allotments 
g) 500sqm commercial unit (Use Class A1) 

REASON:   To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interest of 
proper planning.

7. Site Wide Strategies 
No development shall commence until the following site wide strategies have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in accordance 
with approved strategies.  The Site Wide Strategies must include, but is not be 
limited to the following:

a) Framework Delivery and Servicing Strategy;
b) Movement strategy – including detail of connections to the cycle and footpath 

networks, Green Corridor, Panshanger Park and Moneyhole Lane Park;
c) Public Realm Strategy – including hard and soft landscaping, lighting, street 

furniture;
d) Operation Waste management Strategy; and
e) Drainage Strategy.

REASON:   To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interest of 
proper planning.

8. Construction Environmental Management Plan
No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the development must not be carried out 
other than in accordance with the approved CEMP.  The CEMP must include, but 
is not be limited to the following:

a) Phasing;
b) means of access for construction vehicles including number; types and 

routing to and from the site;
c) delivery times of construction materials;
d) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
e) wheel washing facilities;
f) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
g) a scheme to encourage the use of public transport for contractors;

Page 56



h) on site construction worker, visitor and site operative parking;
i) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 

displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
j) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
k) measures to minimise noise and vibration during construction;
l) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works;
m) the operation of plant and machinery associated with engineering operations;
n) site security;
o) fuel, oil and chemicals storage, bunding, delivery and use;
p) how both minor and major spillage will be dealt with;
q) containment of silt/soil contaminated run-off;
r) disposal of contaminated drainage, including water pumped from 

excavations;
s) site induction for workforce highlighting pollution prevention and awareness;
t) a scheme to dispose of surface water run off during the construction phase;
u) anticipated number, frequency and size of construction vehicles entering / 

exiting the site;
v) measures to ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the seeds / 

root / stem of any invasive plant listed under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981, as amended;

w) a scheme for the remediation and management of invasive plant species 
on/in proximity to the site; and

x) details of all permits, contingency plans and mitigation measures that shall be 
put in place to control the risk of pollution to air, soil and controlled waters, 
protect biodiversity and avoid, minimise and manage the production of waste, 
with particular attention being paid to the constraints and risks of the site.

REASON:  To ensure that the development achieves the appropriate mitigation 
measures and takes place in a manner that will minimise the environmental 
impacts of the construction and ensure that the development is undertaken in a 
manner which reduces any potential adverse impact upon the residential 
amenities and currently enjoyed by existing residents and businesses and ensure 
that the operation of the road network is protected in accordance with Policies 
R2, R7, R11, R17, R18, R19 and R20 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005;  
Policies SP11, SP18, SADM14, SADM16 and SADM18 of the Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018.

9. Construction times
Construction deliveries, demolition and construction works, which shall include 
use of any plant or machinery, cleaning and maintenance of plant or machinery, 
deliveries to the site and movement of vehicles within the curtilage of the site, 
must not take place other than between 0800 hours and 1800 hours Mondays to 
Fridays and 08:00 hours and 1300 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

REASON:  To ensure that the development is undertaken in a manner which 
reduces any potential impact upon the residential amenities currently enjoyed by 
existing residents and businesses in accordance with Policy R18, R19 and R20 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM18 of the Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018.

Page 57



10.Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
No development shall commence until a Landscape and Ecological Management 
Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other 
than in accordance with the approved LEMP.  The content of the LEMP must be 
consistent with the approved “Biodiversity Offsetting and Open Space 
Management Plan” (FPCR Rev C 24/01/2019) and include the following.

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed;
b) detailed designs and/or working methods to achieve stated objectives for 

establishment and management phases;
c) extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps and 

plans with agreed target biodiversity impact assessment calculator scores 
and descriptions assigned to each habitat parcel;

d) type and source of materials to be used, e.g. native species of native 
provenance;

e) timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the 
proposed phasing of development;

f) preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of 
being rolled forward over a five-year period);

g) details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan; 
and

h) ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.

The LEMP must also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by 
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer 
with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery.  The plan must also 
set out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and 
objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial 
action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still 
delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved 
scheme.  

REASON:  To ensure the landscape, open spaces, habitats and species are 
safeguarded and where appropriate enhanced in accordance with Policy R11 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan; Policies SP9, SP10, SP12, SP18 and SADM16 
of the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018; and the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2010.

11.Lighting
Prior to the commencement of development, a Lighting Strategy for biodiversity 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The strategy must:

a) Identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive to the 
impact of lighting on species susceptible to light disturbance in or around 
their breeding sites, resting places or along important routes used to access 
key areas of their territory, for example, for foraging; and

b) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision 
of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it 
can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the 

Page 58



above species using their territory or having access to their breeding sites 
and resting places.

The Lighting Strategy shall apply to the construction phase and the occupation 
phase of the development.  All external lighting (temporary or permanent) must be 
installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set out in the strategy, 
and these must be maintained thereafter in accordance with the strategy.  No 
other external lighting shall be installed without prior consent from the Local 
Planning Authority.

REASON:  To ensure the habitats and species are safeguarded in accordance 
with Policy R11 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan; SP10 of the Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; Policies SP9, SP10, SP18 and SADM16 of 
the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018; and the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010.

12.Archaeology 
A) No development shall commence until an Archaeological Written Scheme of 
Investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an assessment of archaeological 
significance and research questions; and:

i) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording;
ii) the programme and methodology of site investigation and recording as 

suggested by the evaluation;
iii) the programme for post investigation assessment;
iv) provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording;
v) provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and 

records of the site investigation;
vi) provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the 

site investigation;
vii) nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the 

works set out within the Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation.

B) The development must take place/commence in accordance with the 
programme of archaeological works set out in the Written Scheme of 
Investigation approved under condition (A)

C) The development must not be occupied/used until the site investigation and 
post investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the 
programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under 
condition (A) and the provision made for analysis and publication where 
appropriate.

REASON:  To mitigate the effect of the works associated with the development 
upon any heritage assets and to ensure that information regarding these heritage 
assets is preserved by record for this and future generations in accordance with 
Policy R29 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan; Policy SADM15 and SP18 of the 
Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018.

Page 59



13.Minerals
No development within any development phase shall commence until the 
following has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and thereafter all works for each phase shall be carried out in 
accordance with the methods agreed throughout the construction period:

a) A method for ensuring that such minerals that can be viably recovered during 
the development are recovered and put to beneficial use; and

b) a method to record the quantity of recovered mineral (re-use on site or off-
site)

REASON:  To provide minerals recovery and reuse where viable in accordance 
with Policy SP18 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018.

14.Site investigation and remediation strategy
No development shall commence until a remediation strategy to deal with the 
risks associated with contamination of the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the development 
must not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved strategy.  
The strategy will include the following components: 

a) A site investigation scheme, based on the submitted environmental 
statement, to provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all 
receptors that may be affected, including those off site;

b) the results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred 
to in (1) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy 
giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to 
be undertaken; and 

c) a verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order 
to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (2) are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 

REASON:  To protect groundwater in accordance with Polices R2 and R7 of the 
Welwyn and Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018.

15.Verification Report
Prior to each phase of development being brought into use a verification report 
demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation 
strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The report must include 
results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved 
verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. 

REASON:  To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to the water 
environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification 
plan have been met and that remediation of the site is complete.  Also, to prevent 
further deterioration and facilitate recovery of groundwater quality within the 

Page 60



Upper Lee Chalk WFD groundwater body, in accordance with Polices R2 and R7 
of the Welwyn and Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018. 

16.Long Term monitoring
The development hereby permitted may not commence until a monitoring and 
maintenance plan in respect of contamination, including a timetable of monitoring 
and submission of reports to the Local Planning Authority, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Reports as specified in 
the approved plan, including details of any necessary contingency action arising 
from the monitoring, must be submitted to and approved in writing by Local 
Planning Authority. 

REASON:  This is to ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to the 
water environment by managing any ongoing contamination issues and 
completing all necessary long-term remediation measures, in accordance with 
Polices R2 and R7 of the Welwyn and Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

17.Previously unidentified contamination
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation 
strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the 
development must not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved 
remediation strategy. 

REASON:  This is to ensure that the development is not put at unacceptable risk 
from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels water pollution from 
previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site. Also, to 
prevent further deterioration and facilitate recovery of groundwater quality within 
the Upper Lee Chalk WFD groundwater body in accordance with Polices R2 and 
R7 of the Welwyn and Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018. 

18.SUDs infiltration of surface water into ground
No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground at the site is permitted 
other than with the written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, 
the development must not be carried out other than in accordance with the 
approved details.

REASON:  To ensure that the development is not put at unacceptable risk from, 
or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels water pollution from previously 
unidentified contamination sources at the development site.  Also, to prevent 
further deterioration and facilitate recovery of groundwater quality within the 
Upper Lee Chalk WFD groundwater body in accordance with Polices R2 and R7 
of the Welwyn and Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018. 
 

19.Piling / boreholes /tunnel shafts / ground source heating and cooling systems
Piling, deep foundations and other intrusive groundworks (investigation 
boreholes, tunnel shafts, ground source heating and cooling systems etc.) using 
penetrative methods must not be carried out other than with the written consent 

Page 61



of the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the development must not be carried 
out other than in accordance with the approved details. 

REASON:  To ensure that the proposed deep intrusive ground works does not 
harm groundwater resources, in accordance with Polices R2 and R7 of the 
Welwyn and Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018.

20.Decommission of investigative boreholes
A scheme for managing any borehole installed for the investigation of soils, 
groundwater or geotechnical purposes must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme must provide details of how 
redundant boreholes are to be decommissioned and how any boreholes that 
need to be retained, post-development, for monitoring purposes will be secured, 
protected and inspected.  Thereafter, the scheme as approved must be 
implemented prior to the occupation of any part of the development. 

REASON:  To ensure that redundant boreholes are safe and secure.  Also, to 
prevent further deterioration and facilitate recovery of groundwater quality within 
the Upper Lee Chalk WFD groundwater body in accordance with Polices R2 and 
R7 of the Welwyn and Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018.

21.Flood Risk Assessment Mitigation Measures
No development within phase 1 (as identified in the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment) shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for 
the site based on the approved drainage strategy and sustainable drainage 
principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The drainage scheme must demonstrate the surface water run-off 
generated up to and including 1 in 100 year plus climate change critical storm will 
not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding 
rainfall event.  The surface water drainage scheme should include: 

a) Detailed infiltration tests conducted to BRE Digest 365 Standards at the 
appropriate locations and depths, where soakaways and infiltration features 
are proposed; 

b) detailed, updated post-development calculations/modelling in relation to 
surface water for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year return 
period, this must also include a +40% allowance for climate change.  
Modelling should consider detailed infiltration test results; 

c) a detailed drainage plan including the location and provided volume of all 
SuDS features, pipe runs and discharge points into any storage features.  If 
areas are to be designated for informal flooding, these should also be shown 
on a detailed site plan; 

d) detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including cross 
section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features 
including any connecting pipe runs;

e) exceedance flow paths for surface water for events greater than the 1 in 100 
year including climate change allowance; 

Page 62



f) final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 
lifetime; 

g) final details of the proposed swale and attenuation basin to be provided within 
the development site to manage the overland flow routes crossing the 
development site.  This should include detailed engineered drawings of all 
SuDS features, detailed drainage layout, detailed modelling for the proposed 
storage volumes, Thames Water agreement/correspondence in relation to the 
overland flow routes accommodation within the existing surface water sewer, 
landowner’s agreement to cross the land for implementation of the proposed 
swale within further phasing development; and 

h) clarification of the phasing arrangements for phase 1 in line with the drainage 
scheme proposal for this phase. 

The scheme must be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in 
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme 
or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

REASON: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 
storage and disposal of surface water from the site and to ensure surface water 
can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with Policy R7 and R10 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM14 of the Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018.

22.Phase 2a – Surface Water Drainage
No development within phase 2a (as identified in the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment) shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for 
the site based on the approved drainage strategy and sustainable drainage 
principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The drainage scheme must demonstrate the surface water run-off 
generated up to and including 1 in 100 year plus climate change critical storm will 
not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding 
rainfall event.  The surface water drainage scheme should include:

a) Detailed infiltration tests conducted to BRE Digest 365 Standards at the 
appropriate locations and depths, where soakaways and infiltration features 
are proposed; 

b) detailed, updated post-development calculations/modelling in relation to 
surface water for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year return 
period, this must also include a +40% allowance for climate change. 
Modelling should consider detailed infiltration test results;

c) a detailed drainage plan including the location and provided volume of all 
SuDS features, pipe runs and discharge points into any storage features. If 
areas are to be designated for informal flooding, these should also be shown 
on a detailed site plan; 

Page 63



d) detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including cross 
section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features 
including any connecting pipe runs; 

e) exceedance flow paths for surface water for events greater than the 1 in 100 
year including climate change allowance;

f) final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 
lifetime; and 

g) clarification of the phasing arrangements for phase 2a in line with the 
drainage scheme proposal for this phase. 

The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in 
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme 
or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority.

REASON:  To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 
storage and disposal of surface water from the site and to ensure surface water 
can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with Policy R7 and R10 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM12 of the Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018.

23.Phase 2b – Surface Water Drainage
No development for phase 2b (as identified in the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment) shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for 
the site based on the approved drainage strategy and sustainable drainage 
principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The drainage scheme must demonstrate the surface water run-off 
generated up to and including 1 in 100 year plus climate change critical storm will 
not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding 
rainfall event.  The surface water drainage scheme should include:

a) Detailed infiltration tests conducted to BRE Digest 365 Standards at the 
appropriate locations and depths, where soakaways and infiltration features 
are proposed; 

b) detailed, updated post-development calculations/modelling in relation to 
surface water for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year 
return period, this must also include a +40% allowance for climate change. 
Modelling should consider detailed infiltration test results; 

c) a detailed drainage plan including the location and provided volume of all 
SuDS features, pipe runs and discharge points into any storage features. If 
areas are to be designated for informal flooding, these should also be shown 
on a detailed site plan; 

d) detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including cross 
section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features 
including any connecting pipe runs;

Page 64



e) exceedance flow paths for surface water for events greater than the 1 in 100 
year including climate change allowance; 

f) final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 
lifetime; and 

g) clarification of the phasing arrangements for phase 2b in line with the 
drainage scheme proposal for this phase. 

The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in 
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme 
or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

REASON:  To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 
storage and disposal of surface water from the site and to ensure surface water 
can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with Policy R7 and R10 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM12 of the Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018.

24.Phase 3 – Surface Water Drainage
No development for phase 3 (as identified in the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment) shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for 
the site based on the approved drainage strategy and sustainable drainage 
principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The drainage scheme must demonstrate the surface water run-off 
generated up to and including 1 in 100 year plus climate change critical storm will 
not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding 
rainfall event.  The surface water drainage scheme should include:

a) Detailed infiltration tests conducted to BRE Digest 365 Standards at the 
appropriate locations and depths, where soakaways and infiltration features 
are proposed; 

b) detailed, updated post-development calculations/modelling in relation to 
surface water for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year return 
period, this must also include a +40% allowance for climate change. 
Modelling should consider detailed infiltration test results; 

c) a detailed drainage plan including the location and provided volume of all 
SuDS features, pipe runs and discharge points into any storage features. If 
areas are to be designated for informal flooding, these should also be shown 
on a detailed site plan;

d) detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including cross 
section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features 
including any connecting pipe runs;

e) exceedance flow paths for surface water for events greater than the 1 in 100 
year including climate change allowance; 

Page 65



f) final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 
lifetime; and

g) clarification of the phasing arrangements for phase 3 in line with the drainage 
scheme proposal for this phase. 

The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in 
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme 
or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority.

REASON:  To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 
storage and disposal of surface water from the site and to ensure surface water 
can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with Policy R7 and R10 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM12 of the Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018.

25.SuDS Management and Maintenance Plan
Upon completion of the drainage works for each phase, in accordance with the 
timing / phasing arrangements, a management and maintenance plan for the 
SuDS features and drainage network must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include:

a) Provision of complete set of as built drawings including the final drainage 
layout for site drainage network;

b) maintenance and operational activities for the lifetime of the development; 
and

c) arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the operation of 
the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

REASON:  To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 
storage and disposal of surface water from the site and to ensure surface water 
can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with Policy R7 and R10 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM12 of the Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018.

26.Access 
No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 
construction and bringing in to use of the access points to the site in accordance 
with approved Plan Numbers: 30588/AC/009 Rev E; 30588/AC/012 Rev A; 
30588/AC/013; and 30588/AC/014. 

REASON:  To ensure that appropriate access is provided to the site in the 
interest of proper planning and highway safety.

27.Traffic Regulation Order 
No development shall commence until the Traffic Regulation Order for extension 
of 30mph speed limit has been secured by the Local Highway Authority.  

REASON:  In the interests of highway safety. 

Page 66



28.Halifax Way Access 
Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the method used to 
control access at Halifax Way must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, access to and egress from the 
development to the adjoining highway at Halifax Way shall be limited to buses, 
pedestrians and cyclist only.  Any other vehicle access or egress at this point 
must be permanently closed.  

REASON:  In the interests of highway safety. 

29.Panshanger Lane Access 
Prior to the commencement of development full details of the method used to 
control access and egress at Panshanger Lane must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, means of egress 
from the development site to Panshanger Lane (with the exception of egress 
associated with the Gypsy and Traveller site) shall be restricted to allow vehicular 
entry only.  

REASON:  In the interests of highway safety. 

30. Internal Layout 
No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until details of the 
proposed arrangements for future management and maintenance of the streets 
within the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The streets shall thereafter be maintained in 
accordance with the approved management and maintenance details until such 
time as an agreement has been entered into under Section 38 of the Highways 
Act (1980) or a Private Management and Maintenance Company has been 
established. 

REASON:  To ensure safe, suitable and satisfactory development of the site and 
to ensure estate roads are managed and maintained thereafter to a suitable 
standard. 

31.Rights of Way 
A. Notwithstanding the details indicated on the approved drawings, no 
development shall commence until a Rights of Way Improvement Plan for the off-
site and on-site Rights of Way improvement works has/have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

B. Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted the off-
site and on-site Rights of Way improvement plan works (including any associated 
highway works) referred to in Part A of this condition must be completed. 

REASON:  To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an 
appropriate standard in the interest of highway safety and to protect the 
environment of the local highway corridor. 

32.Travel Plan 
A. No development above ground level in any phase shall take place until an 
Interim Travel Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Page 67



B. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied prior to 
implementation of the Interim Travel Plan referred to in Part A of this condition. 
Following 75% of occupation an approved Full Travel Plan based on the Interim 
Travel Plan referred to in Part A of this condition shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Full Travel 
Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable and targets 
contained therein and shall continue to be implemented as long as any part of 
the development is occupied subject to approved modifications agreed by the 
Local Planning Authority as part of the annual review. 

REASON:  In order that the development promotes public transport, walking and 
cycling, and limits the reliance on the private car to reduce the impact of travel 
and transport on the environment in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018.

33.Accessible and adaptable Homes
No development within any development phase shall commence until a scheme 
setting out the arrangements for the delivery of accessible housing within that 
phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Thereafter each phase must be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  The scheme must include the following:

a) A schedule of units, together with appropriate plans and drawings, shall be 
submitted to and be approved by the Local Planning Authority setting out 
details of the number, layout and location of all units that will comply with Part 
M4(2) of the Building Regulations 2010;

 
b) At least 20% of all new dwellings will meet Building Regulations Part M4(2) 

standards for ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’ the delivery of which 
should be distributed across market and affordable tenures;

c) All units specified as M4(2) and in the agreed schedule and plans shall be 
implemented in accordance with that approval and in compliance with the 
corresponding part of the Building Regulations in that regard; 

d) The person carrying out the building work must inform the Building Control 
body which requirements apply; and

e) Written verification of the completion of all dwellings in accord with b) and c) 
above will be supplied to the local planning authority within 30 days of the 
practical completion [of the block it forms part of].  

REASON: To ensure that suitable housing is provided for households in need of 
accessible or wheelchair housing in accordance with Policies D1, H10 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and SP7 of the Draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission and the National Planning Policy Framework.

34.Refuse and Recycling
A full detailed refuse and recycling proposal shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority within each reserved matters 
application.  The proposal must include detailed tracking diagrams and detailed 
property information so that a calculation of requirements and costs can be 
made.  Thereafter, the development must not be operated other than in 
accordance with the approved Refuse and Recycling Plan. 

Page 68



REASON:  In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with the 
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of 
safeguarding the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general in 
accordance with Policy D1 of the Welwyn and Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy 
SADM12 of the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

35.Tree Protection 
No development shall commence until an Arboricultural Method Statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in accordance 
with the approved statement.  The Arboricultural Method Statement must include: 

a) A specification for the pruning of trees to be retained in order to prevent 
accidental damage by construction activities;

b) The specification of the location, materials and means of construction of 
temporary protective fencing and/or ground protection in the vicinity of trees 
to be retained, in accordance with the recommendations of the current edition 
of BS 5837 “Trees in relation to construction”, and details of the timing and 
duration of its erection;

c) The specification of the routing and mean of installation of drainage or any 
underground services within the Root Protection Area (RPA) and/or canopy 
spread of retained trees;

d) The details and method of construction of any other structures such as 
boundary walls within the Root Protection Area (RPA) and/or canopy spread 
of retained trees;

e) The details of any proposed alterations to existing ground levels within the 
Root Protection Area (RPA) and/or canopy spread of retained trees; and

f) Provision for the supervision, by an appropriately qualified arboricultural 
consultant, of any works within the root protection areas of trees to be 
retained.

REASON: To ensure the satisfactory protestation of retained trees, shrubs and 
hedgerows during the construction period in the interest of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policy R17, D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy 
SADM16 of the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on 
the Council's website or inspected at these offices).

Page 69



OR 

13.1 In the event that the applicant fails to agree any necessary extensions to the 
Statutory determination period, that powers are delegated to the Head of 
Planning to refuse planning permission on the basis of absence of the completed 
S106 Obligation for the following reason:

1. The applicant has failed to satisfy the sustainability aims of the plan and to 
secure the proper planning of the area by failing to ensure that the 
development proposed would provide a sustainable form of development in 
mitigating the impact on local infrastructure and services which directly relate 
to the proposal and which is necessary for the grant of planning permission.  
The applicant has failed to provide a planning obligation under Section 106 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  The Local Planning 
Authority considers that it would be inappropriate to secure the required 
financial and non-financial contributions by any method other than a legal 
agreement and the proposal is therefore contrary to Policy M2 and M4 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

Together with drawing numbers and positive and proactive statement.

Mark Peacock (Development Management)
Date: 15 February 2019 
Expiry date: 28 February 2019

Page 70



Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Executive Member: 
Councillor S Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)
 

6/2018/2943/MAJ

ROYAL VETERINARY COLLEGE HAWKSHEAD LANE NORTH MYMMS 
HATFIELD AL9 7TA

APPLICANT: ROYAL VETERINARY COLLEGE

AGENT: AECOM

(Welham Green and Hatfield South)

1 Site Description

1.1 The Royal Veterinary College (RVC) is a long established veterinary college 
where the veterinary medical & nursing students and specialists (in training) 
undertake their learning. The college is split into two main campuses in 
Camden (Central London) and North Mymms (Welwyn Hatfield). 

1.2 The Hawkshead campus accommodates clinical and research facilities as 
well as a substantial portion of the college’s administrative functions. The site 
also includes halls of residence and supporting domestic, social and (indoor 
and outdoor) sporting facilities. The approved masterplan shows that the 
college owns a substantial amount of the farmland surrounding the campus.

2 The Proposal

2.1 The Hawkshead campus comprises a complex of buildings which have been 
developed in successive stages over the years. The masterplan recognises 
the key roles attributed to each part of the site (social, learning and clinical) 
setting out coherent spatial strategy over the coming years. The central core 
of buildings comprising the main clinical block is made up of poor quality 
1950s buildings that are no longer fit for purpose and do not lend themselves 
to the effective and efficient use of the site.

2.2 The following photo collage shows the collection of buildings which make up 
main clinical block which, although operational and functional, does not 
present either an efficient layout or aesthetically pleasing appearance. The 
buildings are deteriorating and represent a poor use of the area they occupy. 
The plan below indicates the location and direction of the photo views and in 
red the extent of the clinical block being removed.

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



Page 74



2.3 It is this central block that is proposed to be demolished resulting in the 
removal of 2,415 sq.m of floorspace. Looking at the aerial photo below it will 
be much of the buildings in background within the red line which will be 
removed. The newer Eclipse (main foreground) and TaRC (right hand 
foreground) buildings will be retained – albeit TaRC is subject to modifications 

New building works. 

2.4 The removal of the clinical space and external areas would be occupied by 3 
storey structures of 6,425 sq.m. as indicated in red on the ground floor plan 
below

Page 75



2.5 Key CGI views of the proposals are represented in the Appendix 1. 

2.6 This new accommodation would provide research spaces, teaching facilities, 
staff offices, student study spaces, break out areas and landscaped courtyard. 
The planning statement indicates the space requirements respond to the 
demand for quality accommodation as part of the College realising its 
ambitions to compete internationally and retain appropriate accreditation. 

2.7 The planning statement states:

“The proposed building is to become the ‘heart’ of the Campus, with an 
enclosed two-storey atrium concourse providing internal connections 
between the TaRC and Eclipse buildings and forming a central hub of 
activity. The proposal has also sought to rationalise the entrance to the 
Royal Veterinary College to reflect the prestige of the college and 
location of the building.”

2.8 The layout is proposed to consolidate the teaching and research core of the 
Campus with additional social learning space and a new library study area. 
The existing floorplates of the Eclipse building will be converted from open 
plan social learning spaces to cellular and open plan offices accommodation 
for teaching and research staff.

2.9 The design concept is explained in the Design and Access Statement as 
follows:

“At the earliest stage NORR [the architects] established the key 
strategy to create an internal street linking social space to research 
space via a central social hub at the heart of the campus. (P34 DAS)”

Page 76



2.10 The proposed building layout and shape is described as follows:

“Limited by the height of the existing buildings and by a need to tie into 
existing floor plates the proposed massing is three storeys and links 
the Eclipse and TaRC buildings. In linking with the existing buildings 
the plan arrangement forms a horse shoe around a central street and 2 
storey high atrium. (P40, DAS) ”

2.11 An internal courtyard is being created with this development to re-provide the 
existing car parking and cycle parking spaces. This internal courtyard has 
been designed as a flexible space that can be cleared out to act as student/ 
staff amenity space or events space.

2.12 A landscaping strategy has also been submitted which sets out the 
arrangements with this courtyard and surrounding spaces.

3 Reason for Committee Consideration

3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because it has been advertised as a departure from the provisions of the 
development plan. The site represents a major development within the green 
belt where inappropriate development should not be approved except in very 
special circumstances. There are specific policies that apply to this site as a 
major developed site within the green belt and the site has recently been the 
subject of an approved masterplan. A recommendation of approval would 
moreover trigger a referral to the Secretary of State under the Town and 
Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009. 

4 Relevant Planning History

Pre-application Advice

4.1 The applicant held a series of meetings with the planning department 
throughout 2018 following the approval of the Masterplan in June. This was 
with a view to devising a detailed scheme for Site A. Details of the Design 
Review Panel are discussed below. The Design and Access statement sets 
out various iterations of the scheme including its final set of changes in 
responding to the design review panel. 

4.2 Design Review Panel

4.3 Herts Design Review Panel considered this scheme at the college on 10th 
September 2018. The panel supports the development of a new social hub for 
the campus and its scale and disposition as well as the guide provided by an 
approved masterplan. The panel is supportive of the Eclipse and TaRC 
buildings. At the time of meeting the panel felt that further work is needed to 
bring about the next stage of design to link internal space planning with a 
coherent external architectural expression. Key points are set out below: 

Page 77



 Clarify and define the identity and character of the new hub building 
and how its architecture will contribute to the development of a 
cohesive architectural identity for the campus.

 In particular, reconsider the proposed ‘wrapped’ building façade and 
the chosen elevational treatment, which at present appears to be over-
complicated and unconvincing.

 Develop a Strategic Landscape Plan for the whole campus to ensure 
buildings sit within a wider landscape context, addressing how 
landscape treatments (including material palettes) can help create a 
sense of place, ensuring also the overall cohesion of key design 
principles, and providing a potential framework for the delivery of a 
phased programme of identified priorities.

 Give greater thought to the arrival sequence into the campus and 
enhance the visibility of the hub entrance, relating this carefully to the 
developing Landscape Plan, to ensure the coherence of the spatial and 
network hierarchies and linkages.

 Challenge the need for the new parking courtyard and, as part of the 
strategic Landscape Plan; explore whether this can be developed into a 
more attractive space.

 Review and assess current and projected requirements for car parking 
provision at RVC as part of the overall landscape strategy, to enable 
the potential proposal to omit car parking from the new courtyard. 

 Develop a Management and Maintenance Plan for the whole site, 
which could include sustainability and ecological principles for 
enhanced biodiversity, grassland management/ meadow creation 
(animal grazing), wildlife habitat creation, food production (orchards, 
bee hives, allotments, etc), and SuDs/ water retention and recycling 
strategies (including the swale system). 

4.4 These points have been responded to in the applicant’s Design and Access 
Statement as well as other supporting documents and are considered in the 
analysis below. . 

Relevant Previous Decisions

4.5 The site has largely been developed since the 1950s when it was a field 
station to then provide a rural campus facility for the College. Relevant and 
recent developments have been set out in the table below. 

Page 78



Application 
Reference 
Number 

Description of 
Development 

Location Decision 

S6/2000/0039/FP Erection of new 
college building 
incorporating 
learning resource 
centre, reception 
and administrative 
offices, new 
vehicle access 
and car parking

Eclipse Building - 
located West of 
Application Site. 

Approved 2001 

S6/2007/0426/FP Extension to 
existing clinical 
building, to 
provide research 
laboratories and 
associated office 
space

CREED Building: 
Research 
Laboratories and 
Offices (located 
North of 
Application Site) 

Approved 2007 

S6/2009/1890/MA Erection of 
teaching and 
research centre 
comprising main 
Reception and 
research 
laboratories 
following 
demolition of 
Existing equine 
centre

TaRC building – 
located to the 
south of the 
Application Site. 

Approved 2009 

6/2018/0729/CN Hawkshead 
Campus 
Masterplan

Site wide 
masterplan

Approved 2018

5 Planning Policy

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2018 Paragraphs 143-147 in 
particular deal with green belt matters. 

5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005

Relevant policies are listed below:

GBSP1 Definition of Green Belt
SD1 Sustainable development
R3, R4 Energy

Page 79



R7 Ground and surface water
R11 Biodiversity and development
M1 Integrating transport and land use
M3 Green Transport plans
D1-D8 Design and landscaping
M14 Parking standards – new development
RA5 Major developed sites in the green belt (limited 

infilling)
RA6 Major developed sites in the green belt 

(redevelopment)
RA7 Royal Veterinary College

5.3 Welwyn Hatfield Draft Local Plan 2016

SP1 Delivering sustainable development
SP9 Place making and high quality design
SADM34 Development in the green belt

6 Site Designation 

The site lies within the following designations in the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005:

GB - Greenbelt 

LCA - Landscape Character Area (Mimmshall Valley)

MDS - Major Developed Site in the Green Belt (RA5,RA6,RA7)

PAR - PARISH (NORTH MYMMS) 

Wards - Welham Green & South Hatfield 

WCCF - Watling Chase Community Forest 

Flood Zone Surface Water 

HEN - No known habitats present (high priority for habitat creation) 

SAGB - Sand and Gravel Belt 

7 Representations Received 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of site notice, press notice and 
neighbour notification letters.  No representations have been received from 
local people. 

8 Consultations Received 

8.1 WHBC Parking Services: Hertfordshire County Council Transport 
Programmes and Strategy (HCCTPS)  Hertfordshire County Council as 

Page 80



Highway Authority has no objection subject requirements in relation to the 
implementation of the travel plan and to the details of parking. 

8.2 Hertfordshire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority object on the 
grounds that more detail is required and measures to promote more 
sustainable solutions are preferred. Further discussions on this matter will 
have taken place by the time of the Development Management Committee 
meeting on 28 February 2019.

8.3 Hertfordshire Constabulary Colleagues from the protective services world 
and myself have arranged a meeting with the architectural team regarding this 
proposed development and on this basis I am happy that security will be 
considered in detail and commensurate measures incorporated into the 
designs. I therefore am able, at this stage to fully support this application from 
a crime prevention perspective.

8.4 Thames Water (TW) With regard to surface water drainage, Thames Water 
would advise that if the developer follows the sequential approach to the 
disposal of surface water we would have no objection. Where the developer 
proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water 
Developer Services will be required. The applicant has dealt with this via the 
material that has been submitted to the LLFA and an appropriate informative 
is recommended regarding surface water discharge. 

8.5 Environment Agency (EA) The site is located in source protection zone 
(SPZ) 1, therefore this proposal needs to be dealt with in a way which protects 
the underlying groundwater. Updated comments from the applicant have 
resulted in a recommendation for a pre-commencement contaminated land 
condition which has also been agreed in writing with the applicant. 

8.6 Cadent Gas recommend that informatives be imposed in relation to works 
affected gas apparatus. 

8.7 Hertfordshire Ecology  have considered the updated Preliminary Ecology 
Assessment and have no objections subject to conditions relating to bat 
surveys and landscape/ecological management.

9 Town / Parish Council Representations

9.1 North Mymms Parish Council comment that 

“….this is a missed opportunity to build something more in keeping with 
the surrounding land and buildings as the elevations of the proposed 
building will be visible to Hawkshead Lane with only minimal screening 
proposed to the area in front. The use of bronze metal and concrete give 
a very commercial/industrial appearance and is not considered 
appropriate for a rural location. The use of concrete is not 
environmentally friendly from the point of view of sustainability or 
sympathetic material for a rural location. In the future this will be very 
difficult to clean. Whilst some of the design is reflective of existing 

Page 81



buildings this would have been a good opportunity to enhance the 
campus with a building that reflects it context in the countryside.”

10 Analysis

10.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are:

1. The impact of the development on the green belt having regard to 
national and local policies (RA5, RA6 and RA7). Related to this is how 
the proposed development respects and relates to the character and 
context of the area (D2)

2. Features high quality design which incorporates the design principles of 
the plan and Supplementary Design Guidance (GBSP1, GBSP2, D1)

3. Transport and access issues considering parking facilities and access 
and movement in and around the site 

4. Other environmental matters 

1. Green belt Issues. 

10.2 The framework for assessing green belt is as set out in the relevant national 
and local policies and the approved masterplan. Whilst the development has 
been advertised as a departure from the provisions of the development plan 
its acceptability is dependent on a weighing up of all these considerations. 

10.3 The National Planning Policy Framework has a section entitled ‘Proposals 
affecting the green belt’. Its opening paragraphs state:

“143. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green 
Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 

144. When considering any planning application, local planning 
authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm 
to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the 
potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and 
any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations.”

10.4 The following policies deal with major developed sites within the green belt. 

 Policy RA5 permits limited infilling subject to no greater impact on the 
green belt, not exceeding the height of existing buildings, not leading to a 
major increase in the developed portion of the site, being consistent with a 
masterplanning brief and avoiding negative highway impacts.

 Policy RA6 permits complete or partial demolition subject to no greater 
green belt impact (and if possible less), proposals should not occupy a 
greater footprint than the existing buildings or be of greater height and be 
brought forward in the context of a masterplan 

Page 82



 Policy RA7 relates specifically to the Royal Veterinary College indicating 
that development must fulfil the criteria in Policies RA5 and RA6, within the 
context of the masterplan and the Major Developed Site boundary. 

The following should be noted:

9.16 The Royal Veterinary College, which has one of its main 
Campuses in the south of the Borough, is the UK’s largest, oldest and 
only independent veterinary school and a leading provider in veterinary 
education. The present Campus, which accommodates a number of 
students on-site within a group of purpose built buildings, is vital to the 
College’s rural operations and is currently identified as a Major 
Developed Site in the Green Belt where all but minor development 
should come forward in the context of a development brief.

10.4 Policy SADM 34 designates 4 Major Developed Sites which includes the 
Royal Veterinary College within the boundaries of which limited infill 
development or replacement buildings could occur. Other than minor 
development this should come forward in the context of a Masterplan which 
has been agreed by the Council.

10.5 The Masterplan was considered and approved by the Development 
Management Committee in June 2018. Its role is set out as follows:

“The Masterplan establishes a framework within which the Royal 
Veterinary College (RVC) will bring forward detailed development 
proposals over the next 10 years, and its physical estate evolves to 
underpin the objectives articulated in the Strategic Plan 2014 – 2019. 
The masterplan addresses the essential need for planned growth and 
development in order for the College to remain sustainable in a shifting 
and increasingly competitive Higher Education (HE) landscape.”

10.6 Chapter 2 of the masterplan identifies 5 key development opportunities on the 
site. In relation to the present scheme Site A sets out the proposal to demolish 
the main clinical block and its replacement with research space and 
consolidated and improved lecture space. Chapter 6 refers to a survey of 
building condition indicating the main clinical block to be poor and it was 
identified for demolition. In Chapter 7 details of site A are set out indicating the 
location and coverage of the proposed new/replacement space. Principles 
include: build height no greater than adjoining Eclipse building, new enclosed 
atrium to form the heart of the campus (hub), rationalised and landscaped 
parking court. Anticipated GIA would be 6,500 to 7,000 sq.m with the aim of 
completion 2021. 

10.7 The proposed development falls entirely within the Major Developed Site 
boundary and given the national significance of the institution it is considered 
that the principle of the development of the college in the manner proposed is 
broadly appropriate. Of course there are specific issues that need to be 
considered 

Page 83



10.8 The structures would be lower than the ridge height of the Eclipse building; its 
overall footprint and spread would not be significantly greater than the existing 
structures being removed and it would have a much more coherent form. The 
concentration of built floorspace at the southern end of the site on 3 floors and 
the modest scale of the extension to the CEEED building helps to minimise its 
overall visual impact. A table of building data has been set out at Appendix 2. 

10.9 Although the buildings would have a greater floorspace than the structures it 
would replace its physical presence would be mitigated because of its 
containment within the built up central core. Moreover, the proposals would 
maintain and add to structural landscaping and keep existing views into and 
across the site. The resulting appearance would in fact represent an 
improvement visually and functionally. As proposed this scheme would be 
within the scope of the Masterplan principles and the anticipated floorspace. 

10.10 Regarding the long distance views the Design and Access Statement 
indicates key views from public vantage points around the site. At distance the 
buildings sit well within the landscape and do not protrude unduly on the 
skyline. The existence of existing trees and natural vegetation as well as 
additional structural planting will help keep the proposed buildings appropriate 
for this Major Developed Site without having negative impacts on its open 
green belt setting.

10.11 Bearing all these factors in mind the proposals including the national 
significance of the college and its need to remain competitive internationally 
they are considered to be consistent with the Council’s approach to green belt 
matters on this Major Developed Site. 

Design

10.12 The views of North Mymms Parish Council together with the applicants 
response are considered below:

10.12.1 Comment: The proposed elevations will be visible on Hawkshead 
Lane with only minimal screening proposed. 

10.12.2 Applicant’s Design Team response: A number of key views were 
incorporated into the Design and Access Statement, which show 
the impact of the proposed building on the surrounding area. This, 
together with the density of planting along the edge of the existing 
car parking will provide screening of the new building from 
Hawkshead Lane. The proposed alterations to the building on the 
western side seek to improve legibility on campus and provide a 
clearer main entrance. 

10.12.3 Comment: The use of bronze metal and concrete give the building 
a commercial/ industrial appearance

10.12.4 Applicant’s Design Team response: Through early dialogue / 
consultation on the proposed materials for the building, both the 
client and Local Planning Authority confirmed that further use of 

Page 84



timber cladding was not considered to be appropriate on the 
campus, and we were guided towards the use of something more 
permanent. As TaRC was being physically extended along the 
edge of Hawkshead Lane it seemed appropriate to match 
materials already used on the existing building. The palette is 
toned to all adjoining buildings with a small amount of natural 
timber being used to the plant screen and to recessed entrance 
areas. The precast panels offer an aesthetic which is appropriate 
to its use as an educational establishment and will set it apart 
enough from other buildings to emphasise its importance in the 
hierarchy of the college campus master plan.

10.12.5 Comment: The use of concrete is not environmentally friendly and 
will be difficult to clean in future

10.12.6 Applicant’s Design Team response: Concrete has thermal 
properties reducing day to day energy use of the building. Off-site 
fabrication reduces timescales which in turn is more sustainable. 
The material is very long lasting and can be broken down into 
aggregate and reused when the building is finally demolished. 

10.12.7 The quantity of the material on each elevation changes to reflect 
its’ exposure. The existing TaRC building is clad in the same 
concrete panel as proposed and is ageing well due to appropriate 
detailing, which is intended to be replicated. A maintenance 
programme will be supported by RVC going forward.

10.13 The design of the new buildings is considered to be appropriate in terms of 
scale, form, materials and overall appearance. It would enable a significant 
amount of space to be provided in a way that relates well to existing buildings 
and structures and the removal of outdated and unattractive buildings which 
make up the existing main clinical block. The materials have been carefully 
considered to be durable, in keeping but also represent the collegiate style 
required for an institution of this nature. 

Transport Matters

10.14 Transport and highway matters are largely the responsibility of Herts County 
Council and the following matters reflect the views set out in their consultation 
response.

10.15 The Transport Statement responds to the concerns of the highway authority 
and provides an assessment of the development proposals. Development 
proposals are parking neutral (resulting in no loss or increase in on-site 
parking provision). The highway authority are acceptant of the described 
context of the works, and are satisfied that the net nil change in parking on the 
site, confirms this expectation that numbers of staff / visitors and students on 
the site shall not change. Development proposals do not alter any existing 
access to the site from Hawkshead Road, nor does it create any new access. 
Access to the site is provided via the main vehicle access broadly central to 

Page 85



the site, with egress from the site by way of the access points east and west 
of this point. 

10.16 A review of accidents (5 year, latest to date) identifies no record of accidents 
or incidents associated with the operation of the access or points of egress. 
The site provides circa 740 parking spaces for use by staff, students and 
visitors to the site. 

10.17 Development proposals would see the replacement of 47 standard parking 
spaces and 2 blue badge (disabled) spaces, as well as cycle facilities 
providing accommodation for up to 52 bicycles. The County Council recognise 
that the existing parking provision is almost fully utilised therefore whilst 
satisfied with the re-provision of spaces lost, would not support provision of 
any more parking as this shall undermine the effectiveness of the Travel Plan. 

10.18 The revised parking arrangement adjacent to the new building / Eclipse 
building appear to be suitably laid out with adequate space for manoeuvring. 
Revised cycle parking arrangements are shown – further details of the 
shelters are needed – with spaces subject to a degree of natural surveillance. 

10.19 The highway authority note the Transport Statement that identifies that this 
application forms part of a wider masterplan for the campus, which includes 
an aspiration to minimise the level of car parking in the centre of the campus. 
The RVC has a Travel Plan provided as part of a previous application for the 
Student Car Park (S6/2010/0559/FP condition 8 (discharged under 
S6/2011/1000/DS). The present planning application submits an updated 
Travel Plan (RVC Travel Plan 2018 update November 2018) monitoring 
undertaken in 2018. 

10.20 The County Council has previously accepted that the Travel Plan includes a 
detailed site audit and baseline data, including 2016 modal splits, car parking 
occupancy counts and shuttlebus patronage data. It recognises updates in the 
action plan such as the reduction of single occupancy car mode share by 
approximately 4% since 2013/14 and that most actions continue on an 
‘ongoing basis’. 2016 – 2018 suggests that single occupancy car use has not 
changed, but there is evidence that cars brought to the site by persons 
sharing a car have reduced, with associated increases in use of the 
shuttlebus service. 

10.21 Further discussions with the highway authority recommend that a planning 
condition securing the implementation, review and verification of the travel 
plan is built into the scheme via planning condition. An approach and 
methodology has been discussed and agreed with the applicant’s highways 
consultant. Noting the location of the site, and that the development itself is 
well within the curtilage of the site, the highway authority do not consider that 
construction impacts shall be sufficiently of concern that a Construction 
Management Plan be a required condition. 

Page 86



10.22 Other Environmental Matters

10.23 Surface and Ground Water: This matter is primarily the responsibility of the 
Environment Agency in respect of pollution and the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (Herts County Council) for flooding. Advice has also been received 
from Thames Water and from the Council’s Environmental Health Team. 

10.24 On the matter of ground and surface water the Environment Agency and 
WHBC Environmental Health are of the view that a contaminated land 
condition is required to ensure that pollution does not adversely affect people 
or the environment. As outlined earlier in the report, at the time of writing, 
there remains an outstanding objection from the Lead Local Flood Authority to 
the proposed scheme of dealing with surface water drainage. This objection 
relates to the method rather than the capacity to deal with service water and it 
is anticipated that a positive update on this issue will be presented to the 
Development Management Committee meeting on 28 February 2019.

10.25 Noise:  WHBC Environmental Health have set out the following points in 
relation to noise. 

10.25.1 Noise from activities within the proposed buildings: There have been 
no noise complaints about activities on the site, and, taking into 
account the position of this development being quite central to the 
college grounds makes it unlikely that noise will be an issue in future.  

10.25.2 Noise from plant and equipment:  An acoustic report provided by the 
applicant has established a baseline background noise level.  There 
are no significant concerns at this present time due to the distances 
involved to the nearest noise sensitive receptors outside of the Royal 
Veterinary College grounds (over 180m away).  It is still, however, 
recommended that a condition requiring noise levels from plant and 
equipment to be 10dB below the background noise level (if tonal) at 
the nearest sensitive receptor is placed on the application as the 
overall amount and type of plant is not currently known. 

10.26 Ecology: Hertfordshire Ecology advise that the proposals primarily affect a 
moderate-size area of existing buildings within the RVC complex. Other than 
scattered trees or clumps of trees and open amenity grassland, the complex 
as a whole has limited ecological interest and the application site directly 
affected is equally limited, other than some potential bat roosts in the main 
building, and in trees which will be unaffected by the proposals. 

10.27 The potential bat roosts are recommended for a further presence/absence 
survey, which is supported; whilst the nature of the buildings may appear less 
conducive for bats, roosts have certainly been known in such situations. 
Mitigation is proposed and detailed in an updated Preliminary Ecology 
Assessment. The recommendations in this report would be secured by 
planning condition. Other conditions sought will be external lighting and 
landscape/ecology management 

Page 87



10.28 Environmental Impact Assessment: An Environmental Impact Assessment 
screening exercise was carried out prior to the application coming in. It was 
determined (Sept 2018) that the development does not require an 
Environmental Statement having regard to the provisions in the Environmental 
Impact Assessment Regulations 2017. 

Conditions 

10.29 Conditions are referred to as relevant in the report and set out in the 
recommendation. 

11 Conclusion

11.1 The proposals are considered acceptable weighing up all of the factors 
relevant to green belt matters and specifically bearing in mind that this is a 
major developed site in the green belt for an important national institution that 
has set out its growth strategy in an approved masterplan. The design of the 
building has been through evolution via pre application consultation with the 
planning department, local people and a Design Review Panel in advance of 
the application and notwithstanding a concern raised by North Mymms Parish 
Council is considered to be of an appropriate appearance for the nature of the 
establishment, the character of existing buildings and green belt setting. 
There are a number of environmental and ecological factors that remain to be 
managed and these will be the subject of planning conditions to ensure that 
these interests are adequately safeguarded. 

12 Recommendation

12.1 It is recommended that the committee resolves to grant planning permission 
subject to the following conditions and: 

 The satisfactory resolution of the outstanding objection from the Lead 
Local Flood Authority, and any additional conditions recommended 
and;

 consultation with the Secretary of State under the Town and Country 
Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 in respect of the 
proposal representing a departure from the provisions of the 
development plan with regard to its green belt location

1 Travel Plan

The travel plan approved as part of this application shall be implemented in 
accordance with the details contained therein. A more detailed action plan with 
a timetable for implementation shall be submitted to and be approved by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the buildings hereby 
approved. The action plan shall be implemented in accordance with that 
timetable and a verification report supplied to the Council within 3 years of the 
date of this permission or timescale agreed within the detailed action plan. 

Page 88



Reason: In the interests of highway safety and ensuring that sustainable travel 
methods are adopted by the Royal Veterinary College. 

2. Parking 

Prior to the commencement of use of the buildings hereby permitted the 
proposed on-site car and cycle parking (including any cycle shelters) shall be 
laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with details 
that have been previously approved by the local planning authority. The parking 
shall be retained thereafter and used as set out in the landscape strategy 
supporting this application. 

Reason: To ensure the permanent availability of the parking /manoeuvring 
area, in the interests of highway safety. 

3. Contamination

No development other than that required to be carried out as part of an 
approved scheme of remediation shall commence until conditions A to D have 
been complied with.  If unexpected contamination is found after development 
has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing until condition D has been complied with in relation to that 
contamination. 

(a)   Site Characterisation

An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided 
with the planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme 
to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or 
not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be 
produced.  The contents of the scheme and the written report are subject to the 
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The report of the findings 
must include: 

(i)   a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination 

(ii)   an assessment of the potential risks to:  

•   human health 

•   property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes 

•   adjoining land
 
•   groundwaters and surface waters
 
•   ecological systems
 
•   archaeological sites and ancient monuments 

Page 89



 
(iii)   an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
 
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 
11’. 
 
(b)   Submission of Remediation Scheme 
 
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 
intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and 
other property and the natural and historical environment must be prepared, 
and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management 
procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in 
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.
 
(c)    Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme 
 
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to 
carry out remediation. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks 
written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. 
 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
(d)   Reporting of Unexpected Contamination 
 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 1, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must 
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 2, which is 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition C. 
 
(e)   Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance 
 
Where indicated in the approved remediation scheme, a monitoring and 
maintenance scheme to include, monitoring the long-term effectiveness of the 
proposed remediation over the agreed period, and the provision of reports on 
the same must be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval in writing 

Page 90



of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of the measures identified 
in that scheme and when the remediation objectives have been achieved, 
reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance 
carried out must be produced, and submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 
11’. 
 
REASON:   To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and others offsite in accordance with Policies R2 and R7 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

4 Materials

No development above ground level in any phase of the development shall take 
place until samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces of the building hereby granted have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be 
implemented using the approved materials and subsequently, the approved 
materials shall not be changed.

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests 
of visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

5 Landscaping

No development above ground level in any phase of the development shall take 
place until full details on a suitably scaled plan of both hard and soft landscape 
works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance 
with the approved details.

The landscaping details to be submitted shall include:

(a)  original levels and proposed finished levels [earthworks to be carried out]

(b)  means of enclosure and boundary treatments

(c)  car parking layout and markings

(d)  vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas

(e)  hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials

(f)  existing trees, hedges or other soft features to be retained and a method 
statement showing tree protection measures to be implemented for the duration 
of the construction

Page 91



(g)  planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting centres, 
number and percentage mix, and details of seeding or turfing

(h)  details of planting or features to be provided to enhance the value of the 
development for biodiversity and wildlife

(i)  details of siting and timing of all construction activities to avoid harm to all 
nature conservation features

(j)  location of service runs

(k)  management and maintenance details

(l)  (others as may be necessary to be detailed by officer)

REASON:   The landscaping of this site is required in order to protect and 
enhance the existing visual character of the area and to reduce the visual and 
environmental impacts of the development hereby permitted in accordance 
with Policies GBSP2, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

6 Noise from plant and equipment
Noise resulting from the use of the plant, machinery or equipment shall not 
exceed a level of 5dBA below the existing background level (or 10dBA below if 
there is a tonal quality) when measured according to BS4142:2014, at a point 
one metre external to the nearest noise sensitive building.
REASON:   To protect the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers in 
accordance with Policy R19 & D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

7 Lighting
No external lighting shall be installed without the prior agreement in writing of 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be carried out other 
than in accordance with the approved details.
REASON:   In the interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance 
with Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and to mitigate 
impacts on local ecology.

8 Ecology
1) That the recommendations in the Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA) 
must be implemented in their entirety. A verification report must be submitted 
to and be approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first 
occupation or use of the buildings here by approved. 
2) Prior to commencement of demolition, the recommended presence / 
absence (emergence) bat surveys of the Buildings 1 and 5 should be 
undertaken during May – August following best practice guidance outlined by 
the Bat Conservation Trust. The results of the surveys and any additional / 
amendments to the existing recommendations in the PEA for compensation or 
enhancement for bats will be provided and implemented as necessary, to the 
satisfaction of the Local Authority
REASON: To ensure the protection of wildlife habitats and the safe relocation 
of species affected by the development. 

Page 92



9 Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP)
A Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) comprising a written 
document, with details and drawings as appropriate, setting out measures for 
the management and maintenance of landscape and ecology must be 
submitted to and be approved by the local planning authority prior to works 
above ground level commencing. The plan will be implemented accordance 
with these details prior to the first occupation or use of the buildings hereby 
approved or in accordance with a timetable approved as part of the LEMP. 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure the protection and 
provision of wildlife habitats and local ecology.

10. Drawing Numbers

The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved details:

Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

TM368L01 Landscape Architecture 
Plan

15 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
ZZ-DR-A-
90-0001

P02 Site - Location Plan 15 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
00-DR-A-
00-0001

P01 Ground Floor Plan - 
Existing

23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
00-DR-A-
00-0002

P02 Ground Floor Plan - 
Proposed

23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
01-DR-A-
00-0001

P01 First Floor Plan - Existing 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
01-DR-A-
00-0002

P02 First Floor Plan - Proposed 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
02-DR-A-
00-0001

P01 Second Floor Plan - 
Existing

23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
02-DR-A-
00-0002

P02 Second Floor Plan - 
Proposed

23 November 2018

Page 93



RVCH-
NOR-01-
03-DR-A-
00-0001

P01 Roof Plan - Existing 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
03-DR-A-
00-0002

P01 Roof Plan - Proposed - 
Block Plan

23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
ZZ-DR-A-
00-0001

P01 Demolition Plan 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
ZZ-DR-A-
00-1001

P01 Elevations - Existing 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
ZZ-DR-A-
00-1002

P01 Elevations - Proposed 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
ZZ-DR-A-
00-2001

P01 GA Sections - Sheet 1 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
ZZ-DR-A-
00-2002

P01 GA Sections - Sheet 2 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
ZZ-DR-A-
90-0001

P02 Site - Location Plan 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-01-
ZZ-DR-A-
90-0002

P01 Site Survey - Existing 23 November 2018

RVCH-
NOR-02-
01-DR-A-
00-0005

P02 CEED Building Extention & 
Alterations - redacted

9 January 2019

RVCH-
NOR-01-
ZZ-DR-A-
00-1004

P01 Elevations - Existing / 
Downtakings / Proposed

14 January 2019

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.

Summary of reasons for grant of permission

Page 94



The decision has also been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraphs 186-187 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a 
decision contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be 
inspected at these offices).

Informatives

1. Thames Water Informative

“A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be 
required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any 
discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in 
prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We 
would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer.

a. Thames Water would recommend that petrol / oil interceptors be 
fitted in all car parking/washing/repair facilities. Failure to 
enforce the effective use of petrol / oil interceptors could result in 
oil-polluted discharges entering local watercourses. 'We would 
expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public 
sewer. Groundwater discharges typically result from 
construction site dewatering, deep excavations, basement 
infiltration, borehole installation, testing and site remediation. 
Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may 
result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry 
Act 1991. Should the Local Planning Authority be minded to 
approve the planning application, Thames Water would like the 
following informative attached to the planning permission: “A 
Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will 
be required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any 
discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may 
result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry 
Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what 
measures he will undertake to minimise groundwater discharges 
into the public sewer. Thames Water would advise that with 
regard to waste water network and waste water process 
infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the 
above planning application, based on the information provided.

2. WHBC Environmental Health

Noise control 

1. All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site 
boundary, or at such other place as may be agreed with the 
Council, shall be carried out only between the hours of : 

8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays 

Page 95



8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays 
and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays 
2. The best practicable means, as defined in section 72 of the 
Control of Pollution Act 1974, to reduce noise to a minimum shall 
be employed at all times 

3. All plant and machinery in use shall be properly silenced and 
maintained in accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions 

4. All compressors shall be sound reduced models, fitted with 
properly lined and sealed acoustic covers, which shall be kept 
closed whenever the machines are in use. All ancillary pneumatic 
percussive tools shall be fitted with mufflers or silencers of the type 
recommended by the manufactures. 

5. All machines in intermittent use shall be shut down during 
intervening periods between work, or throttled down to a minimum. 
Noise emitting equipment, which is required to operate 
continuously, shall be housed in suitable acoustic enclosures. 

6. Items of plant and equipment shall be maintained in good 
condition so that extraneous noise from mechanical vibration, 
squeaking or creaking is reduced to a minimum. 

7. All pile driving shall be carried out by a recognised noise 
reducing system. 

8. Where practical, rotary drills and bursters, actuated by hydraulic 
or electric power shall be used for excavating hard material 

9. In general, equipment for breaking concrete and the like, shall be 
hydraulically actuated. 

10. ‘BS 5228 Noise Control on Construction Sites’ should be 
referred to for guidance in respect of all work carried out by the 
developer, their main contractor and any sub contractors. 

11. Any emergency deviation from these conditions shall be 
notified to the Council without delay 

12. Any planned deviations from these conditions for special 
technical reasons, shall be negotiated with Council at least 14 days 
prior to the commencement of the specific work. 

13. Permissible noise levels are not specified at this stage. 

Dust control

1. All efforts shall be made to reduce dust generation to a minimum 
. 
2. Stock piles of materials for use on the site or disposal, that are 
likely to generate dust, shall be sited so as to minimise any 

Page 96



nuisance to residents or neighbouring businesses. Materials for 
disposal shall be moved off site as quickly as possible. 

3. Water sprays shall be used, as and when necessary, to reduce 
dust from particularly "dusty" activities or stock piles. 

Gerry Ansell Development Management
Date 11th Feb 2019

Page 97



Appendix 1: CGI visual representations of the proposed buildings

1 and 2: Views from south western corner showing a principal elevations and access 
point. 

1. 

2.

Page 98



3 View from South-East

4 View from East

Page 99



Appendix 2 Building Data

Quantum of Development

PROPOSED DEMOLITION Area(m2) Total(m2)
Ground Floor
Clinical Block 1865
Print Room 100

1965
First Floor
Clinical Block 450

450
2415

PROPOSED NEW BUILD Area(m2) Total(m2)
Ground Floor 2610
First Floor 1870
Second Floor 1880

6360

EXISTING BUILDINGS Area(m2) Total(m2)
Ground Floor
TarC 795
Eclipse 1425
Link Building 1550
Clinical Block 1870

5640
First Floor
TarC 700
Eclipse 1200
Link Building 940
Clinical Block 450

3290
Second Floor
TarC 235
Eclipse 1525

1760
10690

Page 100



Net Development Area

Area(m2) Total(m2)

AS EXISTING 5640
EXTENT OF DEMOLITION -1965
PROPOSED NEW BUILD 2610

NET BUILDING FOOTPRINT 6285

Area(m2) Total(m2)

AS EXISTING 10690
EXTENT OF DE/VOLITION -2415
PROPOSED NEW BUILD 6350

NET BUILDING AREA 14625

Page 101



Page 102



             Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 FEBRUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

6/2018/2497/FULL

1-5 PARK STREET HATFIELD AL9 5AT

CHANGE OF USE OF THE EXISTING GRADE 2 LISTED BUILDING FROM OFFICE 
(B1) TO 4 X RESIDENTIAL FLATS (C3) WITH ASSOCIATED INTERNAL AND 
EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS

APPLICANT: Mr. E Flynn

(Hatfield East)

1 Site Description

1.1 The application site is located to the south east of Salisbury Square and fronts 
onto Park Street at its junction with Broadway and Fore Street.  The site lies 
within the Old Hatfield Conservation Area and also within an Area of 
Archaeological significance as outlined in the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.  
The application building is Grade II Listed and the list description of the building 
is as follows:

“Houses and shop. C17 timber frame. Long range with cross wing on S. 
Roughcast. Plain and machine tile roof. 2 storeys. 2 and 5 windows, left 
hand end slightly projecting with hipped roof. Ground floor shop with 2 
wooden Tuscan columns at door on angle. Right hand part has 2 blank 1st 
floor windows and raised wall surface below roughcast. Half-glazed door 
on left with early C19 cut bracketed hood. Tall mid C17 red brick chimney 
stack towards right with 6 square joined shafts. Late C19 flush sash 
windows to whole range. Moulded wood cornice.”

1.2 The building maintains an element with a shop appearance, however, the 
existing lawful use of the building is as (B1) offices. There are two single doors 
on the east elevation separate to the double shop entrance doors on the south 
east corner of the building, one near the south and one on the north flank. 

1.3 The building has no external space, apart from a small courtyard area to the 
south west corner which is enclosed on all sides by walls. 

1.4 Internally, the building was up until recently laid out as offices. At ground floor 
level, there is a large open plan office to the north side, alongside a kitchen and 
toilets. To the south, there are three separate office spaces, alongside the 
enclosed external courtyard. At first floor level, the space is divided into eight 
different rooms. There are two first floor doors onto fire escape staircases on the 
west side of the building.

Page 103

Agenda Item 8



2 The Proposal

2.1 The proposed development is for the change of use of the building from offices to 
four residential dwellings. There would be two 1-bedroom flats on the ground 
floor and two 2-bedroom flats on the first floor. The external changes include the 
modification of a window to form a door to access units 3 and 4. Together with 
replacement windows and doors.

2.2 The works are largely internal involving the subdivision of existing rooms 
including new partition walls and closing off internal doors, as well as the creation 
of one new internal door opening at first floor level (Unit 3). At ground floor, the 
space would be divided into seven rooms including an entrance hallway for 
separate access to units 3 and 4. The works would also result in seven rooms at 
first floor level. The works would create and reinstate new internal entrances to 
the basement to be used as storage for the occupants of the new dwellings.

2.3 This application follows a previously refused application for the ‘Change of use of 
the existing grade 2 listed building from B1 office to 4 no. residential flats (C3) 
with associated internal and external alterations (planning reference: 
6/2017/1368/FULL). The application was refused for the following reason:

The proposal, by virtue of the scale of intervention- including the creation of new 
openings, the removal of internal partitions, the method of floor/ceiling insulation, 
the insertion of new partitions and the extent of subdivision would harm the 
special architectural and historic interest of this grade II listed building. No public 
benefits are considered to outweigh the less than substantial harm to the 
significance of the heritage asset, and as such, the development fails to comply 
with paragraphs 126-141 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012.

2.4 There is an associated application for listed building consent for the works. This 
is assessed under application reference 6/2018/2498/LB. 

3 Reason for Committee Consideration

3.1     This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because Councillor Hebden has called it in.

3.2 Councillor Hebden’s reason for call-in states:

“I would like to call in this application as I believe that this is of great local 
and public interest that requires open discussion to ensure the correct 
decision is made. This building has been subject to unsuccessful planning 
applications and remained unused for some years; good use of this 
property would certainly enhance the local area. Having reviewed the 
application I believe that clarity is required, prior to any decision being 
made, regarding – the viability of the project, internal works, disruption 
caused by building works and parking availability.”

4 Relevant Planning History

4.1 Application Number: 6/2017/1368/FULL
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 19 January 2018
Proposal: Change of use of the existing grade 2 listed building from B1 office to 4 
no. residential flats (C3) with associated internal and external alterations.

Page 104



4.2 Application: 6/2018/2498/LB
Decision: Pending
Decision Date: Pending
Proposal: Internal and external alterations in connection with the change of use 
of the existing grade 2 listed building from office (B1) to 4 x residential flats (C3).

5 Relevant Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF) 

Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (Local Plan)

Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan 2016)

Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG)

Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG)

Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 
Parking Policy)

6 Site Designation 

6.1 The site is within the settlement of Hatfield as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005. The building is Grade II listed and is within the Old Hatfield 
Conservation Area. It is also within an Area of Archaeological Significance.  

7 Representations Received 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters, a site 
notice and a press notice.  Subsequently, a further site notice and additional 
neighbour letters were also served.   A total of six representations were received, 
one in support of the proposal and five objections. One Comment has also been 
received.  The representations for each are summarised below:

Objections
 Harm to the listed building (x 2, received from two occupiers of 17 Fore 

Street) (see associated listed building consent application reference 
6/2018/2498/LB).

 Gross overdevelopment of the site (x 2, received from two occupiers of 17 
Fore Street, and x1 18c Salisbury Square)

 Lack of marketing for the site as offices (x 2, received from two occupiers 
of 17 Fore Street)

 Impact on the Eight Bells Pub (x 2, received from two occupiers of 17 Fore 
Street, and x1 OHRA)

 Not a viable development/Loss of offices (x1, OHRA)
 Inaccurate plans and unauthorised external staircase that exist (x1, 18c 

Salisbury Square) 
 Overlooking (x1, 18c Salisbury Square)
 Parking issues (x3, OHRA, 18c Salisbury Square, 10 Park Street)
 Noise/Disruption during construction (x2, OHRA, 18c Salisbury Square)
 Lack of consultation from the developer (x1, OHRA)

Support

Page 105



 It should be approved. Old buildings have their constraints, compromises 
may be required (x1, 7 Park Street)

Comment
 The building has been vacant for years, the subdivision proposed is not 

the “optimum” conversion. It is not accepted that residential is the only 
viable use. If the application is granted, suggested conditions pertaining to 
materials and keeping photographic records are suggested (Gascoyne 
Cecil estates)

8 Town Council Representations 

8.1 None received

9 Consultations received 

9.1 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Client Services – No objection

9.2 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Parking Services –No objection

9.3 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Public Health & Protection – No objection 
subject to conditions. 

9.4 Hertfordshire County Council Transport Programmes and Strategy – No objection 
subject to conditions. 

9.5 Hertfordshire County Council Historic Environment Advisor – No objection 
subject to conditions. 

10 Analysis

10.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are:

1. Principle of development
2. Overall design and heritage matters
3. Impact on the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and future 

occupiers
4. Highways and parking provision
5. Noise and vibration
6. Other considerations:

- Waste and recycling
- Houses in Multiple Occupation

1. Principle of development 

10.2 Local Plan Policy SD1 states that development proposals will be permitted where 
it can be demonstrated that the principles of sustainable development are 
satisfied and that they will accord with the objectives and policies of the Local 
Plan. Policy R1 requires development to take place on previously developed land 
and Policy GBSP2 directs new development into the existing towns and specified 
settlements within the district. These objectives are consistent with the Council’s 
Emerging Local Plan.  

Page 106



10.3 The NPPF promotes an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes, 
while safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and 
healthy living conditions.

10.4 The application site is not allocated in the Local Plan as a designated housing 
site so comes forward as a windfall site. Policy H2 relates specifically to 
applications for windfall housing development and states that all proposals of this 
type will be assessed for potential suitability against the following criteria:

i. The availability of previously-developed sites and/or buildings;
ii. The location and accessibility of the site to services and facilities by 

transport modes other than the car; 
iii. The capacity of existing and potential infrastructure to absorb further 

development;
iv. The ability to build new communities to support infrastructure and provide 

demand for services and facilities;
v. The physical and environmental constraints on development of land.

10.5 Policy SADM1 of the Emerging Local Plan is also relevant in regards to windfall 
housing development. This policy is similar to Policy H2 of the Local Plan but 
adds that the proposal should not undermine the delivery of allocated sites or the 
overall strategy of the Plan; and proposals would not result in disproportionate 
growth taking into account the position of a settlement within the settlement 
hierarchy.

10.6 The neighbouring uses on Park Street and Fore Street are predominately 
residential, except for a number of A3/4 uses on the former and an A1 use. The 
site is previously developed and situated within the settlement of Hatfield, where 
services and facilities are available within a close walking distance. Existing 
infrastructure can absorb this development and the proposal would not 
undermine the delivery of allocated sites in the overall strategy, nor result in 
disproportionate growth of the settlement. The physical and environmental 
constraints of development of the land in the manner proposed is assessed 
below.

10.7 The site is within the Old Hatfield Neighbourhood Centre. Policy SADM4 
supports proposals for change of use within the Old Hatfield Neighbourhood 
Centre, providing it will not have a detrimental impact on the vitality and viability 
of it. Conversely, it seeks to resist the loss of a use that attracts people to a 
centre (or directly serves it), unless it can be demonstrated there is no longer a 
need for the use. However, the aims of the policy are to resist development 
within Old Hatfield that would result in the loss of retail functions. The site does 
not have a “protected frontage” within this Neighbourhood Centre. The premises 
has been vacant for some time. Its last use was as (B1) offices and not as (A1) 
retail use. In this regard the proposed change of use would not conflict with this 
policy.  

The loss of office accommodation

10.8 The Council takes a protective approach to employment land within the Borough. 
This is to ensure that there continues to be enough high quality employment land 
and floor-space in the Borough to provide jobs for local people, to maintain the 
diversity of employment uses and to accommodate the requirements of local 
businesses. There have been objections to the proposal due to the lack of 
marketing of the site as offices. 

Page 107



10.9 The site is office space within the town of Hatfield which is regarded as an 
employment use. The application is supported by a statement on viability. This 
report concludes that four residential units are the most viable option. In 
considering the loss of this office accommodation there is no conflict with the loss 
of this employment site to residential against the current Policy (EMP8), which is 
an out of date policy. However, the proposal would be contrary to emerging 
Policy SADM10 which seeks to resist the loss of non-designated employment 
land. 

10.10 Notwithstanding this, the Council do not currently have a demonstrable five year 
land supply of deliverable housing sites. Therefore, emerging Policy SADM10 
and its tests set out in parts iii.-v hold very limited weight in this case. The 
amount of marketing information submitted by the applicant demonstrates that 
four residential units are the most viable option. This, together with the weight 
attributed to the “presumption in favour of sustainable development” under 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF 2018) means that planning permission should be 
granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole.  Based on 
the above, the proposal would not be in contradiction with Local Plan Polices 
SD1, R1, GBSP2, H2; Emerging Local Plan Policy SP1 of the Emerging Local 
Plan; or the NPPF subject to an assessment of the scheme against the principles 
of sustainable development governing residential development which are 
considered below.

2. Overall design and heritage matters

10.11 Policies D1 and D2 of the Local Plan require the standard of design in all new 
development to be of a high quality and that all new development respects and 
relates to the character and context of the area in which it is proposed.  These 
policies are expanded upon in the Council’s SDG and are consistent with Policy 
SP9 of the Emerging Local Plan Furthermore, Policy GBSP2 of the Local Plan 
requires that ‘within specified settlements’ development will be limited to that 
which is compatible with the maintenance and enhancement of their character.  

10.12 The NPPF places a clear emphasis on high quality design and states in 
paragraph 130 that planning permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way in functions, taking into account any 
local design standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning 
documents.  As such, there is also consistency between the Council’s Saved and 
Emerging Local Plan with the NPPF

10.13 The building is Grade II listed and the site is within both the Old Hatfield 
Conservation Area and an area of archaeological significance. Section 16 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990 states that the local 
planning authority shall have “special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses”. The specific historic environment policies within the NPPF 
are contained within paragraphs 184-202. Paragraph 192 of the NPPF, “In 
determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take account 
of:

Page 108



a) The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

b) The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and

c) The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness”    

10.14 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF outlines that, when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, “great 
weight” should be given to the asset’s conservation and the more important the 
asset the greater the weight it should be given. Paragraph 195 states that where 
proposed development will lead to substantial harm or total loss of significance of 
a designated heritage asset, Local Planning Authorities should refuse consent 
unless it can be demonstrated that the harm is necessary to achieve substantial 
public benefits that outweigh the harm. Where the harm is considered less than 
substantial Paragraph 196 states that this should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal. The NPPF therefore does allow for a degree of harm to 
a heritage asset in particular circumstances.

10.15 The visual effects of the active frontage given by the shop appearance does 
contribute to the significance of the conservation area. The proposed alterations 
do not result in the loss of an appearance of an active frontage. Considering the 
existing circumstances of the building, in that the building appears as part shop 
but is in use as inactive offices, it is considered that the change of use and limited 
changes in appearance would have a neutral impact on the conservation area.

10.16 The proposed internal alterations would result in significant changes to the 
interior of the building and some loss of historic fabric. It is also possible that 
some of the historic 17th century core of the building would be exposed during 
the proposed works. The proposed development is such that it should be 
regarded as likely to have an impact on heritage assets of archaeological 
interest. As such, conditions are recommended to provide properly for the likely 
archaeological implications of this development proposal.  

10.17 The current proposals are the result of pre-application discussions and 
amendments made during the life of the application. The revised scheme has 
addressed previous concerns raised and is now considered to be acceptable and 
sympathetic to the historic characteristics of the building. The existing openings 
are reused with new openings being kept to a minimum; this preserves the 
historic appearance of the building and its legibility pertaining to its previous use 
as a shop. An associated application for listed building consent is considered 
under reference: 6/2018/2498/LB. An assessment of the impact on the listed 
building is also considered as part of this listed building consent application. 

10.18 The proposal would be sympathetic to the special interest of the listed building 
subject to conditions being imposed in relation to the materials to be used and 
further information being provided which would include details of the new 
windows, doors, eaves and cills in section and elevation form. These external 
alterations would preserve the conservation area and would respect and relate to 
the character of the existing area in compliance with Policies Policy D1 and D2 of 
the Local Plan, Policy SP9 of the Emerging Local Plan and the NPPF. The 
proposal would also comply with Section 72 of the Listed Buildings and 
Conservations Areas Act (1990) which states that ‘special attention shall be paid 

Page 109



to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or the appearance of 
that area’. 

3. Living conditions of future occupiers and neighbouring occupiers

10.19 Policy D1 of the Local Plan requires the standard of design in all new 
development to be of a high quality. This is expanded upon in the Council’s SDG 
which sets out the guidelines with regard to residential development for the 
provision of adequate amenity for future occupants and the protection of 
neighbouring residential amenity. The NPPF advocates high quality design and 
outlines that planning decisions should create a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future occupiers.

Living conditions of future occupiers 

10.20 The units would be in accordance with DCLG’s Technical housing standards - 
nationally described space standards.  The internal floor areas for each of the 
proposed units are as follows (excluding basement space):

 Unit 1: 72.2 m2 (2b/3p flat)
 Unit 2: 53.4 m2 (1b/2p flat)
 Unit 3: 76.6 m2 (2b/3p flat)
 Unit 4: 79.9 m2 (2b/3p flat) 

10.21 Other than the small courtyard, the building has no surrounding private space. 
Whilst this causes some issues in terms of the quality of accommodation on offer, 
this issue is not uncommon within flat conversions. There is space for bin storage 
in the external courtyard to the south west. The replacement of doors on the first 
floor units with glazed French doors would provide sufficient light into Bedroom 1 
of Unit 4, as well as Home office/Bedroom 2 of Unit 3. The stacking of rooms and 
their positions is appropriate, with kitchens above kitchens and bedrooms above 
bedrooms. Accordingly, the proposal is of a suitable quality of design. The 
quantum of development has been explored as part of the pre-application 
process, and given the limited amount of external amenity space, the provision of 
four units was considered to be the most viable as proposed by the applicant. 
The LPA agree with this assessment given the benefits to the vacant listed 
building and the principle of the change of use. 

Living conditions of adjacent occupiers 

10.22 In terms of the living conditions of neighbouring residents, the main properties 
which may be affected by the development proposal are those at Willow House 
to the west.  All other neighbouring properties are sufficiently separated from the 
application site so as to ensure that their living conditions would be not be 
adversely affected. Willow House is located to the west of the host building, and 
orientated to face south whereas the host building is oriented to fact east. Willow 
House has two east facing elevations, one set back from the other. The east 
facing elevation nearest the host building has fenestration serving ensuite 
bedrooms and a staircase. The stepped back east facing elevation is still in close 
proximity to the host building, separated by a small courtyard, and hosts windows 
serving bedrooms at ground, first and second floor level.

10.23 The proposed development would involve the replacement of existing windows 
and doors facing into the courtyard and on the northern elevation, as well as the 
change of use internally of one room on the ground floor which is served by an 

Page 110



east facing window. Further to the above, the first floor windows would be 
replaced with windows facing in a south direction above the courtyard. The other, 
existing first floor window facing Willow House would continue to serve the 
stairwell of the host building. 

10.24 The replacement ground floor windows would give indirect, obscure views into 
the ground floor bedroom windows of Willow House, and vice-versa. 
Notwithstanding this, the courtyard serves existing flats for access, and as such, 
the ground floor bedroom of the adjacent property has existing privacy issues. 
Furthermore, the viewing angles from centre point to centre point of the opposing 
windows serving living spaces would give minimal views internally due to the 
depth of the fenestration openings. It is not considered that the oblique 
overlooking from the ground floor bedroom windows proposed would have an 
undue impact in terms of the privacy afforded to the adjoining occupiers. 

10.25 Existing platforms on the eastern elevations would be removed, further limiting 
any overlooking to the occupiers of Willow House. For the above reasons, the 
proposed development is not likely to give rise to any significant impacts on the 
living conditions of neighbouring occupiers in terms of overbearing impact, day 
and sunlight, privacy, noise, and light pollution in accordance with Policies D1, 
and R19 of the Local Plan, the Council’s SDG, Policy SADM11 of the Emerging 
Local Plan and the NPPF.

4. Highways and parking provision

10.26 The Highways Authority have been consulted for this application and present no 
objection to the development. They consider that the previous use as an office 
would generate greater levels of vehicle trips than the number of dwellings 
proposed. Therefore, in highway capacity terms “the application is actually 
beneficial by a reduction of trips”.

10.27 The proposed development would provide four additional units of 
accommodation. The application form (section 13) states that parking is not 
relevant to the proposal. There is no parking available on site, nor is any 
proposed. The Council’s Parking Service team have confirmed that if the building 
is converted to residential use, then the residents of the new dwellings would not 
be eligible for a residents parking permit. 

10.28 In terms of sustainable transport, the site is well located within walking distance 
of a range of shops and services and benefits from convenient access to 
footways, cycleway and public transport. The site is also located within close 
walking distance of Hatfield Railway Station, which is a major bus interchange 
and transport hub for the area. A recent decision for a nearby site at 33-34 
Salisbury Square (appeal ref: APP/C1950/W/18/3205963 dated 15 January 
2019) was recently dismissed on appeal. However, the planning Inspector made 
the following assessment with regard to parking provision: 

 “I have had regard to the location of the site close to other public transport options, its 
proximity to services and facilities and the level of additional parking spaces required. I 
find that the lack of parking spaces would not be unduly harmful to the parking provision 
in the locality or future occupiers of the development” (para 20). 

Given the proximity of the application site to number 33-34 Salisbury Square, this 
very recent decision by the Planning Inspectorate holds significant weight in this 
assessment. 

Page 111



10.29 The site is therefore considered to be one of the most sustainable locations it the 
Borough given that it is highly accessible for local amenities and to a number of 
modes of transport other than by use of a private car. Given the parking 
restrictions that exist around Old Hatfield, it is highly unlikely that any future 
residents would park on street. Visitor parking is available within several nearby 
public car parks. There would also be some storage area for bicycles within the 
building and within the courtyard area to the south west of the site, which 
supports sustainable modes of transport. Further details of bicycle parking can be 
secured through a planning condition.

10.30 The site’s accessible location, the number of units proposed, the parking 
restrictions around the site and the potential for bicycle storage on site, would 
ensure that this car free development would not represent a severe impact to 
highway capacity. Subject to a condition regarding bicycle parking, the 
development would accord with Policies M14 and D5 of the Local Plan, the 
Council’s SPG and Interim Parking Policy, Policy SADM12 of the Emerging Local 
Plan and the NPPF.

5. Noise and vibration 

10.31 Policy R19 of the Local Plan states that proposals will be refused if the 
development is likely to generate unacceptable noise or vibration for other land 
uses. Policy SADM18 of the Emerging Local Plan outlines that that a noise and 
vibration impact assessment will be required for proposals with the potential to 
cause disturbance to people or the natural environment due to noise and/or 
vibration.  Very disruptive noise and/or vibration pollution will not be permitted 
and disruptive or intrusive effects will be weighed against the needs for, and 
benefits of, the development.  These policies are in place in the interest of high 
quality design to ensure that the living conditions of existing and future occupiers 
are maintained. 

10.32 The Council’s Public Health & Protection Officer has been consulted for this 
application and no objection have been raised. It is noted that the site is located 
directly opposite the Eight Bells Public House. Objections have been received in 
relation to the impact of the proposed residential use and the viability of this 
public house. 

10.33 Paragraph 182 of the NPPF sets out that planning decisions should ensure that 
new developments can be integrated effectively with existing community facilities 
(such as pubs). It is acknowledged that there may be some conflict with the use 
of the site for residential purposes and the concern for noise from users of the 
public house. However, despite being directly opposite, there are other 
residential properties in the very near vicinity, including directly next door and 
over the road on Fore Street. On this basis, a pragmatic approach is being taken, 
which accepts there would be some noise which would be expected of the public 
house, but that currently it is being managed in such a way as to not 
detrimentally impact the amenity of the area and to future occupiers so as to 
warrant a reason for refusal for this reason.

6. Other considerations 

Waste and recycling 

Page 112



10.34 The requirements for refuse would be 2 x 360l bins and 3 x 360l or 4 x 240l 
recycling bins. The submitted drawings indicate 2 x 240l rubbish bins and 2 x 
240l recycling bins. Notwithstanding this, a revised size can be secured through a 
planning condition in the event of a grant of planning permission with room for 
the bins within the enclosed courtyard. 

Houses in Multiple Occupation

10.35 Since 12th January 2012, there has been an article 4 direction covering the whole 
of Hatfield removing permitted development rights for change of use from C3 
(Dwellinghouse) to C4 (Houses in Multiple Occupation). The rationale for the 
Direction is detailed within the Houses in Multiple Occupation, Supplementary 
Planning Document, February 2012.   

10.36 As a result of the Direction, it is considered appropriate and reasonable to 
include on new housing developments within Hatfield details to inform developers 
that there is an Article 4 direction, by way of an informative, but also include a 
condition to ensure that the development, which has been assessed and 
determined on the basis of being in C3 use is not first occupied within C4 use, 
over which the Council would have no control.  It is therefore recommended that 
a condition is attached to this effect.

Conditions 

10.37 The National Planning Policy Guidance governs the use of conditions in planning 
and the power to impose conditions when granting planning permission is very 
wide.  If used properly, conditions can enhance the quality of development and 
enable many development proposals to proceed where it would otherwise have 
been necessary to refuse planning permission.  The objectives of planning, 
however, are best served when that power is exercised in such a way that 
conditions are clearly seen to be fair, reasonable and practicable.  Conditions 
should only be imposed where they are both necessary and reasonable, as well 
as enforceable, precise and relevant both to planning and to the development to 
be permitted. In considering whether a particular condition is necessary, both 
officers and members should ask themselves whether planning permission would 
have to be refused if that condition were not to be imposed. If it would not, then 
the condition needs special and precise justification.

11 Overall balance and conclusion 

11.1 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This proposal broadly complies with different polices of the 
development plan, moreover there are other considerations such as the effects 
on housing land supply to be taken into account. There is, therefore, a balance to 
be struck.

11.2 The proposal would result in the loss of vacant office accommodation. However, 
the proposal would help to boost the supply of housing in line with the 
government’s objective set out in the NPPF. The Council cannot demonstrate a 
5-year supply of deliverable housing sites, paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF applies.  
This outlines that applications involving housing should be granted unless any 
adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole.

Page 113



11.3 In this regard, the proposed change of use to residential is considered as a 
suitable use of the building. Given the amount of development proposed the 
social and economic benefits derived from the occupation of the dwellings would 
be of benefit. The alterations to the building would likely secure the retention and 
enhancement of the Listed building, rather than allowing it to remain empty and 
dormant and potentially it falling into a state of disrepair. This is held in favour of 
the proposal. 

11.4 The proposed development would provide a satisfactory level of accommodation 
for its future occupants, would not negatively impact upon the character and 
context of the area, respects the amenity of the occupiers of adjoining premises 
and provides sufficient parking while also promoting sustainable methods of 
transportation.  

11.5 In weighing the balance in favour of sustainable development, it is considered 
that the extent of harm identified would not significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a 
whole. Consequently, the development proposal would be in compliance with 
Policies H2, D1, D2 and GBSP2 of the Local Plan; the Council’s SDG; Policies 
SADM1, SP9 and SADM11 of the Emerging Local Plan; and the NPPF.

12 Recommendation 

12.1 It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions and 
the conclusions of the consultation period expiring on the 28 February 2019. 

PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT

1. No development shall take place until an Archaeological Written Scheme of 
Investigation has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing.  The scheme must include an assessment of archaeological 
significance and research questions and:

a) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording;
b) the programme for post investigation assessment;
c) provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording;
d) provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and 

records of the site investigation;
e) provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of 

site investigation; and
f) nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake 

the works set out within the Archaeological Written Scheme of 
Investigation.

The development must not be implemented other than in accordance with the 
programme of archaeological works set out in the approved Archaeological 
Written Scheme of Investigation.

REASON:  To ensure that a historical record is kept of any archaeological finds 
due to the implementation of the development and to comply with the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2018 and Policy R29 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005.

NO DEVELOPMENT ABOVE GROUND

Page 114



2. No development above ground level in any phase of the development shall take 
place until details of the new windows, doors and the shopfront at a scale of 1:1 
to 1:20 (as appropriate) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development must be implemented using the 
approved materials and subsequently, the approved materials must not be 
changed.

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests of 
visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

3. No above ground development shall commence until details of a scheme for the 
provision of secure bicycle parking for at least 4 bicycles on site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the 
approved scheme and shall be retained thereafter. The approved details shall 
be implemented and maintained in good condition thereafter.

REASON:  In order to ensure that there is adequate provision for secure bicycle 
accommodation within the application site, encouraging alternative modes of 
transport in accordance with Policies M6 and M8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

4. No above ground development shall commence until details of the location, 
design and specification of 2 x 360 litre refuse bin and 3 x 360 litre (or 4 x 240 
litre) recycling bins to serve the four residential units must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Subsequently the refuse 
and recycling materials storage bins and areas must be constructed, equipped 
and made available for use prior to first occupation of each unit they serve and 
must be retained in that form thereafter.

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of refuse and recycling provision 
and to protect the residential amenity of adjoining and future occupiers in 
accordance with Policies IM2, R5 and D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

PRIOR TO OCCUPATION

5. The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post 
investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the 
requirements of condition 1. The development must not be implemented other 
than in accordance with the site investigation and post investigation 
assessment.

REASON:  To ensure that a historical record is kept of any archaeological finds 
due to the implementation of the development and to comply with the Policy 
R29 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018.

POST DEVELOPMENT COMMENCING

6. The development hereby permitted shall be used for Class C3 dwellinghouse[s] 
only and notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 

Page 115



or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no development within 
Schedule 2, Part 3, Class L shall take place.

REASON:  The Article 4 Direction covering Hatfield removes the Class I 
permitted development rights to move from a use falling within Class C3 
(dwellinghouses) to a use falling within Class C4 (Houses in Multiple 
Occupation) and to enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the 
effects of development normally permitted by the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 to maintain mixed, balanced, 
sustainable and inclusive communities and in the interests of residential and 
visual amenity in accordance with the Houses in Multiple Occupation 
Supplementary Planning Document 2012 and Policies GBSP2, D1 and D2 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018.

DRAWING NUMBERS

7. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details:

 
Plan Number Revision 

Number
Details Received Date

16_372 L 102 B Proposed Site Plan 1 October 2018
16_372 L 110 C Proposed Basement Plan 1 October 2018
16_372 L 111 D Proposed Ground Floor 

Plan
1 October 2018

16_372 L 112 D Proposed First Floor Plan 1 October 2018
16_372 L 113 B Proposed Roof Plan 1 October 2018
16_372 L 114 C Proposed Elevations 1+2 1 October 2018
16_372 L 115 B Proposed Elevations 

3+4+5
1 October 2018

16_372 L 116 B Proposed Elevations 6+7 1 October 2018
16_372 L 117 C Proposed First Floor Door 1 October 2018
16_372 L 118 B Proposed Entrance Hall 

Party Wall Panelling
1 October 2018

16_372 L 120 B Proposed Basement 
Ceiling Treatment

1 October 2018

16_372 L 121 C Proposed Ground Floor 
Treatment

1 October 2018

16_372 L 122 C Proposed First Floor 
Treatment

1 October 2018

16_372 L 132 C Proposed First Floor 
Ceiling Treatment

1 October 2018

16_372 L 001 C Location Plan 11 October 2018
135PS_B_A Basement Plan 11 October 2018
135PS_G_A Existing Ground Floor / 

Site Plan
11 October 2018

135PS_1_A Existing First Floor 11 October 2018
135PS_R_A Existing Roof Plan 11 October 2018
135PS_E1_A Existing Elevation 1 11 October 2018
135PS_E2_A Existing Elevations 2+3 11 October 2018
135PS_E3_A Existing Elevations 4+5 11 October 2018
135PS_E4_A Existing Elevations 6+7 11 October 2018

Page 116



REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details.
 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan.

Informatives:

1. You are advised that residents of the new development would not be eligible for 
resident parking permits. Under the permit scheme for the area, Old Hatfield 
(area B01) has restrictions that means during Monday-Friday, 9am-5pm, 
residents would have to find alternative parking arrangements as many of the 
roads and car parks are restricted. 

2. It is an offence under Section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, 
without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free 
passage along a highway or public right of way.  If this development is likely to 
result in the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely 
blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to 
obtain their permission and requirements before construction works commence. 
Further information is available via the website 
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 
0300 1234047.

3. It is an offence under Section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud or 
other debris on the public highway, and Section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party 
responsible.  Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to 
ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development 
are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris 
on the highway.  Further information is available via the website 
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 
0300 1234047.

4. Noise control
- All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at 
such other place as may be agreed with the Council, shall be carried out only 
between the hours of:
8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays
8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays
-The best practicable means, as defined in section 72 of the Control of Pollution 
Act 1974, to reduce noise to a minimum shall be employed at all times
-All plant and machinery in use shall be properly silenced and maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions
-All compressors shall be sound reduced models, fitted with properly lined and 
sealed acoustic covers, which shall be kept closed whenever the machines are 
in use. All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools shall be fitted with mufflers or 
silencers of the type recommended by the manufactures.
- All machines in intermittent use shall be shut down during intervening periods 
between work, or throttled down to a minimum. Noise emitting equipment, which 

Page 117

http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/


is required to operate continuously, shall be housed in suitable acoustic 
enclosures.
-Items of plant and equipment shall be maintained in good condition so that 
extraneous noise from mechanical vibration, squeaking or creaking is reduced 
to a minimum.
-In general, equipment for breaking concrete and the like, shall be hydraulically 
actuated.
-‘BS 5228 Noise Control on Construction Sites’ should be referred to for 
guidance in respect of all work carried out by the developer, their main 
contractor and any sub contractors.
- Any emergency deviation from these conditions shall be notified to the Council 
without delay
-Any planned deviations from these conditions for special technical reasons, 
shall be negotiated with Council at least 14 days prior to the commencement of 
the specific work.
- Permissible noise levels are not specified at this stage.

5. Dust control
- All efforts shall be made to reduce dust generation to a minimum
- Stock piles of materials for use on the site or disposal, that are likely to 
generate dust, shall be sited so as to minimise any nuisance to residents or 
neighbouring businesses. Materials for disposal shall be moved off site as 
quickly as possible.
- Water sprays shall be used, as and when necessary, to reduce dust from 
particularly “dusty” activities or stock piles.

6. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 
legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission 
required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be 
obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety 
Executive, Environment Agency (Water interest etc. Neither does this 
permission negate or override any private covenants which may affect the land.

7. The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to build 
upon or access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant.

8. The development will involve the numbering of properties and/or the naming of 
new streets. The applicant MUST contact Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, 
Environmental Services (01707 357 000) before any name or number is 
proposed. This is a requirement of the Public Health Act 1875 and Public Health 
(Amendment) Act 1907.

9. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 
construction of this development should be provided within the site on land 
which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with 
the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from 
the Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further 
information is available via the website 
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 
0300 1234047.

Sarah Madyausiku (Development Management)
Date: 07/02/2019
Time Extension: 01/03/2019

Page 118

http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/


Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                          Part I
                                                                          Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 FEBRUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)
 

6/2018/2968/FULL

11 AND 11A HOLLY CLOSE, HATFIELD, AL10 9JB

CONVERSION OF EXISTING 6-BEDROOM DWELLING AT 11 HOLLY CLOSE INTO 
TWO SELF-CONTAINED 2-BEDROOM FLATS

AGENT: DLA Town Planning 

      (Hatfield South West)

1 Site Description

1.1 The application site is situated on the western side of Holly Close and 
accommodates a mid-terrace dwelling with front and rear gardens.  The 
surrounding area and street scene are residential in character and contain 
dwellings similar in respect of both size and appearance.  The property is one of 
a group of dwellings which form part of an originally planned residential area of 
Hatfield Town dating from the 1950’s. 

1.2 A small one bedroom dwelling (11a Holly Close) which adjoins the north side of 
the application property was erected following the grant of planning permission in 
2004 under reference S6/2004/0330/FP.  The same application also included 
permission for a part two storey, part single storey rear extension to the 
application property to form a five bedroom dwelling.  Nos.11 and 11a share a 
vehicular access and a block paved area to the front of the property which 
provides off street parking for up to five cars. 

2 The Proposal

2.1 The five bedroom dwelling at 11 Holly Close now has 6 bedrooms and planning 
permission is sought for the conversion of this dwelling into two self-contained 2-
bedroom flats.  The proposal does not include any extensions or alterations to 
the external appearance of the building.  

2.2 No.11 and 11a benefit from private rear gardens, albeit the garden serving 
No.11a is very small and awkward in shape.  It is proposed to realign the 
boundary fence with the aim of providing a functional garden for both No.11a 
(45sqm) and the ground floor flat (56sqm).  

2.3 In terms of car parking, there are 5 existing parking spaces within the site 
boundary which would be retained.  The proposal does not include any 
amendments to the sites access arrangements. 

Page 121

Agenda Item 9



2.4 This application is identical to that refused at Development Management 
Committee on 7 December 2017 (planning reference: 6/2017/0090/FULL).  The 
reason for refusal is stated as follows:

‘The proposed subdivision of the family dwelling into flats would result in harm to 
the character of the area by virtue of the change in intensity of use of this narrow 
cul-de-sac as well as detrimentally impact upon the amenity of neighbouring 
properties. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies D1 and D2 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.’

2.5 Under Section 70A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended, a 
local planning authority have the power to decline a subsequent application 
however this is subject to a number of conditions.  One of these conditions is that 
the authority think there has been no significant change in the relevant 
considerations since the date of determination of the previous application.

2.6 Since the determination of the above application it has been established that the 
Council cannot show a five year supply of deliverable housing sites and therefore 
the revised 2018 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), paragraph 11(d), 
is engaged.  Paragraph 11 states that where there are no relevant development 
plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the 
application are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies.  Footnote 7 of paragraph 11 states 
that for applications involving the provision of housing, out-of-date policies 
include situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites.

2.7 The NPPF also introduces a new chapter (11) on Making effective use of land, 
and states that where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for 
meeting identified housing needs, it is especially important that planning policies 
and decisions avoid homes being built at low densities, and ensure that 
developments make optimal use of the potential of each site.

2.8 Whilst the proposal would only involve the net increase of one dwelling, it would 
nevertheless boost the supply of housing in the borough.  Officers are of the view 
that the above factors represent a significant change in the relevant 
considerations since the above identical application was refused.  The 
development proposal therefore warrants re-consideration.

3 Reason for Committee Consideration

3.1 The application is presented to Development Management Committee because 
Councillor James Broach has called it in and Hatfield Town Council have 
responded with a major objection

3.2 Councillor James Broach’s reason for call-in states:

‘As the applicant's letter states that this application is identical to the one that 
was refused recently, my call in will be very similar to the last one: I wish to call 
this application in for consideration at DMC. This application has an unusually 
long planning history - the applicant has been told numerous times that his house 
should be returned to C3 use. By converting it into 2x2 bed flats, the proposal 
could potentially house up to eight occupants - which is completely out of 
keeping with the local area, both in terms of numbers, and the fact this this site is 
surrounded by houses, not by flats. Looking at the reason for the refusal of the 

Page 122



last application which was as follows: The proposed subdivision of the family 
dwelling into flats would result in harm to the character of the area by virtue of the 
change in intensity of use of this narrow cul-de-sac as well as detrimentally 
impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties. The proposal is therefore 
contrary to policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. Given 
that no material changes have been made to this proposal, I feel that it is still 
contrary to sections D1 & 2 of our district plan. From the plans, it is not clear what 
outdoor amenity space has been afforded to residents of the first floor flat. Item 
127f of the NPPF states that a high standard of amenity must be provided to 
users, and if the applicant has failed to provide outdoor green space to the first 
floor occupants, then this application should be refused. I have concerns about 
the potential welfare of this many residents being crammed into a family home, 
and feel this needs particularly close attention. Parking is already a nightmare in 
this part of Hatfield - which was best documented by an ambulance being unable 
to reach a patient due to the chaotic parking in this area. Any further traffic, 
including construction traffic, could exacerbate this. I am concerned about the 
precedent that turning a family home into flats would set, especially in this area of 
Hatfield. Our family homes need to be kept as such -would you allow the whole 
of this area to potentially be converted into flats? I cannot believe that yet another 
application has gone on for this site. As with previous applications, I am happy 
for you to refuse planning permission under delegated authority if that is the 
recommendation of officers.’

3.3 Hatfield Town Council’s major objection states:

‘It appears that no outdoor amenity space will be given to the upstairs flat which 
appears to be contrary to NPPF guidelines. This application is out of keeping with 
the surrounding properties which are all houses, not flats. The intensification of 
the use of the property will cause harm to the cul de sac and amenities of 
neighbouring properties.’

4 Relevant Planning History

4.1 Application Number: 6/2017/2064/FULL
Decision: Refused 
Decision date: 08 December 2017
Proposal: Conversion of existing 6-bedroom dwelling at 11 Holly Close into two 
self-contained 2-bedroom flats 

4.2 Application Number: 6/2017/0090/FULL
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 26 May 2017
Proposal: Conversion of existing dwelling at 11 Holly Close into two self 
contained 2-bed flats and extension of front porch

4.3 Application Number: S6/2015/1179/FP
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 13 October 2015
Proposal: Change of use from nil use to dwelling (C3)

4.4 Application Number: S6/2013/2313/LUE
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 22 November 2013
Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness for existing use of House in Multiple Occupation (C4)

Page 123



4.5 Application Number: S6/2013/0743/FP
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 10 October 2013
Proposal: Change of use from a dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a six bedroom house 
in multiple occupation (Use Class C4)

4.6 Application Number: S6/2012/2415/FP
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 16 January 2013
Proposal: Change of use from eight bedroom dwelling house (use class C3) to an eight 
bedroom Large House in Multiple Occupation (Sui Generis)

4.7 Application Number: S6/2012/1198/FP
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 16 October 2012
Proposal: Retention of single storey rear extension

4.8 Application Number: S6/2004/0330/FP
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 24 May 2004
Proposal: Erection of two storey extension to existing dwelling and one new dwelling

5 Relevant Planning Policy

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF)

5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (Local Plan)

5.3 Supplementary Design Guidance, February 2005 (SDG)

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards, January 2004 (SPG)

5.5 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes, August 2014 (Interim 
Parking Policy)

6 Site Designation 

6.1 The site lies within the town of Hatfield as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005. 

7 Representations Received 

7.1 Neighbouring occupiers were consulted by way of letter.  Two replies have been 
received, one from 9 Holly Close objecting to the application and the other from 
11 Holly Close supporting the application.  The comments for each are 
summarised below:

Objection

 Noise from building works and use as 2 properties 
 History of overcrowding of property 
 Being used as a hotel 
 Additional parking pressures and rubbish

Page 124



7.2 Support 

 Excellent opportunity to increase affordable housing in Hatfield 
 No detriment to neighbours or the environment 
 Conversion from 6-bed HMO into 2 flats would positively reduce noise and 

inconvenience to neighbours 
 Ample off-road parking to the front 
 Efficient use of land 

8 Town Council Representations 

8.1 Major objection stated as follows:

‘It appears that no outdoor amenity space will be given to the upstairs flat which 
appears to be contrary to NPPF guidelines. This application is out of keeping with 
the surrounding properties which are all houses, not flats. The intensification of 
the use of the property will cause harm to the cul de sac and amenities of 
neighbouring properties.’

9 Consultations Received 

9.1 Hertfordshire County Council Transport Programmes and Strategy – No 
objection 

9.2 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Public Health & Protection Team – No 
objection 

9.3 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Client Services Team – This development can 
be incorporated into the existing Alternate Refuse and Recycling Collections 
(ARRC). 

9.4 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Parking Services Team – No objection 

10 Analysis

10.1 The issues to be considered are as follows:

1. The principle of the development 
2. Quality of design and impact on the character and appearance of the 

area 
3. Quality of design with particular regard to the residential amenity and 

living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and future occupiers 
4. Access, impact on the highway network and parking provision 
5. Other material planning considerations

i) House in multiple occupation
ii) Letting for short-term accommodation
iii) Refuse and recycling storage  
iv) Landscaping 
v) Restrictive covenants

6.   Overall balance and conclusion 

Page 125



Background

10.2 The house was used as an eight-bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
in the period leading up to the date when an enforcement notice was issued on 
the 11 November 2013.  The enforcement notice was upheld by the Planning 
Inspectorate on the 20 October 2014.  Exactly when occupation by eight persons 
started (as opposed to a smaller number) is not clear but seems to have been 
some time after alterations were made to the property in 2010.  Before then, 
apparently from 2009, the house was evidently used as an HMO, but not with as 
many as eight occupiers.  Even though there had evidently been some multiple 
occupancy in the past by smaller numbers of people, the use of the property as 
an eight-bedroom HMO was unlawful.

10.3 In the absence of precise historical details, the Planning Inspector concluded that 
it is quite likely that by the time of application S6/2013/0743/FP in April 2013 the 
property had lost all use rights, since the existence of an intervening use 
(whether lawful or unlawful) usually indicates abandonment of a previous use.  In 
the circumstances the Inspector judged it appropriate to assess the case on the 
basis that it was a change of use from “nil use” to use as an HMO for occupation 
by six persons.  The appeal against refusal of planning permission was 
subsequently dismissed resulting in the application site having a nil use.

10.4 Planning permission was granted in October 2015, under reference 
S6/2015/1179/FP, to the return of the application site to its historical use as a 
dwellinghouse falling within Use Class C3 with six bedrooms.  

10.5 An almost identical application to the current proposal at this site was refused by 
the Development Management Committee in May 2017 and the only reason for 
refusal given was as follows:

“The proposed alterations to the porch would result in overdevelopment of the 
site, out of keeping with the character of the area contrary to policies D1 and D2 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and Supplementary Design Guidance 
2005 (Statement of Council Policy)”

10.6 An identical application to the current proposal at this site was refused by 
Development Management Committee on December 2017 and the reason for 
refusal is stated in paragraph 2.4

1. The principle of the development 

10.7 Local Plan Policy SD1 states that development proposals will be permitted where 
it can be demonstrated that the principles of sustainable development are 
satisfied and that they will accord with the objectives and policies of the Local 
Plan.  Policy R1 requires development to take place on previously developed 
land and Policy GBSP2 directs new development into the existing towns and 
specified settlements within the district.  These objectives are consistent with the 
Council’s Emerging Local Plan.  

10.8 The NPPF promotes an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes, 
while safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and 
healthy living conditions.  Also, as outlined in paragraph 2.7, when there is a 
shortage of land for meeting identified housing needs, it is especially important 
that decisions avoid homes being built at low densities, and ensure that 
developments make the optimal use of the potential of each site.

Page 126



10.9 Policy H3 deals with loss of residential accommodation and states that planning 
permission will not be granted for redevelopment which would result in the net 
reduction in the number of dwellings within the district.  The policy does not deal 
specifically with the loss of ‘family homes’.  In this case, the proposed conversion 
of the existing single dwelling to form two self-contained flats would result in a net 
increase of one dwelling and therefore accords with Policy H3 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan.  

10.10 Policy H4 outlines that the Council will generally support applications for the 
conversion of large residential units to provide smaller self-contained units 
provided that it does not result in a development that is detrimental to the 
appearance of the application building and the visual amenity of the area; would 
not adversely affect the amenity of neighbouring residential properties; and would 
provide appropriate amenity space.  These issues are discussed below.

10.11 The application site currently hosts a two storey six bedroom mid-terrace 
dwelling located within the Town of Hatfield.  The application site is also located 
within an area which is accessible by non-car modes of transport and where 
there are services and facilities available within walking distance of the site.  
Furthermore, there are no known physical or environmental constraints at this 
site.  Based on the above, the proposal would not be in conflict with Local Plan 
Polices SD1, R1, GBSP2, H2, H4; Emerging Local Plan Policies SP1 and SP3 of 
the Emerging Local Plan; or the NPPF subject to an assessment of the scheme 
against the principles of sustainable development governing residential 
development which are considered below.

2. Quality of design and impact on the character and appearance of the 
area

10.12 In addition to Policy GBSP2, H2 and H4 outlined above, Local Plan Policies D1 
and D2 aim to ensure a high quality of design and to ensure that development 
respects and relates to the character and context of the locality, maintaining and 
where possible enhancing the character of the existing area.  These policies are 
expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design Guidance (SDG) which 
requires the impact of a development to be assessed giving regard to the bulk, 
scale and design of the proposal and how it harmonises with the existing building 
and area.  These policies are broadly consistent with Policy SP9 of the Emerging 
Local Plan.

10.13 The NPPF places a clear emphasis on high quality design and states in 
paragraph 130 that planning permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way in functions, taking into account any 
local design standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning 
documents.  

10.14 The proposal does not include any extensions or alterations to the external 
appearance of the building.  

10.15 Concerns have been raised regarding the changing character of the area due to 
the loss of family homes and the development of flats.  However, there is no 
policy which refers to types of occupancy, or guidance in respect of the form or 
pattern of development, other than in terms of overall design and harmonisation.  

Page 127



10.16 Whilst there are concerns that this development could set a precedent which 
could have a cumulative and detrimental effect on local character, it is noted that 
no similar sites or applications to which this might apply have been put forward 
within Holly Close.  Furthermore, each application is considered on its own merits 
and a generalised fear of precedent can only be given very limited weight in the 
consideration of this planning application.

10.17 As reasoned above, the development would be compatible with the character of 
this part of Hatfield, and therefore there would be no conflict with either the Local 
Plan or the NPPF.

3. Quality of design with particular regard to the residential amenity and 
living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and future occupiers

10.18 There would be no impact upon the living conditions or residential amenity of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties in terms of overlooking, loss of light or 
overbearing impact. 

10.19 In regards to the use, and the potential intensification of the use of the property 
as residential, it is notable that the number of bedrooms within the building would 
be reduced from six to four, albeit across two separate dwellings.  

10.20 In terms of the potential for the proposal to result in additional noise disturbance 
to the occupiers of the adjoining property, whilst the use may intensify to some 
degree due to the separate units, this increase would not result in additional 
generation beyond what would be expected as reasonable noise within a 
residential environment.  In addition, the potential for a small increase in the total 
number of car journeys and the associated noise from vehicles would be 
relatively small in comparison to the total amount of vehicles which use Holly 
Close.  Therefore, the increase in visitors is unlikely to have any material impact 
on neighbour amenity in comparison to the existing situation.  It should be noted 
that noise disturbance from anti-social behaviour is covered by other legislation 
and therefore can only be given very limited weight in the consideration of this 
planning application.  

10.21 The resulting increased density of the site is not considered to be substantial and 
the potential for additional noise or disturbance as a result would not be sufficient 
to justify a refusal on this basis alone.  In this respect, no objections are raised 
with regard to Local Plan Policy H4, D1 and R19 or Emerging Local Plan Policies 
SP9, SADM11 and SADM18.

10.22 Now turning to the amenity of future occupiers of the proposed flats.  11 and 11a 
Holly Close currently both benefit from private rear gardens, however the garden 
serving 11a is very small and awkward in shape.  This application would realign 
the rear boundary fence between No.11 and No.11a to provide a functional 
garden space for the proposed ground floor flat at No. 11 and the one-bed 
dwelling at No. 11a.  Although the proposed first floor flat would not benefit from 
any private rear garden space, this would not necessarily provide unacceptable 
living conditions for occupiers who are content with this type of accommodation.  
In addition, the dwelling would be of an acceptable size internally and public park 
(Roe Hill Park) is situated within close walking distance from the application site 
which future occupiers can enjoy.  Hatfield Town Council have expressed 
concern regarding the absence of outdoor amenity space for this proposed first 
floor flat and that this appears to be contrary to NPPF guidelines.  The NPPF 
does not stipulate the requirement for outdoor amenity space but does state that 

Page 128



a high standard of amenity should be provided for future occupiers.  For the 
above reasons, there would be no conflict with national policy.

4. Access, impact on the highway network and parking provision

10.23 The proposal does not include any amendments to the sites access 
arrangements.  Hertfordshire Highways have been consulted for this application 
and consider it unlikely that any aspect of the development would result in 
detrimental impact to highway visibility or safe use, nor would the proposal result 
in a material impact to highway capacity to warrant an objection.  As such, 
Hertfordshire Highways do not wish to restrict the grant of planning permission.

10.24 Car parking standards are set out within the Council’s SPG.  In August 2014 the 
Cabinet Housing and Planning Panel approved the Interim Parking Policy.  This 
document identifies the car parking standards set out in the SPG Parking 
Standards as guidelines rather than maximums and states that parking provision 
will be assessed on a case by case basis.

10.25 Nos.11 and 11a Holly Close share a vehicular access and a block paved area to 
the front of the property.  This area provides off street parking for up to 5 cars 
which can be independently accessed.  

10.26 The Council’s SPG recommends 1.5 off street spaces for a 2-bedroom flat in this 
area.  On this basis, 3 on-site parking spaces would typically be required for the 
proposed conversion, which is the same as the existing 6-bedroom house. 

10.27 No.11a is a 1-bedroom property for which 1.25 spaces are recommended.  
Therefore, the total recommended parking provision for the resultant 3 residential 
units would be 4.25 spaces, which can be rounded up to 5 spaces.  

10.28 There are 5 existing parking spaces within the site boundary which are to be 
retained.  Hertfordshire Highways have considered the arrangement of layout of 
parking is achievable.  The proposal therefore accords with Council’s Parking 
Standards and Policy M14 of Welwyn Hatfield District Plan.  A planning condition 
is suggested to ensure that the provision of a parking space for both No.11 and 
No.11A is retained permanently.  

10.29 In terms of cycle storage, the SPG identifies a requirement for one long term 
secure cycle storage space per residential unit.  The frontage of the application 
site would be a shared space between 11 and 11a Holly Close.  The location of 
the cycle store is shown on the proposed site plan and a suitably sized gap of 
0.95m would be provided for access.  A planning condition requiring further 
details with regard to the design of the cycle store is required and can be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with Policies M14, D1 and D2 of the District Plan 2005; and Policy 
SADM12 of the Emerging Local Plan.

5. Other material planning considerations   

i) House in multiple occupation

10.30 Since 12th January 2012, there has been an Article 4 Direction covering the 
whole of Hatfield removing permitted development rights for change of use from 
C3 (Dwellinghouse) to C4 (Houses in Multiple Occupation).  The rationale for the 

Page 129



Direction is detailed within the Houses in Multiple Occupation, Supplementary 
Planning Document, February 2012.

10.31 As a result of the Direction, it is considered appropriate and reasonable to a 
apply condition to ensure that the development, which has been assessed and 
determined on the basis of being in C3 use is not first occupied within C4 use, 
over which the Council would have no control. It is also reasonable to remove 
permitted development rights for a change of use from a C3 dwellinghouse to a 
C4 HMO.  It is therefore recommended that conditions are attached.

ii) Letting for short-term accommodation

10.32 In March this year the Council received a complaint that the application property 
was being used as a bed and breakfast.  Similar claims relating to short-term 
letting or a hotel use have been received in response to this application.  Having 
reviewed the response from the completed Planning Contravention Notice which 
was served on the owner of the property, the Council’s Enforcement Officer has 
determined that further investigation into the current use of the property is 
required in order to identify whether there is currently a breach of planning 
control at 11 Holly Close. 

iii) Refuse and recycling storage  

10.33 The introduction of ‘wheelie bins’ and recycling boxes has led to problems with 
the storage of these containers.  The proliferation of bins can create a 
considerable amount clutter which in turn has a harmful impact upon the visual 
amenity of the streetscene and the character of the area contrary to Local 
Policies D1 and D2 and Policies SP9 and SADM12 of the Emerging Local Plan. 
Inappropriate storage of bins on the highway can also disrupt pedestrian and the 
traffic movements.  

10.34 Consideration must be given not only to the provision of bin stores, but also to 
whether or not householders are likely to feel adequately encouraged to make 
consistent use of these areas.  In this case the Proposed Site Plan shows the 
storage of bins to the front of the site against the existing boundary hedge.  
There is space available around the storage area to provide a screen, or a timber 
enclosure or similar.  This would not only protect the visual amenity of the 
streetscene but would also encourage occupants to return the bins to the 
designated area.  A planning condition is therefore suggested requiring details of 
the design of the bin store to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in accordance with Policies D1, D2 of the District Plan 2005; and 
Policies SP9 and SADM12 of the Emerging Local Plan

iv) Landscaping 

10.35 Local Plan Policy D8 requires landscaping to form an integral part of the overall 
design, and in this respect the high quality design required by Policy D1 and D2 
would again be relevant.  Landscaping is important in order to protect and 
maintain, or ideally enhance, the existing character of the area and to reduce the 
visual and environmental impacts of the development.  It is important that an 
appropriate balance between hard and soft landscaping is maintained and the 
Council will aim to ensure that a proportion of the site frontage is retained as 
landscaped ‘greenery’ to reduce the visual prominence of hard surfacing and 
parked vehicles.  In this case, whilst no planting of significant amenity value 
would be affected by the proposed development, the existing boundary hedge 

Page 130



which encloses much of the front of the site is considered to have significant 
value in terms of visual amenity and the character of the area to warrant 
protection.  A condition is therefore suggested requiring the retention of the 
existing hedge to maintain the character of the area and to reduce the visual and 
environmental impacts of additional parking and bin storage. 

10.36 In terms of boundary treatments and landscaping within the rear gardens which 
would serve the ground floor flat and 11a, only limited landscaping details have 
been provided.  Therefore, conditions are also suggested requiring these details 
to be approved and implemented for the benefit of future occupiers in 
accordance with Local Plan Policies GBSP2, D1, D2 and D8 and Policy SADM1 
of the Emerging Local Plan.

v) Restrictive covenants

10.37 Matters relating land ownership and restrictive covenants are not protected by 
planning legislation and therefore carry little weight in determining planning 
applications.  An informative is suggested so that the applicant is aware that 
planning permission does not convey any consent which may be required under 
any legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts.  

Conditions 

10.38 The National Planning Policy Guidance governs the use of conditions in planning 
and the power to impose conditions when granting planning permission is very 
wide.  If used properly, conditions can enhance the quality of development and 
enable many development proposals to proceed where it would otherwise have 
been necessary to refuse planning permission.  The objectives of planning, 
however, are best served when that power is exercised in such a way that 
conditions are clearly seen to be fair, reasonable and practicable.  Conditions 
should only be imposed where they are both necessary and reasonable, as well 
as enforceable, precise and relevant both to planning and to the development to 
be permitted. In considering whether a particular condition is necessary, both 
officers and members should ask themselves whether planning permission would 
have to be refused if that condition were not to be imposed. If it would not, then 
the condition needs special and precise justification.

11 Overall balance and conclusion 

11.1 The proposed development would provide a satisfactory level of accommodation 
for its future occupants, would maintain the character and context of the area, 
respects the amenity of the occupiers of adjoining premises and provides 
sufficient parking while also promoting sustainable methods of transportation.  

11.2 The proposal would make a small contribution of one additional unit towards the 
Council’s supply of housing and make optimal use of the application site.  This is 
especially important given the Council cannot show a five year supply of 
deliverable housing site and that that the scale of supply falls considerably well 
short of five years. 

11.3 Whilst this application is identical to that refused at Development Management 
Committee in December 2017, the change in relevant considerations particularly 
in terms of housing land supply would overcome the reasons for refusal.

Page 131



12 Recommendation

12.1 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. Within one month from the date of the decision notice, details of the design 
and specification of a store or screen for the refuse and recycling bins to 
serve the residential units shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Subsequently the refuse and recycling store or 
screen shall be constructed, equipped and made available for use, in 
accordance with the approved details, prior to first occupation and retained in 
that form thereafter.

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of refuse and recycling 
provision and to protect the visual amenity of the streetscene in accordance 
with Policies GBPS2, D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, 
Policies SP9 and SADM12 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft 
Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018.

2. No development shall commence until a scheme for the provision of secure 
cycle parking on site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be carried out other than 
in accordance with the approved scheme.

REASON:  In order to ensure that there is adequate provision for secure 
cycle accommodation within the application site, encouraging alternative 
modes of transport in accordance with Policies GBSP2, M14, D1 and D2 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policies SP9 and SADM12 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 
August 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

3. The hedges marked on the Proposed Site Plan (Drawing No.P-03 Rev A) 
shall be retained.  Should any part of the hedge die, be removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased, it shall be replaced during the following 
planting season by a hedge planted in accordance with a specification 
previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

REASON:  To protect the existing planting in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies 
GBSP2, D1, D2, D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SP9 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 
August 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

4. No development shall take place until full details of the hard boundary 
treatment to delineate the rear garden area of 11 and 11a Holly Close has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
These details must include:
(a) Elevation (at 1:50 or 1:00 scale including scale bar); and
(b) Material type

 
The approved details must be carried out prior to occupation of the 
development and retained permanently thereafter.

Page 132



REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interest of 
visual amenity, to provide usable private amenity space for the benefit of the 
future occupiers, and to enable acceptable privacy between the private rear 
gardens in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005, Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (Statement of 
Council Policy), Policies SP9 and SADM11 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2018.

5. The five parking spaces as designated on the Proposed Site Plan (Drawing 
No. P-03 Rev A) shall be allocated and made available for parking before the 
development hereby permitted is first occupied.  This provision must be 
retained permanently thereafter for the parking of vehicles for 
residents/occupiers of No.11A Holly Close and the two new flats (Nos.11B & 
No.11C) and must not be used for any other purpose.

REASON:  To ensure that the spaces are provided prior to the occupation of 
the units in the interests of highway safety and in accordance with the Policy 
M14 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, Policy SADM12 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 
August 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

6. The development hereby permitted shall be used for Class C3 
dwellinghouse[s] only and notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 
(or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), 
no development within Schedule 2, Part 3, Class L shall take place.

REASON:  The Article 4 Direction covering Hatfield removes the Class I 
permitted development rights to move from a use falling within Class C3 
(dwellinghouses) to a use falling within Class C4 (Houses in Multiple Occupation) 
and to enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the effects of 
development normally permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 to maintain mixed, balanced, sustainable 
and inclusive communities and in the interests of residential and visual amenity in 
accordance with the Houses in Multiple Occupation Supplementary Planning 
Document 2012 and Policies GBSP2, D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005, Policy SP9 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework 
2018.and the National Planning Policy Framework.

DRAWING NUMBERS

7. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details:

 
Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

1080467   Site Location Plan 19 November 2018
P-02 A Proposed Floor Plans 19 November 2018
P-03 A Existing & Proposed Site 

Plans (Redacted)
19 November 2018

P-01 A Existing Floor Plans & 
Elevations

19 November 2018

Page 133



REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans and details.

1. POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed 
on the Council's website or inspected at these offices).

Informatives:

1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 
legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission 
required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be 
obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety 
Executive, Environment Agency (Water interest etc. Neither does this 
permission negate or override any private covenants which may affect the land.

2. The applicant is advised to take account the provisions of The Party Wall Act 
1996 insofar as the carrying out of development affecting or in close 
proximity to a shared boundary. 

3. The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to 
build upon or access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant.

4. The development will involve the numbering of properties and naming new 
streets. The applicant MUST contact Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, 
Transportation (Lorraine Davis 01707 357546 before any name or number is 
proposed. This is a requirement of the Public Health Act 1875 and Public 
Health (Amendment) Act 1907.

5. Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials 
associated with the construction of this development should be provided 
within the site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such areas 
must not interfere with the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation 
should be sought from the Highway Authority before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the website 
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 
0300 1234047.

6. Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the 
Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any 
way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of 
way. If this development is likely to result in the public highway or public right 
of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must 
contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements 
before construction works commence. Further information is available via the 
website http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by 
telephoning 0300 1234047.

David Elmore (Development Management)
Date: 01/02/2019
Time Extension: 01/03/2019

Page 134

http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/


Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



             Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 FEBRUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

6/2018/3071/HOUSE

1-2 HILL FARM COTTAGE HILL FARM LANE WELWYN AL6 9BN

ERECTION OF ANCILLARY OUTBUILDING

AGENT: MR F CALDWELL 

(Welwyn West)

1 Site Description

1.1 The application site is situated to the north west of the borough, in the countryside 
outside of any specific settlement and within the Metropolitan Green Belt. Within 
the planning statement submitted it states the application site falls within the 
Conservation Area, however this is not so. 

1.2 The site comprises a two storey detached dwelling, which is situated centrally on 
the triangular shaped plot, which is approximately 0.4596 ha. To the east of the 
dwelling is a detached triple garage and to the north is a separate dwelling, which 
has separate vehicular access and falls within the ownership of the applicants. 

1.3 There is access to the site from Hill Farm Lane.  

2 The Proposal

2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of a detached garden room 
measuring approximately 6 metres in depth, 11 metres in width, 2.45 metres to the 
eaves and 5 metres to the ridge height. The development would have a red or 
brown brick plinth, feather edge timber stained charcoal black in colour on two 
sides of the building, the other two sides would be largely glazed with timber board 
oak coloured windows and doors. 

2.2 The application proposes a building that is the same as one refused in a previous 
application (ref no. 6/2018/1439/FULL). Additional supporting statements and 
evidence has been submitted in support of the resubmission. The previous 
application was refused for the following reason:

“The proposal represents a disproportionate addition to the original dwelling 
house and is therefore inappropriate development within the Green Belt. In 
addition, the impact of the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the 
openness. The Local Planning Authority do not consider that very special 
circumstances exist which outweigh the harm, by reason of inappropriateness 
and the harm to the openness of the Green Belt. The proposal is therefore 
contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy RA3 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan, and the Supplementary Design Guidance, Statement of 

Page 137

Agenda Item 10



Council Policy, 2005 and Policy SADM 34 of the Draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission 2016.”

2.3 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because Councillor Kingsbury has called-in the application:

“I would like to call in this application if the officer is minded to refuse it, on the 
basis that the development is replacing sheds that were in place previously and 
this needs to be considered fully. The impact from the position when the sheds 
were in place is therefore less, as is the effective increase in floor area of buildings 
on the site. The design appears good quality and any impact on the openness of 
the green belt has been considered and minimised.”

3 Relevant Planning History

3.1 Application Number: N6/1990/0095/FP 
Decision: Granted 
Decision Date: 02 April 1990
Proposal: Two storey rear extension

3.2 Application Number: N6/1990/0952/FP 
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 28 January 1991
Proposal: Erection of detached garage and store

3.3 Application Number: N6/2000/1437/FP 
Decision: Granted 
Decision Date: 11 December 2000
Proposal: Two storey rear extension, alterations and entrance gates

3.4 Application Number: N6/2011/1330/LUP 
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 5 September 2011
Proposal: Certificate of Lawfulness for proposed single storey side extension
 

3.5 Application Number: 6/2018/1439/HOUSE
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 19 July 2018
Proposal: Erection of ancillary garden room to dwelling
Reason for refusal:

4 Relevant Planning Policy

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF) 

4.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (Local Plan)

4.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan 2016)

4.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG)

4.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG)

4.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 
Parking Policy)

Page 138



5 Site Designation 

5.1 The site lies within the Parish of Ayot St. Lawrence as designated in the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005.  It is located within the Green Belt and the Landscape 
Character Area Blackmore End Plateau and Upper Lea Valley.

6 Representations Received 

6.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters. There 
were no neighbour representations or consultee responses received. 

7 Analysis

7.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are:

1.   Principle of Development within the Green Belt 
2.   Quality of design and impact on the character and appearance of the 
area 
3.   Impact on the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and future 
occupiers 
4.   Impact of Development upon the Landscape Character 

1. Principle of Development with the Green Belt 

Whether the proposed development constitutes inappropriate development 

7.2      The NPPF (2018) states that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent 
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of 
Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. It says that within the Green 
Belt the construction of new buildings should be regarded as inappropriate 
development.  Exceptions to this are listed in paragraph 145. 

7.3 The proposed development is not considered to benefit from the exception of point 
(d) of paragraph 145 of the NPPF, as the structure to be replaced is not currently 
erected at the site. Regard is therefore given towards Case Law 1434 Iddenden 
and Others v Secretary of State for the Environment and Another which stated that 
the appellants choice to demolish an existing building resulted in “such value...” 
being “…lost to him by putting an end to his right to the existing use of the land 
which was in operation before the old buildings were taken down is a loss which 
he has brought upon himself.” As such, in this instance, the applicant’s decision to 
remove the previously erected shed was therefore at their discretion, and 
subsequently de minimis weight can be afforded.  

7.4 A relevant exception is criteria (c) which refers to the extension or alteration of a 
building provided it does not result in disproportionate additions over and above 
the size of the original building. Local adopted policy RA3 also shares this main 
aim, along with policy SADM34 of the Draft Local Plan. 

7.5     Policy RA3 states that permissions for extensions to existing dwellings, including 
outbuildings, within the Green Belt will be allowed only where all the following 
criteria are met:

i) The proposal would not individually or when considered with existing or 
approved extensions to the original dwelling, result in a disproportionate 
increase in the size of the dwelling;

Page 139



ii) It would not have adverse visual impact on the character, appearance and 
pattern of development of the surrounding countryside.

7.6 The emerging policy SADM34 also deals with the extension and alteration of 
existing buildings within the Green Belt, although the draft policy text does not refer 
to curtilage buildings. In this instance the proposed ancillary building is sited 
approximately 22.3m from the host dwelling. However, in a recent appeal decision 
at Sawmill Cottage, Water End Lane, Ayot St. Peter, Welwyn AL6 9BB, the 
Inspector stated that 

“the draft policy text no longer refers to curtilage buildings in the context of any 
cumulative assessment but the supporting text does. It states that proposals to 
erect, extend or replace an incidental building within 5 metres of the main building 
will be treated as an extension to it. It is not entirely clear whether, conversely, 
buildings in excess of 5 metres from the main building will therefore not be counted 
as part of any cumulative calculation for the purpose of further extensions, though 
it seems to me, on the basis of the information before me that would be the logical 
conclusion. However, the plan and this policy has yet to be formally adopted 
through the local plan process thus, at this stage, I can only afford it limited weight.”

7.7   As such, more weight is afforded to policy RA3 of the adopted District Plan, which 
includes outbuildings serving existing dwellings. This proposal will therefore be 
assessed in accordance with said policy.

7.8 Regarding policy RA3 criteria (i), in the previous application (reference 
6/2018/1439/HOUSE) a calculation was made from the council’s records which 
concluded the original floor area was 201.5sq m. However, the applicant has now 
submitted further information demonstrating that the floor area of the original 
dwelling is approximately 155.44sq m.

7.9 The applicant also presented the floor area increase from previous extensions, 
concluding that the original dwelling would have a total increase in floor area of 
approximately 161.26sq m or 50.9% increase. It is noted, that the applicant’s 
suggested floor area of the original dwelling (155.44sq m) and increase in floor 
area following extensions and that included (161.26sq m) would however result in 
a percentage increase of 103.8%, rather than 50.9%.

7.10 Having said that, following submission of the new information, the table below 
demonstrates the case officer’s calculations for the quantitative assessment 
regarding criteria (i) of policy RA3. 

Original floor area 155.14sq m

Extended floor area over time 177.28sq m or 114.3%

Proposed development floor area 66sq m

Overall floor area increase 243sq m or 156.6%

7.11 Regarding criteria (i) the floor area of the original dwelling is 155.14 sq m. The 
original dwellings foot print has since been extended over time by 177sq m. This 
proposal seeks to increase the floor area by approximately 66sq m. The overall 

Page 140



increase of the original dwelling’s floor area is therefore approximately 243sq m or 
alternatively 156.36%. This would consequently result in in a disproportionate 
increase in floor area over that of the original dwelling house.

7.12 It is noted that the applicant states that previous sheds were demolished. However, 
the Council do not have planning records identifying the shed gained planning 
permission. Whilst planning permission was granted for erection of a detached 
garage and store (ref N6/1990/0952/FP) there are no drawings retained within this 
file. Having said that, planning applications following that application identified the 
existing garage structure (as seen on the site plan under ref: N6/2010/1330/LUP). 
There are not however planning documents identifying the detached shed. 
Subsequently the floor area of shed has not been accounted for.

7.13   Notwithstanding the above, the NPPF does not limit the concept of proportionality 
to size alone and an overall assessment of proportionality includes a qualitative 
judgement. In each case, it is necessary to make a judgement as to whether the 
enlargement of a building would be disproportionate in qualitative terms.

7.14   In this regard, the outbuilding would be of a size that would visually increase built 
form within the site. When taking into account the cumulative extent of the 
extensions and outbuildings to the original building, including the proposed 
development’s scale, it would fail to respect the original dwellings size and form. 
Consequently, in a visual sense as well as numerically, the proposal would result 
in disproportionate additions contrary to paragraph 145 of the NPPF. The NPPF 
confirms that inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt 
and this is afforded substantial weight.

7.15   It is therefore concluded, in the context of development plan policy and national 
policy, that whilst further information has been submitted, it has resulted in the 
original dwellings floor area being exceeded by approximately 156.36%, thus 
resulting in a disproportionate addition to the original dwelling and would therefore 
comprise inappropriate development in the Green Belt. In addition, there has been 
no substantive changes in policy since the previous reason for refusal, and no 
further information which overcomes the previous reason for a refusal. The 
consideration therefore remains that the proposal is regarded to represent a 
disproportionate addition over and above the size of the original building and is 
therefore contrary to the NPPF and policy RA3 (i) of the District Plan in this regard. 
This harm carries substantial weight as set out in the NPPF.

Impact on character and appearance and the visual amenity of the Green Belt

7.16   Part (ii) of policy RA3 requires proposals for extensions to dwellings in the Green 
Belt not to have an adverse visual impact (in terms of prominence, size, bulk and 
design) on the character, appearance and pattern of development of the 
surrounding countryside.

7.17   The proposed design of the development seeks to reflect a similar architectural 
style, size and rural design of the existing triple garage. The outbuilding would 
obtain a vernacular roof, with a hip added on the easterly side. The use of barn 
typology of ship lap timber cladding further emphasises the agricultural ancillary 
appearance. 

7.18 The brickwork plinth is to be complemented by feather edged timber boarding 
stained black, with the brickwork recessed under the featheredged boarding. This 
design replicates a similar appearance to traditional farm buildings, thus ensuring 

Page 141



the development appears visually in keeping with the character and appearance 
of other ancillary buildings in the vicinity.

7.19 It is noted the design involves glazing on the south eastern and eastern elevations. 
The amount proposed would have a visual impact upon the Green Belt during 
evening and night time, as internal lighting would be visible. Having said that, the 
site features mature landscaping along the north east, south and western 
boundary. As such, clear views would be fairly well obscured of the outbuilding, 
thus diminishing the impact of light spillage upon the visual amenity of the Green 
Belt. Therefore, the glazing would not result in significant harm upon the visual 
amenity of the Green Belt. 

7.20 As stated above, the siting of the outbuilding to the rear of the existing garage, 
adjacent the mature landscaping, result in marginal views of the outbuilding being 
achieved from the highway. Such views would also be of the timber cladding, thus 
appearing rural and appropriate within the locality. 

7.21   For the above reasons, it is considered that design would not have an adverse 
visual impact upon the character and appearance of development of the 
surrounding countryside.

Openness of the Green Belt 

7.22 Paragraph 133 states the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban 
sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green 
Belts are their openness and their permanence.

7.23  Openness however also refers to the absence of buildings within the Green Belt as 
stated in the Case Law R (Lee Valley Regional Park Authority) v Epping Forest DC 
[2016] EWCA Civ 404, Treacy, Underhill, Lindblom LJJ states “The concept of 
“openness” in paragraph 79 in the NPPF means the state of being free from built 
development, the absence of buildings – as distinct from the absence of visual 
impact”. The physical presence of any above ground development would therefore 
have some extent upon diminishing the openness of the Green Belt regardless of 
whether or not it can be seen.

7.24  In terms of the impact of the proposed development upon the openness of the 
Green Belt, the proposed outbuilding is located in close proximity to the existing 
detached garage, and obscured from the street scene given the topography of the 
site and the mature landscaping on the site boundary. Furthermore, the site is 
located within an area whereby outbuildings feature close to the highway, such as 
the existing garage, recently converted stables to a dwelling north of the site, and 
the detached outbuilding at Stocking Lane Cottage. Having said that, the proposed 
increase in volume and footprint would materially increase the bulk and mass of 
development on the site, which comprises a modest dwelling already served by an 
ancillary outbuilding. Therefore, whilst there are limited views of the building, the 
erection of the proposed outbuilding would detract from the openness of the Green 
Belt. This harm is in addition to the harm by reason of inappropriateness, which is 
afforded substantial weight. 

Purpose of the Green Belt

Page 142



7.25   It is necessary to consider whether the proposal would result in greater harm to the 
five purposes of including land in the Green Belt outlined in Paragraph 134 of the 
Framework.

7.26   Firstly, the proposal would not lead to unrestricted sprawl of a large built-up area 
due to its location within the existing footprint of the residential curtilage. Due to its 
limitation within the existing residential plot it would not contribute towards 
neighbouring towns merging into one another. The development would not 
encroach any further into the countryside than the existing residential plot and 
would have no adverse harm to the rural character of the countryside. It would not 
impact upon the preservation of the setting and special character of historic towns 
or assist in urban regeneration, due to its limited nature and rural setting which is 
not closely sited to a historic town. The development would therefore be in 
accordance with Paragraph 134 of the NPPF. 

Very Special Circumstances

7.27 The NPPF advises, when considering any planning application, local planning 
authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green 
Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.

7.28 The applicant has provided additional information, including a topographical 
survey and photographs of the previous sheds that were erected within a similar 
location. However, referring to the Case Law 1434 Iddenden and Others v 
Secretary of State for the Environment and Another the removal of the previous 
outbuilding was at the discretion of the applicant, and subsequently de minimis 
weight can be afforded.  

7.29   Therefore, very special circumstances do not exist which would justify allowing the 
proposal and it would conflict with Policies, GBSP1 and RA3 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the NPPF and Policy SADM34 of the emerging 
Plan.

2. Quality of design and impact on the character and appearance of the area

7.30  District Plan Policies D1 and D2, Emerging Local Plan Policy SP9 and the 
Supplementary Design Guidance (SDG), seek to ensure a high quality of design 
which relates to the character and context of the dwelling and surrounding area. 
The policies require extensions to complement and reflect design and character, 
be subordinate in scale, and not look cramped within the site in regard to bulk. 
These policies are in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 
that planning should require good design.

7.31  These policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design 
Guidance (SDG), which requires the impact of a development to be assessed 
giving regard to the bulk, scale and design of the proposal and how it harmonises 
with the existing buildings and surrounding area.

7.32 As stated above, the proposed design of the outbuilding would not result in 
significant harm upon the character and appearance of the area. Accordingly, the 
proposal would represent a good quality of design and would be acceptable to 
the provisions of the NPPF 2018, Policies D1 and D2 of the District Plan 2005, 
Emerging Local Plan Policy SP9 and Supplementary Design Guidance 2005.

Page 143



3. Impact on living conditions and the residential amenity of adjoining 
neighbours

7.33    With regard to the impact on the amenity of adjoining neighbours, Policy D1 and 
the SDG states that any development should not cause loss of light or appear 
unduly dominant from an adjoining property. Policy SADM11 aims to preserve 
neighbouring amenity.

7.34   1-2 Hill Farm Cottages is sited fairly central within a large plot, set back from the 
street scene. Due to the outbuilding being located adjacent the highway to the east, 
and set a substantial distance from adjoining occupiers, it is considered that the 
proposal would not result in adverse harm to neighbour amenity by way of 
overlooking, loss of light or overshadowing upon neighbour amenity. On this basis, 
the development is considered in accordance with Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Pan 2005.

4. Impact on the landscape 

7.35 The dwelling house falls within the landscape character area of Upper Lea Valley. 
This landscape character area is characterised by a marked valley form with a 
narrow river corridor. Arable cropping dominates on the slopes and a number of 
estate woodlands. The site is also adjacent Blackmore End Plateau landscape 
character area, which is characterised by an elevated plateau area with extensive 
arable fields. As for the Upper Lea Valley 

7.36    In this instance, the type, siting and design of the proposed development would 
not result in an adverse impact upon these landscape features. As such, it ensures 
the prevailing landscape quality, character and condition remain. For this reason, 
the development complies with Policy SADM16 in Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council draft Local Plan 2016.

8. Conclusion

8.1      The proposal has been considered against the NPPF, Development Plan policies 
SD1, GBSP1, D1, D2, and RA3, of the District Plan and Policy SADM34 of the 
emerging Local Plan. The proposal is considered to represent a disproportionate 
addition over and above the size of the original dwelling house. Additional harm is 
caused to the openness of the Green Belt. There are not any apparent very special 
circumstances, which demonstrate that the harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and harm to openness of the Green Belt, are clearly 
outweighed by other considerations, are evident.

8.2      With regard to other issues, the Local Planning Authority do not raise any objections 
to the impact of the development upon other planning considerations, such as car 
parking, landscaping and neighbour amenity.

9 Recommendation  

9.1 It is recommended that planning permission be refused for the following reason:

The proposal represents a disproportionate addition to the original dwelling house 
and is therefore inappropriate development within the Green Belt. In addition, the 
impact of the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the openness. The 
Local Planning Authority do not consider that very special circumstances exist 
which outweigh the harm, by reason of inappropriateness and the harm to the 

Page 144



openness of the Green Belt. The proposal is therefore contrary to the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policy RA3 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan, and 
the Supplementary Design Guidance, Statement of Council Policy, 2005 and 
Policy SADM 34 of the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016.

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision contrary 
to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on the Council's 
website or inspected at these offices).

Clare Howe, (Development Management)
Date: 31st January 2019 
Expiry Date: 1st March 2019

Page 145



Appendix 1 – Site Plan

Page 146



             Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 FEBUARY 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

6/2018/3040/TPO

49 ELMWOOD WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL8 6LD

FELL 1 X AMANOGAWA CHERRY TREE AND REPLACE WITH CHERRY TREE –
AMANOGAWA OR SIMILAR COVERED BY CONSERVATION AREA

APPLICANT: Mrs Madyausiku

(Welwyn West)

1 Site Description

1.1 49 Elmwood is located at the junction of Attimore Road and Elmwood in Welwyn 
Garden City. The property is located within the Conservation Area.

2 The Proposal

2.1 The applicant has submitted notification (a 211 notice) that they intend to remove 
a cherry tree located within the rear garden.

2.2 The council cannot refuse the application, but can either allow the works to take 
place or place a Tree Preservation Order on the tree if is it considered worthy 
and/or appropriate. 

3 Reason for Committee Consideration

3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because applicant is an employee of Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council.

4 Relevant Planning History

4.1 6/2018/3039/EM – Fell 1 x Cherry tree and replace with cherry (this application is 
running simultaneously to 6/2018/3040/TPO)

5 Relevant Planning Policy

5.1 SADM 15 (Emerging Local Plan))

6 Site Designation 

6.1 The site lies within a Conservation Area.

7 Representations Received 

Page 147

Agenda Item 11



7.1 Local Ward Councillors were notified of the proposal. No representations were 
received from Councillors. 

7.2 There is not a requirement to notify neighbours for a Conservation Area 
notification for tree work. However an objection has been received from a 
neighbour stating:

7.3 “I note that no reference was made to the existence or indeed the proposed 
removal of the tree in question at the time the planning application for the 
extension. This removal would simply increase my concern about the loss of 
amenity caused by the proposed development and I find it inconceivable that this 
was not in contemplation at the time. This tree will provide good screening from 
the slab side of a significant new extension and I certainly would have raised this 
as part of my objections before the planning committee” 

8 Background

8.1 The objection to the proposal refers to a previous planning application for an 
extension. However this notification is assessed solely on the tree’s condition 
and suitability for a Tree Preservation Order.

9 Analysis

10.1 The main issue to consider with regard a Conservation Area notification for tree 
work is whether the tree is worthy/suitable to have a Tree Preservation Order 
placed on the tree.

10.2 A site visit was undertaken on 11 January 2019 to assess the tree. A TEMPO 
assessment (Tree Evaluation Method for Preservation Orders) was undertaken 
which looks at the following:

 Amenity assessment: condition and suitability for TPO, retention span (in years), 
Relative public visibility, other factors (such as veteran trees, landscape 
importance etc.

 Expediency assessment: how significant is the threat to the tree 

10.3 The TEMPO assessment is a scoring process. If the score is 11 or over placing a 
TPO on the tree is considered defensible. A score of 10 or below is considered 
indefensible. The assessment for this tree is attached at appendix A.

10.4 The tree in questions a mature tree growing within the rear garden growing 
adjacent to the boundary fence/wall of 24 Attimore Road. The tree appears to be 
in good health. The tree has been significantly reduced in the past which has 
resulted in some large pruning wounds. The tree has produce new growth from 
the pruning points but the large wounds are likely to compromise the structural 
integrity of the tree and will be an entry point for decay fungi.

10.5 The location of the tree adjacent to the boundary may cause issues over time as 
it is likely to press against the boundary and may cause damage. This is a 
contributing factor to the limited life span of the tree.

10.6 The tree is relatively obscured and has limited public amenity. The top of the 
crown can be seen form the main road but a larger tree behind it is more 
prominent and more easily seen from the main road. 

Page 148



10.7 In light if the above and following the process of a TEMPO assessment it is 
considered the tree is not worthy of a Tree Preservation Order. 

11 Conclusion

11.1 Following an evaluation of the tree in accordance with the TEMPO assessment is 
concluded that the tree is not suitable for a Tree Preservation Order. 

12 Recommendation  

12.1 It is recommended that there is no objection to the proposal.

Oliver Waring (Tree Officer)
Date 06/02/2018

DRAWING NUMBERS

13 The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details:

 
Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

1   OS Map tree sketch 28 November 2018
2 Block Plan with existing 

and proposed cherry tree 
28 November 2018

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details.

14 POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on 
the Council's website or inspected at these offices).

Page 149



Location plan

Page 150



Copy of TEMPO assessment.

Page 151



The cherry tree is in the foreground of the above picture. The framework or the tree shows that it has been 
heavily pruned the past. 

Page 152



 Pictures shows proximity to fence/boundary.

Page 153



Pictures shows view from main road. The larger crown is the tree to the rear of the cherry. The cherry has very 
limited views from this area.

Page 154



Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 FEBRUARY 2019 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE) 
 

Appeal Decisions 15/01/2019 to 13/02/2019 

 

  

6/2017/2976/HOUSE 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3207667 

Appeal By: Mr L Martin 

Site: 6 The Links Welwyn Garden City AL8 7DS 

Proposal: Erection of a detached, part single, part two storey, two-bedroom dwelling 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 18/01/2019 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: The main issues with the appeal were whether the proposal would preserve or 
enhance the character and appearance of the Welwyn Garden City Conservation 
Area (CA) and the effect on the living conditions of the occupiers of 6 The Links. 
The Inspector noted that the site included the side and rear garden of an end of 
terrace corner property at the junction of The Links and Applecroft Road. The 
Inspector cited the Welwyn Garden City Conservation Area appraisal and 
specifically the generous open spaces and associated spatial interrelationships at 
the heart of the planned Garden City layout. It was found that the side garden to 6 
The Links particularly contributes to the overall open and spacious character and 
appearance of the street.. The design of the building itself was found to be similar 
to those elsewhere in the locality but that the proposal would substantially reduce 
the gap between 6 The Links and 40 Applecroft Road resulting in some harm to 
the character and appearance of the CA. In respect of the living conditions of 
neighbours the Inspector found that the proposal would not have a harmful effect 
in relation to daylight, sunlight and overshadowing of 6 The Links. Notwithstanding 
this, the Inspector dismissed the appeal. 
 
Concurrent Costs Decision 
 
The applicant sought an award of costs against the Council on the basis that the 
reason for refusal based on daylight/sunlight was not well founded. Whilst the 
Inspector disagreed with the council’s conclusions on this point, the Inspector 
found that the Council had taken account of Policy D1 and the Supplementary 
Design Guidance in forming this reason for refusal and that the officer report 
addressed the issue also. On this basis the Inspector refused the costs application.
 
 
 

Page 157

Agenda Item 12



6/2018/1981/HOUSE 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/18/3215200 

Appeal By: Mr & Mrs Hodgkinson 

Site: 9 Butterwick Way Welwyn AL6 9GH 

Proposal: Erection of single storey rear glass room 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 23/01/2019 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: Whilst the site lies in the Green Belt, both parties agreed that the proposed 
extension does not constitute inappropriate development and therefore the main 
issues are the effect on Green Belt openness and the character and appearance of 
the host dwelling and wider area. The Inspector noted that the appeal site is 
located on higher ground within the Frythe development and is visible from one of 
the main estate roads that runs nearby. Given that the site is located within a 
relatively built up area, albeit an attractively landscaped setting, the Inspector 
found the proposal would preserve the openness of the Green Belt. The Inspector 
noted that the proposed glass room would extend across the whole width of the 
rear of the dwelling and would be of contrasting materials and appearance 
compared to the brick elevations of the host dwelling. However, the Inspector 
agreed with the Council that the low sloping room form that is necessary to ensure 
proper drainage would appear as disjointed and jarring in addition to the mono 
pitch roof at the rear of the dwelling. The Inspector found that the addition would 
be incongruous rather than complimentary and harmful to the character and 
appearance of the host property and the wider area. The appeal was dismissed. 
 

6/2018/0931/HOUSE 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/18/3215532 

Appeal By: Mrs C Hunt 

Site: Sawmill Cottage Waterend Lane Ayot St Peter Welwyn AL6 9BB 

Proposal: Erection of a first floor side extension to include three dormer windows 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 23/01/2019 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Committee 

Summary: The main issues were whether the proposal comprises inappropriate development 
in the Green Belt, the effect on Green Belt openness and whether any identified 
harm is outweighed by other considerations. The Inspector noted that the dwelling 
had been previously extended and altered with a single storey side addition and a 
detached double garage. The Inspector agreed with the Council that it was 
legitimate to include the detached garage as part of the Green Belt considerations. 
On this basis the cumulative increase of the proposal, in terms of floor space over 
the original dwelling, would be 88%. The Inspector found this to be a 
disproportionate addition to the original dwelling and therefore inappropriate 

Page 158



development in the Green Belt. Further, the extension was considered to be a 
relatively large addition at first floor level to what is a modest property and that this 
would also result in adverse impact on the openness of the Green Belt. No very 
special circumstances were found to outweigh the identified harm and the appeal 
was dismissed. 

6/2018/0411/ADV 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/Z/18/3205025 

Appeal By: Sainsbury's Supermarkets Ltd 

Site: Sainsburys 44 Church Road Welwyn Garden City AL8 6SA 

Proposal: Installation of 1 x internally illuminated fascia sign, 1 x non-illuminated hanging 
sign and 4 x non-illuminated di-bond panels 

Decision: Appeal Allowed with Conditions 

Decision Date: 25/01/2019 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: The main issue is the effect of the advertisement on the visual amenity of the area 
and the character and appearance of the Welwyn Garden City Conservation Area 
(CA). The Inspector noted that the sign subject of the appeal is already displayed 
on the building. It was noted that, although contrasting in design and illumination 
from the main Sainsbury’s lettering immediately above, the sign would be 
significantly smaller than the main sign. It was found that a wide variety of signs 
(colour and design) can be found in the local area and that the addition of this one 
extra sign does not result in a significant increase in signage or undue cluttering. 
The character and appearance of the CA was also found to be preserved. The 
appeal was allowed. 

6/2018/0382/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3204798 

Appeal By: Mr N Place 

Site: 43 Cherry Way Hatfield AL10 8LF 

Proposal: Erection of a 1-bedroom house 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 07/02/2019 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: The main issues are the effect of the development on the character and 
appearance of the area, the effect on the living conditions of nearby occupiers and 
whether adequate parking provision would be made. The appeal site forms part of 
the rear garden of 43 Cherry Way adjacent to a grassed open space and 
footpaths. The proposal would introduce a dwelling into the rearmost part of the 
garden at a 90 degree angle to the host property. The Inspector found that 
properties within the estate are set on reasonably uniform plots with long narrow 
rear gardens in the main. It was found that the appeal site comprises a significantly 
more constrained site resulting in the garden for the appeal property being located 
predominantly to the front and side of the dwelling, highlighting the limited size of 

Page 159



the site and the cramped form of development that would result. The development 
was therefore found to be at odds with the prevailing form and character of the 
surroundings. The Inspector also found that the design, width and materials of the 
proposed dwelling would conflict with the uniformity of the other dwellings in the 
terrace and would be out of keeping with the strong local character.  
 
With regard to living conditions, it was found that the reduction in the size of 
garden to number 43, as well as the proximity of the proposed dwelling would 
result in harm to the living conditions of number 43 due to the overbearing impact 
as well as being harmful to the outlook from that property. Parking provision was 
found to be acceptable and secured by legal agreement. However the appeal was 
dismissed. 
 

6/2017/2513/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3205963 

Appeal By: Mr M A Hussain-Hiam 

Site: 33-34 Salisbury Square Hatfield AL9 5AF 

Proposal: Conversion of existing ground floor (Class A3) restaurant to form two (2xbed) flats 
(Class C3) including part demolition and extension at ground and first floor (rear) 
with associated external alterations. 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 07/02/2019 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: The main issues in the appeal were the effect of the development on the vitality of 
the neighbourhood centre, whether suitable living conditions would be provided, 
the effect on the character and appearance of the Old Hatfield conservation area 
and whether adequate vehicle and cycle parking would be provided. The Inspector 
noted the policy requirements of both the existing and emerging local plans, in 
particular the desire to protect retail functions in such areas. The appellant’s 
position that the business was no longer viable was acknowledged but the 
Inspector considered that there was no evidence provided to this effect. Other 
vacant premises in the surrounding area were also acknowledged, as was the 
intention to refurbish nearby Salisbury Square and the consequent effect that this 
may have on demand. With regard to the conservation area, the Inspector found 
that the current building contributed positively to the character and appearance of 
the area helping to frame the area of open space. The Inspector considered that 
the proposed alterations to the fenestration would be at odds with the existing 
character of the area and would fail to enhance the front elevation of the building. 
Further, the rear extension would add a significant amount to the building leaving 
only a small area of patio. The flat roofed nature of this extension would also 
appear bulky and dominant and would be out of keeping with the overall 
appearance of the area. It was considered that the proposal would fail to either 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area. The 
Inspector agreed with the Council’s concerns regarding outdoor space, bin 
storage, noise and privacy and concluded that the proposed development would 
not provide suitable living conditions. Finally, with regard to parking provision, the 
Inspector found that the site was located close to Hatfield train station and that 

Page 160



there are a number of parking facilities located to the rear on Batterdale, although 
these are restricted to residents only. Also that there is a resident’s parking zone in 
operation. However, having regard to the location, proximity to services, facilities 
and public transport options, the lack of additional parking spaces was not 
considered to be unduly harmful to the parking provision locally, or to future 
occupiers of the development. The appeal was however dismissed for the other 
reasons given. 

6/2017/2107/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3204888 

Appeal By: Mr H Tamber 

Site: 37 Church Street Welwyn AL6 9LS 

Proposal: Erection of 8 x 2-bedroom apartments arranged in two blocks, with associated 
parking, amenity areas and bin stores, following the demolition of existing 4-
bedroom house 

Decision: Appeal Allowed with Conditions 

Decision Date: 07/02/2019 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Committee 

Summary: The main issue was the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of 
the area. The Inspector considered that the existing site is spacious in its character 
as were immediately close by plots, but that further along Wendover Drive and 
Church Street, there was more compact. It was noted that the proposed 
development would result in a higher density of development in the immediate 
locality that was presently the case. With regard to the design, the Inspector noted 
the variety of different roof forms proposed, some of which they accepted were not 
common to the area, but did not agree with the Council that this would result in an 
overly complex appearance and did not agree that they were indicative of the 
overdevelopment of the site. The Inspector noted that the only way to access block 
B to the rear of the site would be by passing through block A, but again did not 
agree that this was indicative of overdevelopment. The inspector cited the 
presence of Clock House Gardens on the opposite side of the junction and 
considered that the appeal scheme would assist in framing the junction in a similar 
way. The amount of car parking was considered to be acceptable. The appeal was 
allowed subject to a number of planning conditions. 

6/2018/0857/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3206274 

Appeal By: Mr J Sieradzki 

Site: Stonehills House Stonehills Welwyn Garden City AL8 6DL 

Proposal: Construction of two additional self-contained flats at 2nd floor level at the rear of 
the building (part new build, part conversion) 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 07/02/2019 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Page 161



Summary: The main issue was whether the proposed development would provide acceptable 
living conditions for the future occupiers of the two new flats and neighbouring 
properties within Stonehills House, with particular regard to outlook, privacy and 
the provision of floor space. It was noted that the proposed extension to the 
building would result in the wall of the new flats coming within close proximity of 
flats currently being developed as part of a Prior Approval scheme. At present, 
these flats would have a relatively open outlook across the roof tops and the 
service yard. However the proposal would result in a large expanse of the 
extension in close proximity and would appear dominant and harmfully reduce the 
sense of openness creating an adverse sense of enclosure. With regard to privacy 
outlook and the provision of floor space, the Inspector accepted some amended 
plans for consideration, which the appellant hoped would overcome the Council’s 
second reason for refusal. However, the Inspector still found that one of the flats 
would only have three windows and all of these would have the lower half obscure 
glazed and be fixed shut resulting in a lack of clear visibility and poor outlook. This 
in turn would result in a sense of enclosure that would feel oppressive and 
claustrophobic and would cause significant and unacceptable harm to their living 
conditions. The appeal was dismissed. 

6/2018/0373/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3208358 

Appeal By: Mr & Mrs Orphanides 

Site: 32 Upland Drive Brookmans Park Hatfield AL9 6PT 

Proposal: Erection of 2 x detached properties following demolition of existing dwelling 

Decision: Appeal Allowed with Conditions 

Decision Date: 08/02/2019 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Committee 

Summary: The Inspector identified the main issue as the effect of the proposed development 
on the character and appearance of the area. The Inspector noted that Upland 
Drive features a variety of house styles including bungalows, large detached 
houses and two pairs of newer houses at numbers 30 and 33 which are of similar 
density to those proposed in the appeal. It was further noted that a relatively 
modest side gap between house and garden boundary, similar to that proposed, is 
not unusual in the street. In this context it was found that the proposed dwellings 
would maintain an adequate separation gap from the side boundaries of over 1 
metre, in accordance with the Supplementary Design Guidance. The Inspector 
noted the concern of residents about the ambience of their street but found that the 
proposal would not harm the character. Concerns regarding the impact of the 
development on infrastructure, including the road surface and sewage system 
were also noted but it was found that he proposed scale of development is unlikely 
to have a major impact in this respect. A smilar conclusion was drawn in respect of 
car parking. The appeal was allowed, subject to a number of planning conditions. 
 
A costs application in relation to this appeal has also been submitted by the 
appellant, although the outcome of this is not yet known. 

 

 
 

 

Page 162



Part I
Main author: Chris Carter
Executive Member: Councillor S.Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 28 FEBRUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

PLANNING UPDATE – FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS

1          Introduction

1.1      This report is for the Development Management Committee to provide a summary of 
applications that might be presented to Committee over the coming months.  If the call-in 
or application is withdrawn, the item will not be presented.

1.2      The applications should not be debated as part of this agenda, however any Councillor 
wishing to raise specific points about the proposal – such as a need for planning 
obligations or issue(s) that might not readily be apparent from the proposal or any other 
matter, may do so and the case officer will consider, where they are planning 
considerations, these matters raised as part of the future Committee report.

1.3      Appendix 1 comprises all applications that have been called-in or objected to by Town or 
Parish Councils.  Appendix 2 comprises those that are a departure from the Local Plan, 
Officers consider should be determined by Development Management Committee, the 
applicant is the Borough Council or it has an interest in the land and an objection has 
been received.

2          Recommendation

2.1      That members note this report.

Name of author                Chris Carter
Title                                  Development Management Service Manager

 

Page 163

Agenda Item 13



Appendix 1 - Applications called-in or objected to
ward description

6/2016/0270/VAR
Address Four Oaks 1-4 Great North Road Welwyn AL6 0PL
Proposal Variation of conditions 1 (occupants) and 2 (number of caravans) of 

Planning Permission N6/2010/0211/S73B to increase the number of 
caravans from 10 to 20 of which no more than 5 shall be static caravans or 
mobile homes.

Applicant Mr J Connors
Ward Welwyn West
Agent Mr M Green

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Julie Cragg, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

Please can we call this in due to the fact that this raises a lot of issues of 
concern for the residents.
There is uneasiness about the fact that the number of caravans fluctuates 
wildly and that they residents do not appear to adhere to the planing that 
they do have.
The restrictions regarding children is there as this was not intended to be a 
permanent site but only to give stability to the children to enable them to 
attend school.
Are they planning to use caravans as an office sutie and run business's from 
there? [sic]

Call-In/Objection 
from

Caroline Williams, Welwyn Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

15/03/2016 21:43 - Welwyn Parish Council at its Planning & Licensing 
Committee of the 15 March 2016 agreed to submit Major Objection.  We are 
unclear why the existing conditions have not been enforced.  We understand 
that the site was permitted as a temporary location linked to the schooling of 
the children which have now grown up and not as a permanent site.  We are 
concerned that the number of caravans has continued to increase overtime 
both with, and without, permission and Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
have previously stated that 10 is the maximum that can be accommodated.  
The existing conditions include that the land should be restored in 
accordance with the scheme previously submitted and approved by the 
planning authority as the residents may have already changed.

Case Officer Mrs Sarah Smith
Summary This application has not yet been presented to DMC as it is related to the 

adoption of the Local Plan.

Page 164



6/2016/1493/VAR
Address Thunderbridge Yard Bulls Lane Hatfield AL9 7BB
Proposal Variation of condition 1 to extend the temporary permission; condition 3 to 

permit eight caravans of which no more than five would be static caravans; 
condition 4 to vary the approved drawings; and condition 5 to vary the site 
development scheme; of planning permission S6/2011/0116/FP

Applicant Mr J Robb
Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South
Agent Mrs A Heine

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Paul Zukowskyj, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I would like to formally 'call in ' this applicaiton as it meets at least two of the 
key criteria for a call in, namely 1. The application is of an unusually 
sensitive nature as the current use of the site has led to significant adverse 
impact on neighbours amenity and that development beyond that permitted 
had occurred at the site. 2. The wider ramifications are the potential impact 
of permitting this development may have on setting precedent for permitting 
neighbouring sites in the forthcoming local plan examination in public. There 
is also the precedent that would be set of permitting such developments, 
even for a limited period, in flood zones.

Call-In/Objection 
from

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

NMPC OBJECT as this is clearly a new application. The name of the 
applicants is not the name to whom the extant  Permission was originally 
given.

The Government Planning Policy for traveller sites Policy E, in its 
introduction, states that making and decision taking should protect the Green 
Belt from inappropriate development - Item 4d and Item 16 state that 
inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt except in exceptional 
circumstances. None have been indicated. 

Item 4f - further states the local planning authority should aim to reduce the 
number of unauthorised developments and encampments.  This site has 
consistently exceeded the numbers stated in the original Permission and it is 
too small a site to be abused in this way.

Item 4k - states the local planning authority have to have due regard to the 
protection of local amenities and local environment.
There  have also been sanitary issues arising from the over-use of the site.
One or more travelling caravans have also been let to itinerant workers in 
contravention to the terms of the licence.  This has caused considerable 
problems to the neighbourhood.

Item 13 of the Planning Policy for traveller sites states the local planning 
authority should ensure that their policies:

Page 165



a)  promote peaceful and integrated co-existence between the site and the 
local community 

f)  avoid placing undue pressure on local infrastructure and services 

g)  do not locate sites in areas at high risk of flooding, including functional 
floodplains, given the particular vulnerability of caravans

Policy E, Item 24 addresses local provision and it is the case that WHBC do 
not have a firm policy on Gypsy and Traveller sites in the Borough but there 
are existing sites in Welham Green – including a long term Showmans site 
which causes no trouble – however the Foxes Lane site also is also over 
used as the numbers of caravans exceeds the permitted numbers.
Item 27 states that if a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up to 
date 5 year supply of  deliverable sites this should be a material 
consideration and in this case the existing sites result in  over supply in 
Welham Green therefore any expansion is unwarranted.

Item 25 states that the local planning authority should very strictly limit 
traveller site development  in the Green Belt and further ….”sites in rural 
areas do not dominate the nearest settled  community.” Expansion of this 
site would cause stress on services and neighbours.

Item 16 Inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt and should 
not be approved, except in very special circumstances. Traveller sites 
(temporary or permanent) in the Green Belt are inappropriate development.  
Subject to the best interests of the child, personal circumstances and unmet 
need are unlikely to clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other 
harm so as to establish very special circumstances, none of which have 
been indicated in this case.

Item 24(a) The Local Planning Authority has to take into account the existing 
level of local provision and Welham Green currently has provision.  Indeed, 
even this is exceeded unlawfully – see report from Dennis Pennyfather, 
Licensing Technical Officer, dated 24 August 2016.

Item 25 This further states the Local Planning Authority should very strictly 
limit …. sites in rural areas should not dominate the nearest settled 
community.  Of late the activities at Thunderbridge Yard have caused 
extreme concern and disturbance to the neighbourhood.  Police and other 
authorities are aware of this, which seems to arise from the subletting of the 
excessive on-site accommodation to persons other than gypsies or 
travellers.

Footnote 9 States there is no presumption that a temporary grant of 
Planning Permission should be granted permanently, therefore North 
Mymms Parish Council consider, taking into account comments by Licensing 
Technical Officer that the site is not big enough, there are fire safety issues 
and this is a known flood plain with previous flooding issues, caravans on 
this Green Belt site are inappropriate development.

Page 166



Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock
Summary This application has not yet been presented to DMC as it is related to the 

adoption of the Local Plan

6/2017/0225/FULL
Address Welwyn Rugby Football Club Hobbs Way Welwyn Garden City AL8 6HX
Proposal Retention of 4x 15 metre high floodlight columns and lamps measuring a 

further 0.5 metres
Applicant Mr M Elliott
Ward Handside
Agent Mr M Elliott

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Helen Bromley, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I would like to call this in as the new floodlights are significantly higher and 
brighter than those which they replaced, by some 7 meters,  and they are 
also in different positions to the original lights.
This has caused significant harm to the residents and the general amenity of 
the area.
The original application did not mention the floodlights being in different 
positions.
This is impacting on the conservation and EMS area.
There is substantial visual intrusion day and night.
At night, the light spill is far worse than previously, despite the rugby club 
saying it would be less. This is not the case.
The club also seems to be contravening the permission given as to when 
they may be used.

Case Officer Mr Tom Gabriel
Summary This application is anticipated to be presented to DMC in March 2019, 

subject to the resolution of some outstanding details.

6/2017/0606/MAJ
Address 1-9 Town Centre Hatfield AL10 0JZ
Proposal Erection of 2 buildings to provide 1,194m2 (GEA) commercial floor space 

(A1 & A3), 70 flats (15 x 1 bedroom, 7 x 2 bedroom, three person and 48 x 2 
bedroom, four person) with associated car/bicycle parking, plant and refuse 
storage and including the improvement of public realm, following the 
demolition of existing buildings.

Applicant Mr P Brimley
Ward Hatfield Cent.
Agent Mr P Wellings-Longmore

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

Object: The Town Council is concerned at the impact of parking from new 
residential units on the retail parking spaces available.  The Council has 
repeatedly asked that design of new structures in the Town is sympathetic to 

Page 167



existing Hatfield designs but again we see another architect imposing their 
design on our Town making it an uncoordinated mismatch of urban design 
from different decades with no empathy to the historic nature of the Town.  
Members are concerned at the impact of the level 7 building on the Grade 1 
listed building of Hatfield House.  Members consider that a community 
facility needs to be included within the design.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock
Summary This application has been held in abeyance pending further work on the 

wider Hatfield town centre regeneration project.
6/2018/1354/OUTLINE

Address Land South of Cromer Hyde Welwyn Garden City
Proposal Outline permission for the change of use of land to airfield with runway and 

support facilities including a clubhouse, hangar and car park with all matters 
except access and layout reserved

Applicant Mr C Fitch
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr A Bardett

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Duncan Bell, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

As one of the ward councillors for Hatfield Villages, I would like to 
conditionally call-in the above application.

This call-in is conditional, in that I would only request it's consideration by 
the Development Management Committee in the event that Planning 
Department recommend approval of the application.

My grounds for calling this application in are:

  *   The flying training circuit indicated within the Feasibility Study raises 
potential environmental (noise) concerns impacting many properties in 
Hatfield Garden Village and Salisbury Village, as well as properties within 
the proposed Local Plan sites of HAT1 and Symondshyde Village.  This 
potential environmental impact goes well beyond the addresses contacted 
as immediate neighbours.

  *   The Feasibility Study appears to envisage that construction of the airfield 
could be at least partly funded by S106 monies generated from the 
Panshanger site housing development.  In reality, S106 or CIL commitments 
generated from Local Plan developments will be finite, and there will be 
many competing claims upon their deployment.  They will need to be 
deployed where the infrastructure needs are greatest, as assessed by the 
public authorities involved.  The idea that these essentially public resources 
could be pre-empted for use on a private proposal for a new airfield seems 
questionable at best.

Given the above, I believe that this application is of sufficient interest to merit 

Page 168



consideration by Development Management Committee if the Planning 
Officer recommends approval.

I have copied the three town councillors for the ward, as Hatfield Town 
Council is one of the consultees.

I will almost certainly submit a more detailed representation in a few days 
time.

Thanks for accepting this call-in.
Kind Regards,
Duncan Bell.

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

22/06/2018 15:47 - The application is in the Green Belt and no special 
circumstances have been shown to divert from Green Belt Policy.  Members 
are concerned at the effect of noise and air pollution on the quality of life on 
residents of Salisbury Village and the Hatfield Garden Village.  HAT1 & 
HAT2 (if built) will be very close to this application site causing further 
distress to residential development.  50 cars will see a great increase in 
vehicular movements in this area.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock
Summary This application has been held in abeyance pending a decision from the 

Secretary of State as to the requirement for an Environmental Impact 
Assessment.

6/2018/1635/OUTLINE
Address Historic De Havilland Grass Runway

Ellenbrook fields Hatfield Buisness park
Hatfield Herts

Proposal Outline permission for the change of use of land to airfield with runway and 
support facilities including a clubhouse, hangar and car park with all matters 
except layout reserved

Applicant Mr C Fitch
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr C Fitch

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Duncan Bell, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

i would like to conditionally call in the above planning application, which 
appears to be for an airfield within Ellenbrook Fields.

This will, as for 6/2018/1354, be a conditional call-in, in that it will only need 
to come to DMC if Planning Department recommend approval.

My ground for calling this in are:

Page 169



• There is a considerable potential for noise nuisance over a wide area of 
Ellenbrook, Salisbury Village, and Hatfield Garden Village.
• Just as for application 6/2018/1354, the applicant seems to envisage that 
S106 monies can be used to help finance the project.  S106 monies will be a 
scarce resource in the context of the WHBC Local Plan.  They are 
essentially public resources infrastructure needs associated with Local Plan 
development.  This should not include private flying facilities.
• There is no airfield at Panshanger to "replace".
• My understanding is that there is an entirely separate S106 commitment 
associated with a 2017 mineral extraction application to restore Ellenbrook 
Fields as a country park.  It is unclear how this application would fit with this 
prior commitment. 

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock
Summary This application has been held in abeyance pending a decision from the 

Secretary of State as to the requirement for an Environmental Impact 
Assessment.

6/2018/2129/FULL
Address 111 The Ryde Hatfield AL9 5DP
Proposal Retrospective change of use from single dwelling (Use Class C3) to small 

HMO for up to three to six persons (Use Class C4)
Applicant Mr I Kabala
Ward Hatfield East
Agent Mr A Huseyin

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Caroline Gillett, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I wish to call in the application 6/2018/2129 Full in respect of the 
retrospective change of use from
single dwelling (Use Class C3) to small HMO for up to three to six persons 
(Use Class C4). 111 The
Ryde.

The main reason for calling in is the lack of parking in lines with policy and I 
draw the officers’ attention to the actual crossover and depth of in-curtilage 
as opposed to that drawn on the architect’s submission. Parking of 5.25 cars 
would be required as a minimum and using the cross over only space for

 3. Also, the depth of the in-curtilage is 5.3m and not 6m as stated.

Whilst calling this in I would like to draw your attention to the following in 
connection with the submission (1325/PL/AH)

In 
Section 2 – The Proposal reference is made to the conversion of the garage 
into a store for bins. This was advised to be happening by March 2018 in a 
previous application, and I am presuming the garage was built under 

Page 170



previous planning granted in 2008 with a 3 year time frame, as this garage 
was refused in January this year.

Section 4.2 – the submission has failed to highlight bedroom 3

I note the kitchen is 6.7 sqm which is within HMO requirements for up to 5 
rooms. I question why 2 kitchens are needed to share between 3 rooms 
when only one shower/bathroom between 3 rooms. The additional kitchen is 
shown as in the lounge/diner/kitchen which is currently used as a bedsit.

Section 4.4 – advises that the front door is the main entrance for all 
occupants. It is know that the garage door is an entrance currently used by 
at least one occupant.

The garage is “being converted to a storage facility” – this has been on-
going for 8 months.

Section 6 – parking

6.1 refers to 3 bedsits at 1.25 spaces equating to 4 and 3 HMO bedrooms 
giving rise to 1 space which does not comply with 0.5 per room. Parking 
should therefore be 5.25 spaces which equates to 6 rounded up.

6.2 The depth of the property is advised as 6m when in fact 2/3 of the 
frontage is 5.3 up to the front brickwork. This means that cars would be 
parking directly under the window of bedsit 3

Section 7 – refuse.

The existing bins 3 in total and capacity within the garage.  There are at 
least 4 bins, often overflowing (photographic evidence from residents) and 
are stored on the front left of the property.

Section 8 – landscaping

The statement in the submission is misleading. The frontage had indeed 
been altered to increase the
hard standing across the width of the site. The property has 100% hard 
standing and the trees that were at the side of the property have been 
removed.

The house has been extended to the maximum at each boundary and is not 
typical of The Ryde where other houses have at least one side access and 
all have a fair proportion of soft landscaping as well as open carparking. I am 
not aware of any that have parking across the full width or the full depth of 
the property.

It is also worth noting that the tree on the left of the property has had the 
right side branches removed to allow parking to the left of the property 

Page 171



accessed over the grass verge.

Case Officer Mrs June Pagdin
Summary This application is pending confirmation of further details regarding vehicular 

access. It is anticipated that this may be available for DMC in March 2019.

6/2018/2768/OUTLINE
Address Hatfield Business Park Hatfield AL10 9SL
Proposal Outline application for a large-scale mixed use development including 1,100 

new homes and supporting infrastructure including a primary school, local 
centre and open space with all matters reserved

Applicant Arlington Business Parks 
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr M Hill

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Duncan Bell, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I would like to conditionally call-in the above application.  Conditional in the 
sense that i would only ask for it to be brought before DMC if Planning 
Department is minded to recommend approval.

My grounds for calling this in are:

• The size and scale of the proposed development make it a matter of 
significant public interest.
• The proposal is on Green Belt land, and would risk coalescence with the 
eastern outskirts of St Albans.
• The site is not one of those accepted for development as part of our 
current Local Plan submission. 

I will be making a more detailed set of representations once i have studied 
the plans in more detail, but i would be grateful if you could log my call-in on 
to the system as soon as possible.

Thank you for your assistance.

Case Officer Ms Gill Claxton
Summary This application is unlikely to be presented to DMC until later in 2019.

Page 172



6/2018/2850/HOUSE
Address 84 High Dells Hatfield AL10 9HU
Proposal Retention of existing outbuilding

Applicant Mr M Dur
Ward Hatfield South West
Agent Mr M Moon

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

20/12/2018 09:46 - Members are concerned that the location plan fails to 
show Chantry Lane Hatfield which is most affected by this development.  We 
object to this development as it overdevelops the site, is overdevelopment in 
its own right being over bearing in its placement and location right up to the 
boundary fence and therefore has an adverse impact on neighbouring 
properties.

Case Officer Ms Emily Stainer
Summary It is anticipated that this application will be presented to DMC in March 2019.

6/2018/2863/FULL
Address 36 The Ridgeway Cuffley Potters Bar EN6 4AX
Proposal Erection of 6 residential units following demolition of existing dwelling, 

supporting structures and associated ancillary buildings
Applicant Cuffley Property Developments Ltd
Ward Northaw and Cuffley
Agent Ms L Shannon

Call-In/Objection 
from

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

21/11/2018 20:04 - The Parish Council objects to this application because 
the development would have an urbanising impact which does not respect 
the semi-rural character of The Ridgeway.  Since the previous application, 
the number of houses has been reduced from 8 to 6 but the mass and bulk 
is similar.  This location is realistically only accessible to services by private 
transport.  The only bus service is extremely limited in frequency.  
Consequently as walking or cycling to the village centre is also not feasible 
for most, the site is environmentally unsustainable.

23/11/2018 
Re 36 The Ridgeway we would like to confirm that this is a MAJOR 
OBJECTION and add that,' This development would set a precedent for 
other properties with large gardens along the road'

Case Officer Mr Tom Gabriel
Summary It is anticipated that this application will be presented to DMC in March 2019.

Page 173



6/2018/3125/FULL
Address 12 Tolmers Gardens Cuffley Potters Bar EN6 4JE
Proposal Erection of 8 x apartments following demolition of existing bungalow

Applicant Mr A Sarno
Ward Northaw and Cuffley
Agent Mr A Sarno

Call-In/Objection 
from

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

20/12/2018 19:39 - We object to this application and are grateful that WHBC 
have agreed to a site notice and extension to the consultation period.
This Block would be out of character with Tolmers Gardens.  Tolmers 
Gardens is not all 4 - 5 bedroomed houses as stated.  There are some 3 
bedroomed homes.  This is over development of the site.  We recommend 
that WHBC make a site visit to make a judgement on the proposed mass 
scale & bulk of the development.
A plan for two semi's has already been refused for this site - Ref 0474.
Under the draft Neighbourhood Plan, NCPC recommends the retention of
Bungalows.
The site boundary shown in the proposed site plan 130E does not match the 
one in the design & access statement - Fig.2. page 5.
Mature trees at No. 11 are at potential risk from this development

Case Officer Mrs June Pagdin
Summary It is anticipated that this application will be presented to DMC in March 2019.

6/2018/3170/HOUSE
Address 16 Roe Green Close Hatfield AL10 9PE
Proposal Erection of single storey front and side extension and part single, part two 

storey rear extension
Applicant Mr & Mrs E Lamuren
Ward Hatfield South West
Agent Mr S Cook

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

10/01/2019 08:24 - The size and bulk of the cumulative effect of all the 
extensions is not acceptable as it doubles the footprint of the property.  
Members acknowledge the concerns of neighbouring properties.

Case Officer Ms Lucy Hale
Summary It is anticipated that this application will be presented to DMC in March 2019.

Page 174



6/2018/3182/FULL
Address 12 Harpsfield Broadway Hatfield AL10 9TF
Proposal Mixed-use development comprising of 8 student residential units 

(incorporating 21 study bedrooms), 169 sq.m of a4 commercial 
space(existing) with the associated on-site parking, pedestrian access, 
refuse and cycle storage

Applicant Mr I Goh
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr I Goh

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

10/01/2019 08:41 - This application will create over concentration of 
potential occupiers into a very small building.  There is insufficient amenity 
space.  Overall the design is of poor quality and Members were unclear of 
means of escape in case of fire.

Case Officer Mr William Myers
Summary It is anticipated that this application will be presented to DMC in March 2019.

6/2019/0085/MAJ
Address Chancellors School, Pine Grove, Brookmans Park, Hatfield, AL9 7BN
Proposal Erection of building comprising sports hall with associated changing facilities 

and 7 x classrooms built on existing hard play tennis courts; 4 x hard play 
sports pitches to be provided to replace existing; provision of 33 x parking 
spaces; and two mobile classrooms to be provided for the duration of the 
project

Applicant Mr J Buoy
Ward Brookmans Park & Little Heath
Agent Mr D Carmichael

Call-In/Objection 
from

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

12/02/2019 10:18 - NMPC: North Mymms Parish Council maintain their 
MAJOR OBJECTION for all previous reasons given in respect of application 
reference 6/2018/2178/FULL as follows:

“North Mymms Parish Council has a MAJOR OBJECTION to this 
application. It must be a Condition that the temporary classrooms be 
removed before occupation of the new classrooms occur (otherwise they will 
never go). The design is unimaginative and the materials proposed 
industrial, which for a Green Belt site show a lack of sympathy from the 
designers for the natural surroundings. The constant use of grey in colour 
schemes will date the building in the short term. The proposed building will 
be visible to users of The Drive, Ash Close and Golf Course Road. The Wow 
factor alluded to in the Design and Access Statement will be of no 
consequence to this assault on the Green Belt which does not meet high 

Page 175



quality design as required by NPPF. It is recognised that additional teaching 
space and sports facilities are needed at the School, however the proposal 
will have an impact on the openness and character of the area beyond the 
School boundary. The additional car parking required to accommodate extra 
staff and the expansion of the pupil numbers is of concern as traffic flow at 
the junction of Pine Grove, Georges Wood Road and the A1000 are not 
reflected accurately in the Transport Assessment which states that traffic 
conditions at peak times (2.2.1) on both Brookmans Avenue/Georges Wood 
Road and the A1000 is low. This is nonsense. The local bus service is poor 
and the train station some distance away so travel for those coming on these 
will be precarious. The likelihood is that more car journeys will result from 
additional numbers and this will impact on the village and main highway. The 
Assessment does not accurately the dreadful parking in Pine Grove around 
the School. A Green Travel Plan as outlined in the Travel Assessment and 
referencing HCC’s Local Transport Plan, is theoretically good but must form 
a Condition of the Planning Approval. There is scant mention of 
Sustainability in the Design and Access Statement which causes concern. 
We mention this because it is an element of the NPPF and the materials 
chosen are not particularly sustainable because of the manufacturing 
processes needed to produce them. There is no mention of heating and how 
this will be achieved - although there is one paragraph under the heading 
Sustainability, which refers to ventilation and insulation, all of which is 
covered by Building Regulations. Heating a huge void in a sports hall is a 
serious business and the environmental impact should not be ignored in a 
major application such as this.”

In addition, although the special circumstance proposed is the increase in 
school places, the poor design, lack of consideration for the Green Belt 
location and effect on the openness of the site, will cause detrimental impact 
and harm.

It is disingenuous (Page 17, Paragraph 3) of the school to state they do not 
intend to increase staff numbers with the increase in pupils. An additional 
210 pupils will surely require at the very least additional ancillary staff.

North Mymms Parish Council note that there is a new Travel Assessment. 
However, there are inaccuracies in it and other matters of concern. It should 
be noted that Georges Wood Road is a private road. Therefore whilst access 
across it is permissible it is a major concern for residents who have to pay to 
maintain it. Increased numbers will exacerbate the traffic on this route. It is 
noted that the majority of pupils and staff live more than 3 miles away. 
Therefore, there will be more journeys when the school expands, which 
alongside the inconsiderate parking in Pine Grove - the provision of 33 extra 
car parking spaces, will not improve the parking issues experienced in and 
around the area.
Staggered arrivals/departures does not allow for cars arriving early and 
parking whilst waiting for pupils to enter or leave the school via Pine Grove. 
Referring to Item 3.9 (Bus Timetable) – This clearly indicates that at least 2 
buses (200 and 201) are unavailable for travel owing to times of 
arrival/departure nearest the school. 

Page 176



Referring to Item 3.12 (Rail Services). This information is inaccurate and 
misleading as Great Northern only operate 2 services out of peak morning 
rush hour and as Brookmans Park and Welham Green stations are not on 
the fast line, only, “All Stops” trains allow disembarkation during the morning 
rush hour and there are only 2 services in either direction in the afternoons, 
half an hour apart. Both train stations are over a mile from the school and 
indeed access to Welham Green station by walking is dangerous, 
particularly in the winter months when the weather can be inclement and it is 
dark.
The proposed design is a missed opportunity as an industrial box is not 
fitting for a rural location.

Case Officer Mr David Elmore
Summary It is anticipated that this application will be presented to DMC in April 2019.

6/2019/0115/HOUSE
Address 24 Great North Road Welwyn AL6 0PS
Proposal Alterations to the front garden, existing driveway and garage including 

installation of electric driveway gate and new crossover
Applicant Mr S Modhvadia
Ward Welwyn West
Agent Mr S Cook

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Sunny Thusu, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

30/01/2019 20:19 - I am minded to call in this application should it be not 
approved in support for the planning application.

I am supporting this application as I believe it is in keeping with the 
surrounding area and intact improve it. Furthermore the alterations made do 
not make it a risk of being used for anything else other than the purpose 
described. 

Case Officer Mr Tom Gabriel
Summary It is anticipated that this application will be presented to DMC in March 2019.

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - All other applications not comprising call-ins or objections

ward description
6/2017/0606/MAJ

Address 1-9 Town Centre Hatfield AL10 0JZ
Proposal Erection of 2 buildings to provide 1,194m2 (GEA) commercial floor space (A1 

& A3), 70 flats (15 x 1 bedroom, 7 x 2 bedroom, three person and 48 x 2 
bedroom, four person) with associated car/bicycle parking, plant and refuse 
storage and including the improvement of public realm, following the 
demolition of existing buildings.

Applicant Mr P Brimley
Ward Hatfield Cent.
Agent Mr P Wellings-Longmore

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

The applicant is Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council and the proposal is major 
development which should be considered by the Committee.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock

S6/2015/1342/PP
Address Land to the north east of King George V Playing Fields, Northaw Road East, 

Cuffley, Hertfordshire, EN6 4RD
Proposal Outline planning application for residential development of up to 121 

dwellings, associated infrastructure and a change of use from agricultural 
land to an extension of the King George V playing field.  All matters reserved 
except for new vehicular access to serve the site, the provision of surface 
water discharge points and the levels of development platforms

Applicant Lands Improvement Holdings Landmatch
Ward Northaw and Cuffley
Agent Mr M Smith

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

The application is of a scale, sensitive nature or is controversial and officer’s 
consider that in accordance with the Council’s constitution, it should be 
determined by the Development Management Committee.   Additionally, the 
application is a departure from the provisions of the appropriate development 
plan, other policy guidance or supplementary planning guidance.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 181

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 6 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 LAND TO NORTH EAST OF WELWYN GARDEN CITY, PANSHANGER, WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL7 2QJ - 6/2018/0873/OUTLINE  - OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR A RESIDENTIAL-LED DEVELOPMENT OF UP TO 650 RESIDENTIAL UNITS, A TWO-FORM ENTRY PRIMARY SCHOOL, PROVISION OF SIX GYPSY AND TRAVELLER PITCHES, A NEW LOCAL CENTRE (COMPRISING RETAIL AND COMMUNITY USES), NEW VEHICULAR ACCESS FROM HERNS LANE, CAR PARKING, ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE AND LANDSCAPING WORKS WITH ALL MATTERS EXCEPT ACCESS RESERVED
	7 ROYAL VETERINARY COLLEGE HAWKSHEAD LANE NORTH MYMMS HATFIELD AL9 7TA - 6/2018/2943/MAJ
	8 1-5 PARK STREET HATFIELD AL9 5AT - 6/2018/2497/FULL - CHANGE OF USE OF THE EXISTING GRADE 2 LISTED BUILDING FROM OFFICE (B1) TO 4 X RESIDENTIAL FLATS (C3) WITH ASSOCIATED INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS
	9 11 AND 11A HOLLY CLOSE, HATFIELD, AL10 9JB - 6/2018/2968/FULL - CONVERSION OF EXISTING 6-BEDROOM DWELLING AT 11 HOLLY CLOSE INTO TWO SELF-CONTAINED 2-BEDROOM FLATS
	10 1-2 HILL FARM COTTAGE HILL FARM LANE WELWYN AL6 9BN - 6/2018/3071/HOUSE - ERECTION OF ANCILLARY OUTBUILDING
	11 49 ELMWOOD WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL8 6LD - 6/2018/3040/TPO - FELL 1 X AMANOGAWA CHERRY TREE AND REPLACE WITH CHERRY TREE -AMANOGAWA OR SIMILAR COVERED BY CONSERVATION AREA
	12 APPEAL DECISIONS
	13 PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	13b - Appendix 2 Future Applications Cttee Report No Call-In

	16 ENFORCEMENT CASES MONITORING REPORT

